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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a medical device company that has developed and commercialized an innovative neuromodulation platform for the treatment of chronic pain. Our
Senza system is the only spinal cord stimulation, or SCS, system that delivers our proprietary HF10 therapy. Our SENZA-RCT U.S. pivotal study, a non-inferiority
study, met its primary and secondary endpoints, and our statistical analysis demonstrates the superiority of HF10 therapy over traditional SCS therapies for treating
both leg and back pain. While SCS devices are indicated and reimbursed for treating back and leg pain, traditional SCS therapy has limited efficacy in treating back
pain and is used primarily for treating leg pain, limiting its market adoption. In our pivotal study, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide significant and
sustained back pain relief in addition to leg pain relief. Additionally, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide pain relief without paresthesia, a constant tingling
sensation that is the basis of traditional SCS therapy. HF10 therapy is also designed to reduce variability in the operating procedure, providing meaningful benefits
to both patients and physicians. We believe we are positioned to transform and grow the approximately $1.7 billion existing global SCS market under current
reimbursement by treating back pain in addition to leg pain and by eliminating paresthesia.

In June 2014, we submitted our premarket approval, or PMA, application to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for our Senza SCS system, or
Senza. In May 2015, the FDA approved our PMA to market Senza in the United States. Senza is indicated for the treatment of chronic intractable pain of the trunk
and/or limbs, is reimbursed under existing SCS codes, and has been commercially available in certain European markets since November 2010 and in Australia
since August 2011.

In the second quarter of 2015, we recorded our first commercial sales of Senza in the United States. During 2015, sales in the United States increased from
$53,000 in the second quarter to $4.5 million in the third quarter and $19.8 million in the fourth quarter. Revenue from international sales was $9.7 million, $11.3
million, $10.9 million and $13.3 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2015, respectively. Our total revenue was $9.7 million, $11.4
million, $15.4 million and $33.1 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2015, respectively. Total combined revenue from U.S. and
international sales was $23.5 million, $32.6 million and $69.6 million for fiscal years 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively. Due to market penetration in Europe and
Australia, we expect that our future revenue growth, if any, will be largely from sales in the U.S. market.

We completed our SENZA-RCT pivotal study in March 2014, which was the first prospective randomized controlled pivotal study in the history of SCS and
the first to directly demonstrate comparative effectiveness between SCS therapies. The SENZA-RCT study was designed as a non-inferiority trial comparing HF10
therapy to traditional commercially available SCS therapy and met its primary and secondary endpoints. Statistical analyses also demonstrate the superiority of
HF10 therapy to traditional SCS therapy for all primary and secondary endpoints.

Key highlights of our SENZA-RCT pivotal study are as follows:
 

 •  The SENZA-RCT study results demonstrated the superiority of HF10 therapy to traditional SCS therapy on all primary and secondary endpoints.
 

 •  HF10 therapy was nearly twice as successful in treating back pain as traditional SCS therapy, with 84.3% of patients receiving HF10 therapy, as
compared to 43.8% of patients receiving traditional SCS therapy, reporting 50% or more pain relief at three months, results that were superior.

 

 •  HF10 therapy was 1.5 times as successful in treating leg pain as traditional SCS therapy, with 83.1% of patients receiving HF10 therapy, as compared
to 55.5% of patients receiving traditional SCS therapy, reporting 50% or more pain relief at three months, results that were superior.
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 •  HF10 therapy provided a 69.2% reduction in back pain as measured by the Visual Analog Scale, or VAS, versus 44.2% for traditional SCS therapy, at
three months, results that were superior.

 

 •  HF10 therapy provided a 72.8% reduction in leg pain as measured by VAS, versus 51.5% for traditional SCS therapy, at three months, results that
were superior.

 

 •  Superiority of HF10 therapy to traditional SCS therapy demonstrated for both back and leg pain at each designated study endpoint throughout 12
months.

 

 •  Patients receiving HF10 therapy did not report paresthesia or uncomfortable stimulation at three months. In comparison, 46.5% of patients receiving
traditional SCS therapy reported uncomfortable stimulation at three months.

 

 •  Two-thirds of HF10 therapy patients had a VAS pain score of less than or equal to 2.5 on a scale of 0 to 10 for back pain at three months (which we
define as achieving remitter status), twice the number of traditional SCS therapy patients, results that were statistically superior.

 

 •  Three-fourths of HF10 therapy patients had a VAS pain score of less than or equal to 2.5 on a scale of 0 to 10 for leg pain at three months, twice the
number of traditional SCS therapy patients, results that were statistically superior.

 

 •  Safety outcomes were consistent across the control and test groups.

The outcomes for HF10 therapy in our pivotal study were published in Anesthesiology
and are consistent with the outcomes from our European clinical
study, the two year results of which have been published in the Pain
Medicine
journal of the American Academy of Pain Medicine. The 24-month SENZA-RCT
results were presented in December 2015 at the annual meeting of the North American Neuromodulation Society, showing sustained superiority of HF10 therapy
compared with traditional SCS in treating both back and leg pain over the 24-month follow-up period.

Patients with chronic pain are generally classified by physicians based on the location of their pain, for example whether their worst pain is predominant
back, predominant leg, mixed back and leg, upper limb, neck or other. The adoption of SCS to date has been driven primarily by the treatment of patients whose
worst pain is in their legs and for whom other treatment approaches have failed. We believe that broader utilization of traditional SCS therapy has been restrained
by the lack of prospective randomized clinical evidence supporting SCS broadly and, in particular, demonstrating an ability to treat back pain.

Traditional SCS therapy utilizes low frequency stimulation, typically between 40 Hz and 60 Hz, to generate paresthesia, a constant tingling sensation that
overlaps the pain area. Paresthesia is often considered unpleasant or uncomfortable, sometimes causes a shocking or jolting sensation with changes in posture and is
a continuous reminder of the patient’s chronic condition. Compared to traditional SCS therapy, HF10 therapy delivers spinal cord stimulation at a lower amplitude
and a higher frequency waveform of 10,000 Hz. HF10 therapy relies on consistent anatomical placement of the stimulation leads across patients, thus reducing
procedure variability relative to traditional SCS therapy. Comparatively, traditional SCS therapy requires individualized lead placement by the physician during the
implant procedure utilizing paresthesia mapping, an often time-consuming portion of the procedure in which the patient is awakened and queried by the physician
as to whether they feel the paresthesia over the site of their pain. Paresthesia mapping is an often cumbersome and variable process, which creates variability in the
implant procedure and can greatly impact a physician’s schedule. In contrast, HF10 therapy is intended to relieve pain without causing paresthesia, while increasing
the predictability of the procedure. We believe the ability of HF10 therapy to deliver pain relief without paresthesia provides a substantial benefit over traditional
SCS therapy to patients and physicians.

We believe our proprietary HF10 therapy has distinct advantages over traditional SCS therapy, including:
 

 •  Compelling efficacy data for both leg and back pain. We believe that the results of our pivotal clinical trial provide compelling efficacy data in
back and leg pain that may enable us to gain significant market share in the approximately $1.7 billion existing global SCS market, which is
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 primarily based on treating leg pain. In addition, we believe our efficacy data in back pain will allow us to expand the SCS market under current
reimbursement by meeting demand from back pain patients who are largely untreated by traditional SCS therapies.

 

 •  Strong global clinical evidence. We believe the strength of our clinical evidence base supporting HF10 therapy differentiates it from traditional SCS
therapies and we expect it to drive adoption among patients, providers and payors through increased referrals and utilization.

 

 •  Paresthesia free pain relief for patients. HF10 therapy does not induce or require paresthesia to provide pain relief. By delivering pain relief without
paresthesia, HF10 therapy removes a major barrier for many patients who would otherwise benefit from SCS.

 

 
•  Anatomical lead placement for physicians. Since HF10 therapy relies on anatomical lead placement, it removes the cumbersome process of

paresthesia mapping that is required by traditional SCS therapy, reducing variability in the operating procedure and offering a significant benefit to
both physicians and hospitals by reducing variability of procedures.

 

 •  Ability to treat a broader group of chronic pain patients. We are currently investigating the use of HF10 therapy to treat pre-spinal surgery
patients, chronic intractable neck and upper extremity pain and refractory chronic migraine.

We believe we have built competitive advantages through our proprietary technology, clinical evidence base, strong track record of execution including over
6,000 patients implanted with Senza, and proven management team with a substantial amount of neuromodulation experience. With what we believe are
compelling efficacy data for both leg and back pain compared to traditional SCS therapy, we aim to continue to drive adoption in the U.S. market, which represents
the largest opportunity in SCS, and expand patient access to HF10 therapy by investing in the development of Senza for new indications.

Market Overview

Chronic Pain

Chronic pain has been defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as pain that lasts longer than the time required for tissues to
heal, which is often defined to be three months. According to a report by the Institute of Medicine, chronic pain is widespread and has seen an increase in
prevalence due to aging populations, progress in saving lives after suffering catastrophic injuries, increases in failed surgeries, and greater public understanding of
pain. About 1.5 billion people suffer from chronic pain worldwide, including approximately 100 million Americans, which is greater than the sum of patients with
heart disease, diabetes and cancer combined. Approximately 10% of chronic pain sufferers have severe disabling pain, which significantly affects their daily
activities and quality of life, and is often linked to suicide.

The back is the most common location of chronic pain, with an estimated 84 million patients in the United States experiencing chronic back pain. Among
U.S. adults reporting pain, low back pain was the highest reported location at 28%, followed by knee pain at 20% and severe headache/migraine at 16%. In a study
conducted by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and published in 2009, the prevalence of low back pain more than doubled from 1992 to 2006.
According to data from users of the Department of Veterans Affairs health system, the annualized increase in prevalence of low back pain is larger than increases in
the three other conditions studied, which were depression, diabetes and hypertension. In terms of impact, the annual cost of back pain in the United States is
estimated to be $34 billion for treatment, with another $100 billion in lost productivity.

Existing Treatments for Chronic Pain and Limitations

Patients who present with chronic pain are typically placed on a treatment progression plan. Initial medical management typically includes behavioral
modification, exercise, physical therapy, and over-the-counter analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. When early stage medical management is not
sufficient for
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the treatment of chronic leg and back pain, patients may progress to interventional techniques including steroid injections or nerve blocks. Patients who do not
respond to these more conservative treatments are considered candidates for more advanced therapies.

Spine
Surgery

Spine surgery is a common invasive surgical procedure for the treatment of pain and typically precedes traditional SCS therapy. Despite the possibility of
surgical complications, recent data suggests that over 500,000 spinal procedures are performed in the United States every year. Common surgeries include spinal
fusion, which involves joining spinal bones to limit movement, and laminectomy, which entails removing part of the bone or ligaments in the back. These surgical
procedures often fail to treat certain difficult types of chronic pain, such as severe neuropathic and intractable back pain. Failed Back Surgery Syndrome, or FBSS,
is a common outcome of spine surgery where chronic back and/or leg pain continues to persist and affects an estimated 10% to 40% of patients receiving spine
surgery. Given the failure rate for spine surgery, FBSS patients make up a significant portion of the addressable patient population for SCS.

Oral
Opioids

Oral opioids are prescription pain medications that suppress the patient’s acute perception of pain but lack clinical evidence supporting their long-term use to
treat chronic pain including back pain. Oral opioids can significantly compromise the patient’s quality of life, with patients often reporting being in a “fog” and
commonly experiencing side effects such as nausea, vomiting, constipation and dizziness. Less common side effects can include immunologic dysfunction,
hormonal dysfunction and muscle rigidity. Oral opioids are also known to present a high risk of addiction. Abuse and accidental overdoses have led to dramatic
increases in deaths over the past two decades.

Traditional
Spinal
Cord
Stimulation

SCS is a type of neuromodulation technology that utilizes an implantable pacemaker-like device to deliver electrical impulses to the spinal cord. Traditional
SCS therapy is a long-established pain treatment designed to induce paresthesia, a tingling sensation that overlaps the distribution of pain with the intent of masking
pain perception. The electrical pulses are delivered by small electrodes on leads that are placed near the spinal cord and are connected to a compact, battery-
powered generator implanted under the skin. Traditional SCS therapy is currently indicated as a treatment for chronic pain of the trunk and limbs in patients who
failed conventional medical management. Traditional SCS therapy is considered to be a minimally invasive, reversible therapy that may provide greater long-term
benefits over more invasive surgical approaches or opioids. The most common use for traditional SCS therapy is for neuropathic pain conditions such as FBSS.

With a primary focus on treating leg pain, the global market for traditional SCS therapy has grown from approximately $300 million in 2001 to
approximately $1.4 billion in 2012, a compound annual growth rate of approximately 8%. The global SCS market was estimated to be approximately $1.7 billion in
2015 and is expected to grow to approximately $2.5 billion per year by 2018. The United States represents approximately 80% of this global market due in part to
governmental reimbursement restraints in international markets. In addition, the addressable market in the United States for potential SCS candidates is estimated
to be 1 million patients. We believe that due to factors such as an aging population, and an increasing number of failed back surgeries, the number of candidates for
SCS will continue to grow.

Despite the sizeable potential market, according to 2012 IMS data, only approximately 40,000 SCS systems are implanted each year in the United States,
representing less than 10% of the addressable U.S. market at a cost of approximately $25,000 per procedure. IMS data from 2012 additionally shows that there are
approximately 4,400 facilities in the United States where SCS systems are implanted by a variety of physicians, including neurosurgeons, physiatrists,
interventional pain specialists and orthopedic spine surgeons. However, only approximately half of chronic pain patients are considered candidates for traditional
SCS therapy. A key reason
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for this may be the limited evidence supporting efficacy of traditional SCS therapy for back pain. We believe there is an additional opportunity for an SCS therapy
that effectively treats back pain that is approximately the size of the existing global SCS market.

Traditional SCS therapy generally consists of two phases, an evaluation period, also called the trial period, which typically lasts several days, and a
permanent implant for those patients who experience a successful trial. The trial period involves a percutaneously placed insulated wire, called a lead, that a
physician implants near the spinal cord using a needle. During the trial period, a temporary external system is used by patients and physicians for evaluating
whether traditional SCS therapy is effective for the patient. The patient is able to control their stimulation during the trial period by utilizing the patient remote
control, which resembles a small television remote control. The remote control allows a patient to turn the therapy on and off, in addition to other functions. If the
trial period is successful, a permanent system is implanted in the patient. The success criterion is typically at least 50% reduction in pain during the evaluation
period.

A key part of the permanent system is the implantable pulse generator, or IPG, which is a miniaturized version of the external stimulator. The implant
procedure involves connecting the leads to the IPG that is implanted under the skin. The IPG should provide the patient with multiple years of use and can be either
rechargeable or non-rechargeable. Primary cell IPGs, or non-rechargeable IPGs, are used in cases where the patient requires a lower level of stimulation and such
systems have a limited life. Rechargeable IPGs, a more recent innovation, are more expensive but allow for higher levels of stimulation and can last 10 years or
more. Due to payor constraints in certain European countries, the transition from primary cell IPGs to rechargeable IPGs has been slow. In the United States and
Australia, most IPGs implanted are rechargeable.

Traditional SCS products have required paresthesia to provide pain relief, and have focused on ancillary features with incremental benefits. Paresthesia
coverage has been used as a surrogate metric for successful pain relief. As such, innovation in the SCS market has historically focused on technologies that
optimize traditional SCS therapy’s ability to create more precise paresthesia fields or different changes that include smaller IPGs and improved compatibility with
magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI. Even with successful paresthesia coverage, patients still may not receive pain relief or often lose pain relief after a period of
time.

Limitations of Traditional SCS Therapy
 

 
•  Limited clinical evidence: To date, we believe there are only two published prospective randomized SCS studies that provide long-term (at least 12

months) data, both of which focused on leg pain. Neither of these studies was done to support initial regulatory approval of an SCS system. We believe
this limited clinical evidence has inhibited market adoption of traditional SCS therapy.

 

 

•  Lack of evidence supporting efficacy in back pain: We believe predominant back pain is more difficult to treat with traditional SCS therapy than leg
pain due to the reduced ability to achieve and maintain pain coverage in the back. We are not aware of a prospective, randomized clinical trial
supporting the efficacy of traditional SCS therapy in treating back pain. The Kumar study is a widely cited study on SCS and focused on patients with
predominant leg pain. The study demonstrated a reduction in leg pain over the 24 month study period, while reductions in back pain at six, 12, and 24
month follow-up were not significant when compared to baseline. The average back pain reduction was 13% at 24 months. As a result, back pain
patients are usually not recommended for treatment with traditional SCS therapy.

 

 

•  Paresthesia: Traditional SCS therapy relies on paresthesia to mask pain with a constant tingling sensation. Paresthesia is often considered unpleasant
or uncomfortable, sometimes made worse by a shocking or jolting sensation with changes in posture. Unpleasant sensations can be caused by lead
movement closer to the spinal cord or away from it as the patient moves, resulting in variation in paresthesia intensity. Paresthesia is also a constant
reminder of the patient’s chronic condition. Due to the distraction of paresthesia, patients with traditional SCS devices are instructed not to drive or
operate machinery when the device is activated. Medtronic, the current leader in neuromodulation, has released a survey showing that 71% of patients
find paresthesia uncomfortable at times.
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•  Paresthesia mapping: A crucial part of the traditional SCS procedure is called paresthesia mapping. This mapping process requires a patient to be
sedated for the lead placement, then awakened and repeatedly questioned in order for the physician to assess paresthesia coverage over the patient’s
area of pain and reposition and reprogram the leads to redirect the paresthesia. This process creates variability in the procedure and a complicated
anesthesia management process, impacting the physician’s schedule and patient comfort. The primary objective of traditional SCS therapy is to create
a stimulation program that covers the areas of pain without creating paresthesia beyond the pain areas, given that this can be uncomfortable and
difficult to tolerate. In the operating room, the surgical procedure is as follows:

1. The patient is sedated and leads are inserted into the epidural space along the spine with the guidance of fluoroscopy;

2. Sedation is reduced and the patient is awakened;

3. The patient is queried by the physician and verbal feedback is gathered on paresthesia distribution over the pain site. This process can complicate
anesthesia management as patients need to be sedated enough to tolerate the manipulation of the leads in the epidural space, but kept conscious
enough to be able to interact with the physician to respond to questions about their sensations of pain and paresthesia. Patients are often groggy from
the anesthesia and can have difficulty accurately confirming the overlap of the paresthesia with their pain.

4. The leads are repositioned or reprogrammed to redirect paresthesia. This is often a cumbersome and variable process as steps 3 and 4 are repeated as
required. Multiple iterations are often required, impacting operating room scheduling efficiency.

Our Solution for Chronic Pain

HF10 Therapy

Our HF10 therapy is designed to deliver innovative neuromodulation solutions for treating chronic pain based on what we believe to be the best clinical
evidence available, which we refer to as evidence-based. By overcoming many of the limitations of traditional SCS therapy, HF10 therapy offers benefits to
patients, physicians and hospitals. We believe the advantages of our proprietary HF10 therapy over traditional SCS include:
 

 

•  Compelling efficacy data for both leg and back pain: In our SENZA-RCT pivotal study, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide significant and
sustained back pain relief in addition to leg pain relief. HF10 therapy was shown to be nearly twice as successful in treating back pain and 1.5 times as
successful in treating leg pain relative to traditional SCS therapy. We believe that the results of our pivotal clinical trial provide compelling efficacy
data in leg and back pain that may enable us to gain significant market share in the approximately $1.7 billion existing global SCS market, which is
primarily based on treating leg pain. In addition, we believe our efficacy data in back pain will allow us to expand the SCS market under current
reimbursement by meeting demand from back pain patients who are largely untreated by traditional SCS therapies.

 

 

•  Strong global clinical evidence: We believe the strength of our clinical evidence base supporting HF10 therapy differentiates it from traditional SCS
therapies and we expect it to drive adoption among patients, providers and payors through increased referrals and utilization. Our SENZA-RCT pivotal
study included 198 patients across 11 U.S. clinical trial sites and was the first randomized controlled prospective pivotal study in SCS. We believe the
results of the SENZA-RCT study, which met all its primary and secondary endpoints, are consistent with and confirmatory of the results from our
European Long Term Clinical Study that included 83 patients. Both of these studies follow patients through 24 months.

 

 •  Paresthesia free pain relief for patients: HF10 therapy does not induce or require paresthesia to provide pain relief. By delivering pain relief without
paresthesia, HF10 therapy removes a major
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 barrier for many patients who would otherwise benefit from SCS therapy. HF10 therapy offers the notable benefit to patients of achieving significant
and sustained pain relief without requiring them to endure the uncomfortable shocking or jolting sensations commonly associated with paresthesia.

 

 
•  Anatomical lead placement for physicians. Since HF10 therapy relies on anatomical lead placement, it removes the cumbersome process of

paresthesia mapping that is required by traditional SCS therapy, reducing variability in the operating procedure and offering a significant benefit to
both physicians and hospitals by reducing variability of procedures.

 

 

•  Ability to treat a broader group of chronic pain patients: Our HF10 therapy is a platform technology that we believe can provide treatment benefits
for a broader group of chronic pain indications. We are currently investigating the use of HF10 therapy to treat pre-spinal surgery patients, chronic
intractable neck and upper extremity pain and refractory chronic migraine. Based on analysis from our SENZA-RCT and European studies, we believe
HF10 therapy may be an attractive treatment option for some pre-spinal surgery patients without mechanical instability due to its cost, reversibility and
initial trial period. Due to the removal of paresthesia, HF10 therapy may overcome the intense discomfort that traditional SCS generates for patients
with neck pain when leads are placed in the cervical spine. For chronic migraine patients, HF10 therapy’s ability to treat without paresthesia enables
cervical lead placement, rather than occipital nerve stimulation which requires lead insertion at the base of the skull under traditional SCS therapy.

Our Growth Strategy

Our mission is to be the neuromodulation leader in the treatment of chronic pain by developing innovative, evidence-based solutions. To accomplish this
objective we intend to:
 

 

•  Communicate what we believe is the compelling clinical efficacy of HF10 therapy to patients, physicians and payors globally: Given our
clinical evidence, we believe we will be able to position our therapy with patients, providers and payors in a differentiated way. Based on clinical data
from the SENZA-RCT, the FDA approved HF10 therapy with superiority labeling relative to traditional SCS for the treatment of both back pain and
leg pain. To date, we believe there have been only two other randomized, controlled SCS clinical studies comparing pain treatments with long-term
follow-up that have been peer reviewed and published. However, these studies only focused on leg pain. Given that our pivotal study has demonstrated
superiority for both back and leg pain in a head-to-head comparison with traditional SCS, we anticipate being able to differentiate HF10 therapy by
communicating its clinical benefits and advantages to patients, physicians and payors.

 

 

•  Drive adoption of HF10 therapy through a world-class sales and marketing organization: We will continue to build our worldwide sales
organization consisting of direct sales representatives and a network of distributors and sales agents. We are continuing to make significant
investments in building our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force and in recruiting and training our sales representatives for U.S. expansion.
This is a lengthy process that requires recruiting appropriate sales representatives, growing a commercial infrastructure in the United States and
training our sales representatives, and will continue to require significant investment by us. Following initial training for Senza, our sales
representatives typically require lead time in the field to grow their network of accounts and produce sales results. Successfully recruiting and training
a sufficient number of productive sales representatives is required to achieve growth at the rate we expect. As of December 31, 2015, we have 100
hired and trained sales representatives in the field in the United States. Our sales representatives target physician specialties involved in SCS treatment
decisions, including neurosurgeons, physiatrists, interventional pain specialists and orthopedic spine surgeons. We expect that our direct sales force
will target the approximately 2,400 hospitals and outpatient surgery centers, at which we believe an estimated 90% of SCS procedures in the United
States are performed. Our marketing and reimbursement teams intend to drive HF10 therapy adoption through creating awareness and demand among
additional stakeholders involved in the SCS treatment decision, including third-party payors, hospital administrators and patients and their families.
We do not believe
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that any changes will be required to existing patient referral flows or existing coverage and reimbursement policies in order to facilitate adoption in the
approximately $1.4 billion existing U.S. SCS market. Internationally, we plan to increase coverage of our target markets by expanding our existing
direct sales force or our network of distributors and sales agents.

 

 

•  Expand the existing SCS market by treating back pain: We believe we are expanding the existing SCS market by delivering a system that provides
meaningful treatment for the chronic back pain patient population. We believe the incremental opportunity for an SCS therapy that effectively treats
back pain is significant when compared to the size of the existing global SCS market. With traditional SCS therapy, patients who experience
predominant back pain are associated with lower levels of treatment success. Consequently, predominant back pain patients are typically not
recommended for treatment with traditional SCS therapy due to the difficulty of achieving and maintaining pain coverage. We believe HF10 therapy is
positioned to expand the existing SCS market by effectively treating back pain in addition to leg pain.

 

 

•  Develop HF10 therapy for use in other chronic pain indications: We plan to use our platform technology to develop HF10 therapy for use in other
chronic pain indications with significant unmet medical need, including chronic intractable neck and upper extremity pain, refractory chronic migraine
and pre-spinal surgery patients. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing HF10 therapy for use in other chronic pain
indications or in receiving required regulatory approvals to market Senza and HF10 therapy for use in other chronic pain indications.

 

 

•  Invest in research and development to drive innovation: We are extending our novel and proprietary technologies into a series of product
enhancements with the goal of improving the treatment of chronic pain. Product enhancements in development include a next-generation IPG, full
body MRI compatibility and paddle leads. We believe these innovative enhancements will drive continued adoption of our technology platform and
further validate the advantages and benefits of our HF10 therapy.

 

 
•  Scale our business to achieve cost and production efficiencies: We plan to improve the efficiency of our third-party manufacturing process, which

we believe will lower our per unit manufacturing cost. We expect to continue to scale our manufacturing operations as we expand Senza sales volumes
in the United States.

Our Senza System

Senza is designed to create electrical impulses from 2 Hz to 10 kHz, including our proprietary HF10 therapy, which allows for pain relief without
paresthesia. HF10 therapy delivers proprietary waveforms at 10 kHz pulse rate with a statistically driven and clinically verified programming algorithm.

Senza, similar to other commercially available SCS systems, consists of leads, a trial stimulator, an implantable pulse generator, or IPG, surgical tools, a
clinician laptop programmer, a patient remote control, and a mobile charger. These components enable physicians to implant the leads and the IPG, and patients to
operate the system.
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Leads:
The leads are thin, insulated medical wires that conduct electrical pulses from the IPG to near the spinal cord. Senza uses percutaneous leads, which
can be inserted to the epidural space minimally invasively through a needle. The leads are cylindrical, flexible and steerable, and are offered in different lengths.

Trial
Stimulator:
The trial stimulator contains electronics that deliver electrical pulses to the lead. It is an external device that is worn around the waist during
the evaluation period that typically lasts several days. It is powered by batteries.

Implantable
Pulse
Generator
(IPG):
The IPG contains a rechargeable battery and electronics that deliver electrical pulses to the lead. It has 16 output
channels and can connect to one or two leads. It is a programmable device and can deliver customized programs for each patient. The IPG is rechargeable and is
placed surgically under the skin, usually above the buttock or the abdomen. The Senza SCS system is CE Marked and FDA-approved with labeling for “at least 10
year battery life”.

Surgical
Tools:
Surgical tools include percutaneous insertion needles that are used to introduce the lead into the epidural space, a variety of stylets that give
physicians the ability to steer and deliver the lead to the desired location, anchors to secure the leads, and tunneling tools that provide access from the lead insertion
site to the location of the IPG.

Programmer:
The clinician laptop programmer contains proprietary software that allows customized programming of the IPG. It can non-invasively
interrogate the IPG and transmit programming information and download diagnostic information.

Patient
Remote
Control:
The patient remote control is a handheld device that allows patients to turn their stimulation on and off and change programs.

Charger:
The charger recharges the IPG from outside the body. To charge, the charging coil of the charger is placed over the location of the IPG and then
initiated by pushing a button on the charger. The charger is mobile and can be worn around the waist using a belt when charging is needed, so that the patient can
perform various tasks while charging. Charging sessions are usually performed daily and are expected to average approximately 45 minutes a day.

Growth Opportunities

Senza is a platform technology. We believe that our platform will have applications in other pain indications, and we are actively investigating some of these
opportunities.

Refractory
Non-Surgical
Chronic
Low
Back
Pain
(Pre-Spinal
Surgery)

One of the most common uses for SCS is for neuropathic pain conditions such as FBSS. The incidence of patients that will develop FBSS following lumbar
spinal surgery is estimated to be within the range of 10% to 40%. With the increasing number of spinal surgeries in the United States, FBSS is also increasing.
While there is a clear need for spinal surgery in many patients, given the high rate of FBSS there is a potential for SCS to move up the treatment progression ahead
of spinal surgery for some patients without mechanical instability. HF10 therapy could provide an attractive treatment option for these patients due to its cost,
reversibility and initial trial period. In subset analysis of pre-spinal surgery patients from our SENZA-RCT and European studies, respectively, we found a decrease
in back pain VAS scores from 7.2 to 2.5 (12 months, n=11) and 8.1 to 3.4 (24 months, n=14), respectively, as well as a decrease in leg pain VAS scores from 7.1 to
2.3 (12 months, n=11) and 5.9 to 2.8 (24 months, n=14) respectively.
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Chronic
Intractable
Neck
and
Upper
Extremity
Pain

Chronic neck pain with or without upper extremity pain is prevalent in 48% of women and 38% of men in the general adult population, with persistent
complaints in 22% of women and 16% of men. Multiple treatments currently exist in the market today, such as epidural injections, but there is a lack of clinically
efficacious treatments. In addition, there has been a very small body of evidence published on the application of SCS in chronic neck pain and upper extremity pain
by placing the leads in the cervical spine. The evidence has suggested promising therapeutic response when traditional SCS therapy is used, but the paresthesia in
the cervical spine associated with traditional SCS therapy can create intolerable discomfort, limiting its viability. We believe Senza can overcome this barrier due to
its ability to deliver pain relief without paresthesia. We have an ongoing feasibility study in this indication.

Refractory
Chronic
Migraine

Chronic migraine is a widespread and debilitating disorder affecting 2% of the general population. Chronic migraine patients have greater than 15 headache-
days per four week period lasting more than 3 months. Conventional treatments often include non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, triptans, ergots,
acetaminophens, opioids and botox as well as other therapies. Despite all of these pharmacologics, many patients do not respond to these therapies. Recognizing the
opportunity and the potential for HF10 therapy to address this unmet need, we have begun to investigate this indication through feasibility studies. The benefit of
HF10 therapy in this indication as opposed to traditional SCS therapy in chronic migraine is the treatment of patients without paresthesia through cervical lead
placement, rather than occipital nerve stimulation which requires lead insertion at the base of the skull.

Clinical Data

To support development of our proprietary HF10 therapy, the technology was evaluated in preclinical studies and further studied in prospective clinical
trials, all of which have now been published or are pending publication in peer-reviewed journals. The results from the clinical studies have been consistent across
studies and across outcome measures. The following table summarizes key outcomes for implanted subjects in our prospective multicenter European clinical study
(EU) and our prospective, comparative, randomized, controlled U.S. pivotal study, called SENZA-RCT (RCT), which was used to support approval of our PMA for
Senza.
 
   Month 3   Month 6   Month 12   Month 24
   EU   RCT   EU   RCT   EU   RCT   EU   RCT *
Back pain responders                 

HF10 therapy (%)   82.9   84.3   73.6   76.4   70.1   78.7   60.0   TBD
Traditional SCS (%)     43.8     52.5     51.3     
Superiority p-value     <0.001     0.001     <0.001     

Leg pain responders                 
HF10 therapy (%)   82.9   83.1   86.0   80.9   65.0   80.9   71.1   
Traditional SCS (%)     55.0     55.0     50     TBD
Superiority p-value     <0.001     <0.001     <0.001     

Back pain reduction from Baseline                 
HF10 therapy (%)   71.3   69.2   67.7   62.4   64.9   66.4   59.6   TBD
Traditional SCS (%)     44.2     44.3     44.7     
Superiority p-value     <0.001     <0.001     <0.001     

Leg pain reduction from Baseline                 
HF10 therapy (%)   75.3   72.8   73.4   66.9   61.6   69.5   61.6   TBD
Traditional SCS (%)     51.5     49.9     48.0     
Superiority p-value     <0.001     0.002     <0.001     

 
* SENZA-RCT month 24 results are pending publication and are therefore indicate as “TBD”
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U.S. Pivotal Clinical Study (SENZA-RCT)

Our pivotal study was a prospective, randomized, multi-center study, conducted across 11 U.S. clinical trial sites, comparing the safety and effectiveness of
Senza delivering HF10 therapy, which we refer to as the test to Boston Scientific’s FDA-approved Precision Plus system, delivering traditional SCS therapy, which
we refer to as the control. Each included patient was required to have a leg and back pain VAS score of at least 5. Among the 198 chronic pain patients who were
randomized for treatments, 171 had a successful therapy evaluation phase, or trial phase, and were implanted with an SCS system. The study was designed as a
non-inferiority trial and met its primary and secondary endpoints. Statistical analysis also demonstrates the superior efficacy of HF10 therapy over traditional SCS
therapy for all primary and secondary endpoints.

Safety
Results

Safety results were consistent between the test and control groups. Study-related serious adverse events, or SAEs, occurred in 4.0% of HF10 therapy subjects
(n=4) compared with 7.2% of traditional SCS therapy subjects (n=7; p
= 0.37). In addition to the SAEs described above, there were two deaths, one of which was
study-related and resulted from a myocardial infarction of a subject randomized to traditional SCS therapy that occurred during the implant procedure. The other
death occurred outside the study period in the test group and resulted from a malignant hepatic neoplasm. The most common study-related AEs were implant site
pain (in 11.9% of HF10 therapy and 10.3% of traditional SCS therapy subjects) and uncomfortable paresthesia (in 11.3% of traditional SCS therapy participants).
Lead migration leading to revision occurred in 3.0% of HF10 therapy and 5.2% of traditional SCS therapy participants. Importantly, neurological assessment
revealed no stimulation-related neurological deficits in either treatment group. Also, there were no stimulation-related SAEs in either arm.

European Long-Term Clinical Study

The two-year follow up of the European long-term clinical study was completed in 2013. The open label, prospective study was conducted at two sites in
Belgium and the United Kingdom. 82 chronic pain patients completed the therapy evaluation phase, or trial phase, for HF10 therapy and 72 were permanently
implanted as a result of successful evaluation phase. 65 of these patients were followed to two years.

Among the patients who went through the evaluation phase, 87% enrolled had predominant back pain, 17% had failed traditional SCS therapy previously,
and 19% of the patients did not have prior back surgery. These are difficult-to-treat patients that have been excluded from traditional SCS therapy studies in the
past.

Key safety results:
 

 •  No evidence of neurologic deficit or dysfunction attributable to prolonged delivery of HF10 therapy was observed.
 

 •  Investigators reported that adverse events were similar in nature and frequency to those seen with traditional SCS therapy. The most common adverse
events were implant site pain, infection and lead migration.

Key efficacy results:
 

 •  Average back pain VAS was reduced from 8.4 at baseline to 2.8 at 12 months to 3.3 at 24 months. Average leg pain was reduced from 5.4 VAS pain
level at baseline to 2.0 at 12 months to 2.3 at 24 months.

 

 •  For responder rates, 60% of the implanted patients had at least 50% back pain relief and 71% had at least 50% leg pain relief.
 

 •  Disability as measured by Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) improved by an average of 15 points at 24 months, a clinically and statistically significant
improvement.

 
11



Table of Contents

 •  Opioid intake decreased, with 86% of patients taking some form of opioid at baseline, and to 57% at 24 months. The mean dosage of oral morphine
equivalents per patient decreased from 84 milligrams per day, or mg/day, at baseline to 27 mg/day at 24 months.

Other results:
 

 •  HF10 therapy did not produce paresthesia.

Third-Party Coverage and Reimbursement

In the United States, the primary purchasers of Senza are hospitals and outpatient surgery centers. These purchasers bill various third-party payors, such as
Medicare, Medicaid and private health insurance plans for the healthcare services associated with the SCS procedure. Government agencies and private payors
determine whether to provide coverage for specific procedures. We believe that SCS procedures using Senza are adequately described by existing CPT, HCPCS II,
and ICD-10-CM codes for the implantation of spinal cord stimulators and related leads performed in various sites of care. Medicare reimbursement rates for the
same or similar procedures vary due to geographic location, nature of facility in which the procedure is performed (i.e., hospital outpatient department or outpatient
surgery centers) and other factors. In the United States, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) have approved a transitional pass-through payment
for High Frequency Stimulation under the Medicare hospital outpatient prospective payment system effective beginning January 1, 2016. This pass-through
payment for HF10 therapy will be in addition to the established reimbursement for spinal cord stimulation devices. CMS determined that the Senza SCS System
delivering HF10 therapy met the criteria for a new device category based on the published randomized control trial (RCT) evidence submitted. Although private
payors’ coverage policies and reimbursement rates tend to vary, the Medicare program is increasingly used as a model for how private payors and other
governmental payors develop their coverage and reimbursement policies for healthcare items and services, including SCS procedures. Outside the United States,
reimbursement levels vary significantly by country, and by region within some countries. Reimbursement is obtained from a variety of sources, including
government-sponsored and private health insurance plans, and combinations of both. Some countries will require us to gather additional clinical data before
recognizing granting broader coverage and reimbursement for our products. It is our intent to complete the requisite clinical studies and obtain coverage and
reimbursement approval beyond what we have today in countries where it makes economic sense to do so.

Product Development and Research Development

Our objective is to continue to improve patient outcomes and further expand patient access to HF10 therapy through enhancements to Senza and the
development of new indications. Research and development expenses were $20.3 million, $19.8 million and $21.4 million, for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2014 and 2015, respectively.

Since the launch of the initial Senza system, we have introduced a number of product enhancements. These include a short-tip version of the lead, new
lengths of the lead, an active anchor with improved performance over silicon anchors, a second generation active anchor with smaller volume, lead adaptors that
allow use of competitor leads already implanted in patients, second generation clinician programmer software, a second generation IPG with improved shape and
compatibility for scans of the head and extremities with both 1.5 and 3 Tesla (T) MRI machines. We also expect to continue developing enhancements to Senza to
further increase performance and introduce new benefits including next generation IPGs, paddle leads and full body MRI compatibility. There can be no assurance
that we will be successful in these efforts or in receiving any required regulatory approvals.
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Sales and Marketing

United
States

We continue to hire and train a direct sales organization in the United States. As of December 31, 2015, we have 100 hired and trained sales representatives
in the field in the U.S. Our sales representatives target physician specialties involved in SCS treatment decisions, including neurosurgeons, physiatrists,
interventional pain specialists and orthopedic spine surgeons. We plan to ultimately target approximately 2,400 hospitals and outpatient surgery centers at which we
believe an estimated 90% of SCS procedures are performed in the United States. In addition, our commercial team plans to continue to create awareness and
demand for Senza among additional stakeholders involved in the SCS treatment decision, including third-party payors, hospitals administrators and SCS patients
and their families. We have also developed a product support team in order to provide ongoing support to physicians for the use of Senza.

International

We sell Senza in Europe and Australia through a combination of our direct sales force and a network of sales agents and independent distributors. We began
our direct sales operations in the United Kingdom in 2010 and to date have expanded our direct sales operations to Austria, Australia, Belgium, Germany,
Luxembourg, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland. We utilize sales agents and independent distributors to sell in an additional seven countries.

Competition

We compete in the SCS market for chronic pain. We also compete with spine surgeries, in particular re-surgeries. Currently, our major competitors are
Medtronic, Boston Scientific and St. Jude Medical, who have obtained regulatory approval for SCS systems. We believe that the primary competitive factors in the
market are:
 

 •  Sales force experience and access
 

 •  Published clinical efficacy data
 

 •  Product support and service
 

 •  Effective marketing and education
 

 •  Company brand recognition
 

 •  Clinical research leadership
 

 •  Technological innovation, product enhancements and speed of innovation
 

 •  Pricing and reimbursement
 

 •  Product reliability, safety and durability
 

 •  Ease of use

Many of our competitors have greater capital resources, more established operations, longer commercial histories and more extensive relationships with
physicians. They also have wider product offerings within neuromodulation and in other product categories, providing them with greater supplier power and with
more opportunities to interact with stakeholders involved in purchasing decisions. We also face competition to recruit and retain qualified sales and other
personnel.

We expect our competitors to launch new products and release additional clinical evidence within the next few years. For example, St. Jude Medical is
currently working to gain FDA approval for a SCS system that offers an alternate waveform, and in February 2016, the company gained approval for a
neuromodulation system that stimulates the dorsal root ganglion for treatment of focal pain and complex regional pain syndrome, or CRPS.
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St. Jude Medical has run pivotal studies for each therapy as part of the FDA approval process. Medtronic is performing studies to collect data on existing SCS
products for back pain. Additionally, Boston Scientific has commenced a randomized clinical trial of a high-frequency SCS therapy. Boston Scientific is also
expected to introduce incremental product enhancements such as a reduction in the size of their IPG, new accessories and improved MRI compatibility labeling.
Additionally, there are a number of emerging competitors that have recently received FDA approval. Stimwave has developed and is starting to commercialize a
minimally invasive stimulation system that employs an externally worn power source and radio frequency transmitter. Nuvectra is a proposed spinoff company
from Greatbatch, an original equipment manufacturer of SCS systems that many large SCS companies, as well as Nevro, use for manufacturing. In November
2015, Nuvectra received FDA approval for its SCS system, which is similar to many of the other traditional SCS systems currently on the market.

Intellectual Property

We actively seek to protect the intellectual property and proprietary technology that we believe is important to our business, which includes seeking and
maintaining patents covering our technology and products, proprietary processes and any other inventions that are commercially or strategically important to the
development of our business. We also rely upon trademarks to build and maintain the integrity of our brand, and we seek to protect the confidentiality of trade
secrets that may be important to the development of our business. For more information, please see “Risk factors—Risks Related to Intellectual Property.”

Patents,
Trademarks
and
Proprietary
Technology

As of December 31, 2015, we owned 87 issued patents globally, of which 57 were issued U.S. patents, 17 were issued Australian patents, 7 were issued
European patents, two were German Utility Models, two were Japanese patents, one was an issued Chinese utility patent and one was an issued Chinese design
patent. In general, our patents cover SCS systems that are configured to generate non-paresthesia producing therapy signals at frequencies between 1,500 Hz to
100,000 Hz, as well as additional aspects, algorithms and components of the Senza system and HF10 therapy. As of December 31, 2015, we held 101 patent
applications pending globally, of which 54 were patent applications pending in the United States, and 47 were patent applications pending across Europe, Australia,
Canada, Japan, China, and Korea. We also have an exclusive license from the Mayo Foundation to two U.S. issued patents and two U.S. pending patent
applications. All of our current issued patents are projected to expire between 2028 and 2032.

As of December 31, 2015, our trademark portfolio contained 15 trademark registrations, of which there were 4 U.S. trademark registrations, 4 Australian
trademark registrations, 4 European trademark registrations, 2 Japanese trademark registrations and one Swiss trademark registration. Our trademark portfolio also
contained 6 pending U.S. trademark applications and 5 pending foreign trademark applications.

The term of individual patents depends on the legal term for patents in the countries in which they are granted. In most countries, including the United States,
the patent term is generally 20 years from the earliest claimed filing date of a non-provisional patent application in the applicable country. We cannot assure that
patents will be issued from any of our pending applications or that, if patents are issued, they will be of sufficient scope or strength to provide meaningful
protection for our technology. Notwithstanding the scope of the patent protection available to us, a competitor could develop treatment methods or devices that are
not covered by our patents. Furthermore, numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and patent applications owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we are
developing products. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be applications unknown to us, which applications may later result in
issued patents that our existing or future products or proprietary technologies may be alleged to infringe.

There has been substantial litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights in the medical device industry. In the future, we may need to
engage in litigation to enforce patents issued or licensed to us, to protect our trade secrets or know-how, to defend against claims of infringement of the rights of
others or to
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determine the scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could be costly and could divert our attention from other functions and
responsibilities. Adverse determinations in litigation could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties, could require us to seek licenses from third parties and
could prevent us from manufacturing, selling or using Senza, any of which could severely harm our business.

We also rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological innovation, and may rely upon licensing opportunities in the future, to develop and
maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect our proprietary rights through a variety of methods, including confidentiality agreements and proprietary
information agreements with suppliers, employees, consultants and others who may have access to proprietary information, under which they are bound to assign to
us inventions made during the term of their employment.

The
Mayo
License

In October 2006, we entered into a license agreement, or the Mayo License, with the Venturi Group, LLC, or VGL, and the Mayo Foundation for Medical
Education and Research, or the Mayo Foundation, pursuant to which the Mayo Foundation committed to confer with us exclusively to develop products for the
treatment of autonomic and peripheral nervous system disorders, including pain, using devices to modulate nerve signaling, and non-exclusively to test such
devices, and VGL committed to confer with us non-exclusively to develop such devices, and exclusively to test such devices. These commitments to confer expired
in January 2011. We were granted a worldwide license to make, use, sell, offer for sale, and import products incorporating or using the know-how developed for
and provided to us by the Mayo Foundation or VGL in the course of such development and testing activities, exclusively for product development and non-
exclusively for product testing. We were also granted an exclusive worldwide license under certain patents and patent applications, including any patent
applications or issued patents claiming inventions that arose out of the device development and testing activities conducted on our behalf by the Mayo Foundation
or VGL pursuant to the agreement, to develop, make, use, sell, offer for sale, and import products covered by the licensed patents or patent applications. As of
December 31, 2015, two issued patents were covered by the Mayo License. These two patents expire in 2027 and 2028, respectively.

Pursuant to the Mayo License, we are obligated to pay royalties in the low single digits to the Mayo Foundation, on a country-by-country and product-by-
product basis, based on a percentage of net sales of licensed products, subject to reduction under certain circumstances. Our obligation to pay royalties commences
upon the first commercial sale of a licensed product in a particular country and expires, on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, in the case of
products covered by a licensed patent or patent application upon the expiration of the last valid claim covering such product in such country, and in the case of any
other licensed product, upon the fifth anniversary of the first commercial sale of such product in such country. We are obligated to pay Mayo a double-digit
percentage of any sublicensing revenue we receive from any sublicensees during the term of the Mayo License. In addition, in connection with the consummation
of our IPO in November 2014, we issued the Mayo Foundation 20,833 shares of our common stock pursuant to the terms of the Mayo License. We are also
required under the Mayo License to use commercially reasonable efforts to research, develop and commercialize licensed products.

The Mayo License terminates upon the expiration of (1) the last to expire of the licensed patents or (2) our obligation to pay royalties, whichever is later. We,
the Mayo Foundation or VGL may terminate the Mayo License upon 60 days’ notice of a party’s material breach if such breach remains uncured after such 60-day
period. In the event of termination as a result of our material breach, all licenses to the licensed patents will terminate, and our licenses to the know-how provided
to us by the Mayo Foundation or VGL in the course of the development and testing activities will become non-exclusive. We do not believe a termination of the
Mayo License would have a material adverse impact on our ability to develop, market and sell Senza. In the event that we terminate the Mayo License for breach
by either the Mayo Foundation or VGL, all licenses to licensed patents continue, our license to the licensed know-how shall become non-exclusive and our
obligation to pay royalties on net sales of licensed products shall be reduced by half. The Mayo Foundation or VGL may also terminate in the event of our
insolvency.
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Manufacturing and Supply

We rely upon third-party suppliers for the manufacture and assembly of our Senza SCS system and its components, some of which are single- or sole-sources
of the relevant product component. We have not yet identified and qualified second-source replacements for several of our critical single-source suppliers. Thus, in
the event that our relationship with any of our single- or sole-source suppliers terminates in the future, we may have difficulty maintaining sufficient production of
our products at the standards we require. Where practicable, we are currently seeking, or intending to seek, second-source manufacturers for our single-source
components. We believe that existing third-party facilities will be adequate to meet our current and anticipated manufacturing needs. We do not currently plan to
manufacture the Senza SCS system components ourselves.

We believe our manufacturing operations, and those of our suppliers, are in compliance with regulations mandated by the FDA. Manufacturing facilities that
produce medical devices or their component parts intended for distribution world-wide are subject to regulation and periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA
and other domestic and international regulatory agencies. In the United States, we are required to manufacture any products that we sell in compliance with the
FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, which covers the methods used in, and the facilities used for, the design, testing, control, manufacturing, labeling,
quality assurance, packaging, storage and shipping of our products. In international markets, we are required to obtain and maintain various quality assurance and
quality management certifications. We have obtained the following international certifications: Quality Management System ISO13485, Full Quality Assurance
Certification for the design and manufacture of spinal cord stimulator systems and accessories and a Design Examination certificate for Implantable Pulse
Generator and Accessories. We are required to demonstrate continuing compliance with applicable regulatory requirements to maintain these certifications and will
continue to be periodically inspected by international regulatory authorities for certification purposes.

We believe that our most significant supply contracts are as follows:

Pro-Tech
Design
and
Manufacturing

In July 2014, we entered into a new supply agreement with Pro-Tech Design and Manufacturing, Inc., or Pro-Tech, pursuant to which Pro-Tech, as a single-
source supplier, conducts the inspection, labeling, packaging and sterilization of our Senza SCS system. Our supply agreement is scheduled to expire in July 2019,
unless terminated earlier. We may terminate the agreement without cause upon six months’ prior written notice, and Pro-Tech may terminate without cause upon
18 months’ prior written notice. In addition, we and Pro-Tech have the right to terminate the agreement upon 30 days’ prior written notice in the event of the other
party’s material breach that remains uncured at the end of such 30-day period.

Stellar
Technologies

On July 1, 2009, we entered into a manufacturing agreement with Stellar Technologies, Inc., or Stellar, our single-source supplier of our percutaneous leads
and percutaneous lead extenders for our neurological stimulator products. On June 30, 2014, the agreement’s initial term expired, and the agreement automatically
renewed for the first time. On July 1, 2014, we entered into a first amendment to the manufacturing agreement with Stellar, which provides for an additional five
year term commencing from the date of the amendment, after which the agreement automatically renews for successive one-year terms unless either party provides
written notice of intent not to renew at least 30 days before the expiration of the then-current term. On January 28, 2016, we entered into a second amendment to
this agreement, which provides for the purchase of certain supplementary products pursuant to the agreement. We refer to the manufacturing agreement as amended
by the first and second amendments as the Stellar Agreement.

Either we or Stellar may terminate the Stellar Agreement at will upon one years’ advance notice, subject to certain remaining rights and payment obligations,
including an early cancellation fee payable by us to Stellar. We may also terminate the Stellar Agreement if Stellar is unable to perform its obligations under the
Stellar
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Agreement for 60 days or more, or if Stellar is unwilling to perform its obligations under the Stellar Agreement and does not cure such defect within 60 days’ of
our providing written notice to cure. Stellar may terminate the Stellar Agreement in the event of our default of certain specified obligations, including our payment
obligations, material violation of a warranty or law, our material breach, and our insolvency.

CCC
Supply
Agreement

We rely upon C.C.C. Del Uruguay S.A., or CCC, a subsidiary of Greatbatch Ltd., as our single-source manufacturer of our implantable pulse generator
(IPG). In April 2012, we entered into our original supply agreement with CCC, which we later amended in March 2013 and June 2014. In connection with entry
into our new supply agreement, our existing supply agreement with CCC (described below), which was to expire by its terms on March 31, 2015, was terminated.

On March 13, 2015, we entered into a new multi-year supply agreement with CCC, pursuant to which CCC has agreed to manufacture and supply IPGs,
chargers, trial simulators and programmer wands (collectively, the “Products”). We are obligated to purchase from CCC specified minimum purchase quantities of
IPGs during the first two years of the supply agreement and thereafter specified increasing percentages of IPGs, unless CCC is unable to manufacture such IPGs, at
similar quantities to those contemplated in the agreement. In addition, if we seek to have a third-party manufacture any products, components and materials not
currently produced by CCC as of the effective date of this supply agreement, we are obligated to provide CCC with the opportunity to bid for the supply of such
products, components and materials.

The supply agreement continues for ten years unless terminated earlier. The term of the supply agreement automatically renews for additional two-year terms
unless one party provides the other party with written notice of termination at least one year prior to the end of the applicable renewal period. In the event of a
change in control, the supply agreement may be terminated by us or the applicable acquirer, subject to payment of a termination fee of between $50.0 million and
$75.0 million and other conditions, upon no earlier than six years after the effective date of the supply agreement. The supply agreement may also be terminated by
us, subject to payment of a termination fee of $50.0 million, upon six months’ prior written notice if we determine that we will discontinue the sale of the IPG;
provided, that the effective date of any such termination may not occur prior to the date that is 5 years after the effective date of the supply agreement. In addition,
the supply agreement may be terminated by mutual agreement of the parties, or by either party, with written notice, upon the other party’s cessation of business or
other termination of its business operations, uncured material breach or insolvency of the other party.

EaglePicher
Medical
Power
Supply
Agreement

In April 2009, we entered into a product supply and development agreement with EaglePicher Medical Power LLC, or EaglePicher, our single-source
supplier of the batteries and related products for our IPG. Pursuant to the agreement, EaglePicher must use its best efforts to supply these batteries and related
products in sufficient quantity to meet our demand. The agreement also provides that, upon our written request, EaglePicher will conduct development of a
modified version of these products to our specifications, if we so desire. The initial term of our supply agreement with EaglePicher expired in November 2010, and
the term has been automatically renewing for successive one-year periods.

In March 2015, we entered into a first amendment to the product supply and development agreement with EaglePicher. The amendment commits us to
specified minimum purchase amounts over the course of the term of the agreement and adjusts EaglePicher’s production capacity and facilities commitments under
the agreement as well as certain pricing, purchasing, delivery and cancellation terms. The amendment also extends the term of the agreement to December 31,
2019, with an additional two-year automatic renewal period unless we or EaglePicher provides notice of its intent not to renew prior to the commencement of such
renewal term. We have also agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase minimum quantities of product. The amendment further provides us with the right to
place a final order with EaglePicher following termination of the agreement, as amended and modifies certain warranty and assignment terms and the parties’
limitations of liability.
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In November 2015, we entered into a second amendment to the agreement, which increased our pre-existing specified minimum purchase amounts and
increased EaglePicher’s production capacity commitments under the agreement, as well as specifying certain purchasing and purchase order protocols. The
amendment obligated EaglePicher to establish and qualify an additional battery production operation and commits us to fund approximately $1.0 million of such
production operation paid in three milestone installments. The amendment also establishes EaglePicher as our exclusive battery supplier through the initial five
year term of the agreement, ending December 31, 2019.

Vention
Supply
Agreement

In December 2015, we entered into a Manufacturing and Supply Agreement with Vention Medical Design and Development, Inc. (Vention), pursuant to
which Vention agreed to manufacture and supply our IPG. We are obligated to purchase from Vention specified minimum purchase quantities of IPGs for the
duration of the Vention agreement.

The agreement continues for five years unless terminated earlier. The term of the agreement automatically renews for additional one-year terms unless one
party provides the other party with written notice of termination at least one year prior to the end of the applicable renewal period. The agreement may be
terminated by the Company for any reason upon 180 days’ written notice to Vention. In addition, the agreement may be terminated by mutual agreement of the
parties, or by either party, with written notice, upon uncured material breach or insolvency of the other party. Upon termination of the agreement, Vention shall,
upon our request, manufacture an additional 24 months of continuous supply of IPGs based on the preceding forecast average or such other amount as agreed upon
by the parties.

Other
Suppliers

We also have other suppliers, including some sole-source suppliers, for certain of our components, with whom we do not have agreements.

Product Liability and Insurance

The manufacture and sale of our products subjects us to the risk of financial exposure to product liability claims. Our products are used in situations in which
there is a risk of serious injury or death. We carry insurance policies which we believe to be customary for similar companies in our industry. We cannot assure you
that these policies will be sufficient to cover all or substantially all losses that we experience.

We endeavor to maintain executive and organization liability insurance in a form and with aggregate coverage limits that we believe are adequate for our
business purposes, but our coverage limits may prove not to be adequate in some circumstances.

Government Regulations

United
States

Our products and operations are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, under the Federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, and its implementing regulations, guidances, and standards. The FDA regulates the research, testing, manufacturing, safety,
labeling, storage, recordkeeping, promotion, distribution, and production of medical devices in the United States to ensure that medical products distributed
domestically are safe and effective for their intended uses. The FDA also regulates the export of medical devices manufactured in the United States to international
markets. Any violations of these laws and regulations could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, if there is a change in law, regulation or judicial interpretation, we may be required to change our business practices, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Under the FFDCA, medical devices are classified into one of three classes—Class I, Class II or Class III—depending on the degree of risk associated with
each medical device and the extent of control needed to ensure safety and effectiveness.

Class I devices are those for which safety and effectiveness can be assured by adherence to FDA’s “general controls” for medical devices, which include
compliance with the applicable portions of the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR, facility registration and product listing, reporting of adverse medical
events, and appropriate, truthful and non-misleading labeling, advertising, and promotional materials. Some Class I devices also require premarket clearance by the
FDA through the 510(k) premarket notification process described below.

Class II devices are subject to FDA’s general controls, and any other “special controls” deemed necessary by FDA to ensure the safety and effectiveness of
the device. Premarket review and clearance by the FDA for Class II devices is accomplished through the 510(k) premarket notification procedure, though certain
Class II devices are exempt from this premarket review process. When a 510(k) is required, the manufacturer must submit to the FDA a premarket notification
submission demonstrating that the device is “substantially equivalent” to a legally marketed device, which in some cases may require submission of clinical data.
Unless a specific exemption applies, 510(k) premarket notification submissions are subject to user fees. If the FDA determines that the device, or its intended use,
is not substantially equivalent to a legally marketed device, the FDA will place the device, or the particular use of the device, into Class III, and the device sponsor
must then fulfill much more rigorous premarketing requirements.

A Class III product is a product which has a new intended use or utilizes advanced technology that is not substantially equivalent to that of a legally
marketed device. The safety and effectiveness of Class III devices cannot be assured solely by general or special controls. These devices almost always require
formal clinical studies to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Submission and FDA approval of a premarket approval, or PMA, application is required before marketing of a Class III device can proceed. As with 510(k)
submissions, unless subject to an exemption, PMA submissions are subject to user fees. The PMA process is much more demanding than the 510(k) premarket
notification process. A PMA application, which is intended to demonstrate that the device is safe and effective, must be supported by extensive data, including data
from preclinical studies and human clinical trials. The PMA must also contain a full description of the device and its components, a full description of the methods,
facilities, and controls used for manufacturing, and proposed labeling. Following receipt of a PMA application, once the FDA determines that the application is
sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, the FDA will formally accept the application for review. The FDA, by statute and by regulation, has 180-days
to review an “accepted” PMA application, although the review of an application more often occurs over a significantly longer period of time, and can take up to
several years. In approving a PMA application or clearing a 510(k) application, the FDA may also require some form of post-market surveillance when necessary
to protect the public health or to provide additional safety and effectiveness data for the device. In such cases, the manufacturer might be required to follow certain
patient groups for a number of years and makes periodic reports to the FDA on the clinical status of those patients.

PMA
Approval

The Senza SCS system is a Class III device subject to review and approval through the PMA pathway. PMA applications must be supported by, among other
things, valid scientific evidence, which typically requires extensive data, including technical, preclinical, clinical and manufacturing data, to demonstrate to the
FDA’s satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the device. A PMA application must also include, among other things, a complete description of the device and
its components, a detailed description of the methods, facilities and controls used to manufacture the device, and proposed labeling.

The FDA has 45 days from its receipt of a PMA to determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold
determination that it is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review. During
this review period, the
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FDA may request additional information or clarification of information already provided. In addition, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the
applicant and/or its third-party manufacturers’ or suppliers’ manufacturing facility or facilities to ensure compliance with the QSR, which requires manufacturers to
follow design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures.

The timing of FDA review of an initial PMA application can vary substantially and, in some cases, require several years to complete. The FDA can delay,
limit, or deny approval of a PMA application for many reasons, including:
 

 •  it is not demonstrated that there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe or effective under the conditions of use prescribed, recommended, or
suggested in the proposed labeling;

 

 •  the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient; and
 

 •  the manufacturing process, methods, controls, or facilities used for the manufacture, processing, packing, or installation of the device do not meet
applicable requirements.

If the FDA evaluations of both the PMA application and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA will either issue an approval letter or an
approvable letter, which usually contains a number of conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the PMA. If the FDA’s evaluation of the
PMA or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA will deny approval of the PMA or issue a not approvable letter. A not approvable letter will outline the
deficiencies in the application and, where practical, will identify what is necessary to make the PMA approvable. The FDA may also determine that additional
clinical trials are necessary, in which case the PMA approval may be delayed for several months or years while the trials are conducted and the data is then
submitted in an amendment to the PMA. Once granted, PMA approval may be withdrawn by the FDA if compliance with post approval requirements, conditions of
approval or other regulatory standards is not maintained or problems are identified following initial marketing. In May 2015, we received approval for our PMA
application.

Approval by the FDA of new PMA applications or PMA supplements may be required for modifications to the manufacturing process, labeling, device
specifications, materials or design of a device that is approved through the PMA process. PMA supplements often require submission of the same type of
information as an initial PMA application, except that the supplement is limited to information needed to support any changes from the device covered by the
original PMA application and may not require as extensive clinical data. For example, if we seek approval to expand the label of Senza to include additional pain
indications, we anticipate that we will be required to submit and receive approval for a PMA supplement.

Clinical
Studies

When FDA approval of a Class I, Class II or Class III device requires human clinical trials, and if the device presents a “significant risk” to human health,
the device sponsor is required to file an investigational device exemption, or IDE, application with the FDA and obtain IDE approval prior to commencing the
human clinical trial. If the device is considered a “non-significant risk,” IDE submission to FDA is not required. Instead, only approval from the Institutional
Review Board, or IRB, overseeing the investigation at each clinical trial site is required. Human clinical studies are generally required in connection with approval
of Class III devices and may be required for Class I and II devices. The FDA or the IRB at each institution at which a clinical trial is being performed may suspend
a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that the subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

Continuing
Regulation

After FDA permits a device to enter commercial distribution, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include: compliance with the QSR, which
requires manufacturers to follow elaborate design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during the manufacturing process;
labeling regulations; the FDA’s general prohibition against promoting products for unapproved or “off-label” uses; the
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reports of Corrections and Removals regulation, which requires manufacturers to report recalls and field actions to the FDA if initiated to reduce a risk of health
posed by the device or to remedy a violation of the FDC Act; and the Medical Device Reporting, or MDR, regulation, which requires that manufacturers report to
the FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or
serious injury if it were to reoccur. Manufacturers are also required to register and list their devices with the FDA, based on which the FDA will conduct
inspections to ensure continued compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

The FDA has broad post-market and regulatory and enforcement powers. Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. medical device regulatory requirements
could result in, among other things, warning letters; fines; injunctions; consent decrees; civil penalties; repairs replacements or refunds; recalls, corrections or
seizures of products; total or partial suspension of production; the FDA’s refusal to grant future premarket clearances or approvals; withdrawals or suspensions of
current product applications; and criminal prosecution. If any of these events were to occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

International

Our international sales are subject to regulatory requirements in the countries in which our products are sold. The regulatory review process varies from
country to country and may in some cases require the submission of clinical data. In addition, the FDA must be notified of, or approve the export to certain
countries of devices that require a PMA, and not yet approved in the United States.

In the European Economic Area, or EEA (which is comprised of the 28 Member States of the EU plus Norway, Liechtenstein and Iceland), we need to
comply with the requirements of the EU Active Implantable Medical Devices Directive or AIMDD, and appropriately affix the CE Mark on our products to attest
to such compliance. To achieve compliance, our products must meet the “Essential Requirements” laid down in Annex I of the AIMDD relating to safety and
performance. To demonstrate compliance with the Essential Requirements and obtain the right to affix the CE mark we must undergo a conformity assessment
procedure, which varies according to the type of medical device and its classification. Except for low risk medical devices (Class I with no measuring function and
which are not sterile), where the manufacturer can issue an EC Declaration of Conformity based on a self-assessment of the conformity of its products with the
Essential Requirements, a conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of a Notified Body, which is an organization designated by a competent
authority of an EEA country to conduct conformity assessments. Depending on the relevant conformity assessment procedure, the Notified Body would audit and
examine the Technical File and the quality system for the manufacture, design and final inspection of our devices. The Notified Body issues a CE Certificate of
Conformity following successful completion of a conformity assessment procedure conducted in relation to the medical device and its manufacturer and their
conformity with the Essential Requirements. This
Certificate entitles the manufacturer to affix the CE mark to its medical devices after having prepared and signed a related EC Declaration of Conformity. The
assessment of the conformity of Senza has been certified by our Notified Body (the British Standards Institution or (BSI)).

As a general rule, demonstration of conformity of medical devices and their manufacturers with the Essential Requirements must be based, among other
things, on the evaluation of clinical data supporting the safety and performance of the products during normal conditions of use. Specifically, a manufacturer must
demonstrate that the device achieves its intended performance during normal conditions of use and that the known and foreseeable risks, and that any adverse
events, are minimized and acceptable when weighed against the benefits of its intended performance, and that any claims made about the performance and safety of
the device (e.g., product labeling and instructions for use) are supported by suitable evidence. This assessment must be based on clinical data, which can be
obtained from (1) clinical studies conducted on the devices being assessed, (2) scientific literature from similar devices whose equivalence with the assessed device
can be demonstrated or (3) both clinical studies and scientific literature. With respect to active implantable medical
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devices or Class III devices, the manufacturer must conduct clinical studies to obtain the required clinical data, unless reliance on existing clinical data from
equivalent devices can be justified. The conduct of clinical studies in the EEA is governed by detailed regulatory obligations. These may include the requirement of
prior authorization by the competent authorities of the country in which the study takes place and the requirement to obtain a positive opinion from a competent
Ethics Committee. This process can be expensive and time-consuming. Additionally, Senza must continue to comply with the requirements of certain EU
Directives.

We are subject to continued surveillance by our Notified Body and will be required to report any serious adverse incidents to the appropriate authorities. We
also must comply with additional requirements of individual countries in which our products are marketed.

The assessment of the conformity of Senza with the AIMDD and the R&TTE (Radio and Telecommunications Terminal) Directive has been certified by the
BSI.

In September 2012, the European Commission published proposals for the revision of the EU regulatory framework for medical devices. The proposal would
replace the Medical Devices Directive and the Active Implantable Medical Devices Directive with a new regulation (the Medical Devices Regulation). Unlike the
Directives that must be implemented into national laws, the Regulation would be directly applicable in all EEA Member States and so is intended to eliminate
current national differences in regulation of medical devices.

In October 2013, the European Parliament approved a package of reforms to the European Commission’s proposals. Under the revised proposals, only
designated “special notified bodies” would be entitled to conduct conformity assessments of high-risk devices, such as active implantable devices. These special
notified bodies will need to notify the European Commission when they receive an application for a conformity assessment for a new high-risk device. The
European Commission will then forward the notification and the accompanying documents on the device to the Medical Devices Coordination Group, or MDCG,
(a new, yet to be created, body chaired by the European Commission, and representatives of Member States) for an opinion. These new procedures may result in
the re-assessment of our existing medical devices, or a longer or more burdensome assessment of our new products.

If adopted, the Medical Devices Regulation is expected to enter into force in 2016 and become applicable three years thereafter. In its current form it would,
among other things, also impose additional reporting requirements on manufacturers of high risk medical devices, impose an obligation on manufacturers to
appoint a “qualified person” responsible for regulatory compliance, and provide for more strict clinical evidence requirements.

Other
Regulations

We are also subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regulation in the jurisdictions in which we will conduct our business. These laws include, without
limitation, applicable anti-kickback, false claims, physician sunshine and patient privacy and security laws and regulations.

Anti-Kickback
Statute:
The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering,
receiving or paying any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual
for, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under federal
healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. The federal Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many arrangements and practices that are lawful in
businesses outside of the healthcare industry. The term “remuneration” includes kickbacks, bribes, or rebates and also has been broadly interpreted to include
anything of value, including for example, gifts, discounts, the furnishing of supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, payments of cash, waivers of payments,
ownership interests and providing anything at less than its fair market value. There are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors
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protecting certain business arrangements from prosecution under the federal Anti-Kickback Statute. These statutory exceptions and safe harbors set forth provisions
that, if all their applicable requirements are met, will assure healthcare providers and other parties that they may not be prosecuted under the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute. The failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or more applicable statutory exceptions or safe harbors does not necessarily mean that
it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued. However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy all requirements of an applicable safe harbor
may result in increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis based on a cumulative review of all of its
facts and circumstances. Further, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the government
may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act which is discussed below. Penalties for violations of the Anti-Kickback Statute include, but are not limited to,
criminal, civil and/or administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other
federal healthcare programs, and the curtailment or restructuring of operations.

Federal
Civil
False
Claims
Act:
The federal civil False Claims Act prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly presenting or causing
to be presented a false or fraudulent claim to, or the knowing use of false statements to obtain payment from or approval by, the federal government. In addition,
private individuals have the ability to bring actions under the civil False Claims Act in the name of the government alleging false and fraudulent claims presented to
or paid by the government (or other violations of the statutes) and to share in any amounts paid by the entity to the government in fines or settlement. Such suits,
known as qui tam actions, have increased significantly in the healthcare industry in recent years. Manufacturers can be held liable under these laws if they are
deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims by, for example, providing inaccurate billing or coding information to customers or promoting a
product off-label. Penalties for a federal civil False Claims Act violation include three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus mandatory civil
penalties of between $5,500 and $11,000 for each separate false claim, the potential for exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs and criminal
liability. The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal Anti-Kickback and False Claims Act, which apply to items and services
reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor.

Health
Insurance
Portability
and
Accountability
Act
of
1996:
The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, created several
new federal crimes, including healthcare fraud and false statements relating to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully
executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including private third-party payors. The false statements statute prohibits
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with
the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.

In addition, HIPAA and its implementing regulations established uniform standards for certain covered entities, which are healthcare providers, health plans
and healthcare clearinghouses, as well as their business associates, governing the conduct of specified electronic healthcare transactions and protecting the security
and privacy of protected health information. HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH created
four new tiers of civil monetary penalties and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce
the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. Additionally, certain states have adopted comparable
privacy and security laws and regulations, some of which may be more stringent than HIPAA and HITECH.

EU
Data
Protection
Directive:
We are subject to laws and regulations in non-U.S. countries covering data privacy and the protection of health-related and
other personal information. EU member states and other jurisdictions have adopted data protection laws and regulations, which impose significant compliance
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obligations. For example, the EU Data Protection Directive, as implemented into national laws by the EU member states, imposes strict obligations and restrictions
on the ability to collect, analyze and transfer personal data, including health data from clinical trials and adverse event reporting. Failing to comply with these laws
could lead to government enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, and adversely impact our operating results. A proposal for an EU Data
Protection Regulation, intended to replace the current EU Data Protection Directive, is currently under consideration and, if adopted, could lead to additional and
stricter requirements and penalties in the event of non-compliance.

The
Federal
Physician
Payments
Sunshine
Act:
The federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and
medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with certain exceptions, to report annually
to CMS information related to “payments or other transfers of value” made to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and
chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, and to report annually to CMS certain ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members. Certain states also require device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare
providers or marketing expenditures, require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable
compliance guidance promulgated by the U.S. federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential
referral sources.

Healthcare
Reform:
In March 2010 the Affordable Care Act (the ACA) was signed into law, which has the potential to substantially change healthcare
financing and delivery by both governmental and private insurers, and significantly impact the medical device industry. The Affordable Care Act impacted existing
government healthcare programs and resulted in the development of new programs. The Affordable Care Act’s provisions of importance include, but are not
limited to, a deductible 2.3% excise tax on any entity that manufactures or imports medical devices offered for sale in the United States, with limited exceptions,
effective January 1, 2013. Subsequently, this excise tax was eliminated effective January 1, 2016.

The full impact of the ACA, as well as other laws and reform measures that may be proposed and adopted in the future, remains uncertain, but may continue
the downward pressure on medical device pricing, especially under the Medicare program, and may also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business operations.

The
Foreign
Corrupt
Practices
Act:
The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, or
authorizing payment or offering of anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act
or decision of the foreign entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities
are listed in the United States to comply with accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all
transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international
operations.

The
UK
Bribery
Act.
The UK Bribery Act prohibits giving, offering, or promising bribes to any person, including non-UK government officials and private
persons, as well as requesting, agreeing to receive, or accepting bribes from any person. In addition, under the UK Bribery Act, companies which carry on a
business or part of a business in the UK, as we do, may be held liable for bribes given, offered or promised to any person, including non-UK government officials
and private persons, by employees and persons associated with the company in order to obtain or retain business or a business advantage for the company. Liability
is strict, with no element of a corrupt state of mind, but a defense of having in place adequate procedures designed to prevent bribery is available. Furthermore,
under the UK Bribery Act there is no exception for facilitation payments.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2015, we had 308 employees globally. We believe the success of our business will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain
qualified personnel. We are committed to developing our employees and providing them with opportunities to contribute to our growth and success. Our employees
are not subject to a collective bargaining agreement, and we believe that we have good relations with our employees.

About Us

We were incorporated in Minnesota in March 2006 and reincorporated in Delaware in October 2006. We completed the initial public offering of our
common stock in November 2014. Our common stock is currently listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NVRO.” From our initial public
offering until December 31, 2015, we were an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, and therefore we were subject
to reduced public company reporting requirements. Based on our market capitalization as of June 30, 2015, however, our status as an emerging growth company
ceased on December 31, 2015 and we are required to comply with, among other requirements, the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, effective with
this Annual Report. Our principal executive offices are located at 1800 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, California 94065. Our telephone number is (650) 251-
0005. Our website address is www.nevro.com. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K or any other filings we make with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC.

Available Information

We make available on or through our website certain reports and amendments to those reports that we file with, or furnish to, the SEC in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). These include our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We make this
information available on or through our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the information with, or furnish it to,
the SEC. This information is also available by writing to us at the address on the cover of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Copies of this information may be
obtained at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be
obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding our filings, at www.sec.gov. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on
Form 10-K or any other filings we make with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our
business
involves
significant
risks,
some
of
which
are
described
below.
You
should
carefully
consider
these
risks,
as
well
as
the
other
information
in
this
Annual
Report
on
Form
10-K,
including
our
financial
statements
and
the
related
notes
and
“Management’s
Discussion
and
Analysis
of
Financial
Condition
and
Results
of
Operations.”
The
occurrence
of
any
of
the
events
or
developments
described
below
could
harm
our
business,
financial
condition,
results
of
operations
and
growth
prospects.
Additional
risks
and
uncertainties
not
presently
known
to
us
or
that
we
currently
deem
immaterial
may
also
impair
our
business.

Risks Related to our Business

We have a history of significant losses. If we do not achieve and sustain profitability, our financial condition could suffer.

We have experienced significant net losses, and we expect to continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future. In May 2015, the FDA approved our PMA to
market Senza in the United States and we commenced commercial sales in the United States in mid-2015. We expect to continue to incur losses as we build our
U.S. commercial sales force and continue our commercial launch in the United States, as well as continue to investigate the use of our HF10 therapy to treat other
chronic pain conditions. We incurred net losses of $67.4 million and $30.7 million the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and as of
December 31, 2015 our accumulated deficit was $189.4 million. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have, for the
foreseeable future, an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. If our revenue grows more slowly than we anticipate, or if our operating
expenses are higher than we expect, we may not be able to achieve profitability and our financial condition could suffer. Even if we achieve profitability in the
future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods.

We are substantially dependent on market acceptance in the United States for our HF10 therapy, and the failure of our HF10 therapy to gain such market
acceptance would negatively impact our business.

Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to the development and commercialization of Senza and HF10 therapy for the treatment
of chronic leg and back pain. Prior to 2015, our revenue was derived nearly entirely from sales of Senza in Europe and Australia. Although we received approval
for our PMA in May 2015, we are still in the early stages of our commercialization efforts in the United States, with only two full quarters of commercial sales thus
far. We have incurred and will in the future incur significant costs, including costs to continue to build our sales force, in order to sustain our commercial sales in
the United States. If we are unable to achieve significant market acceptance in the United States, our results of operations will be adversely affected as the United
States is expected to be the principal market for this product. Because we do not have any other products currently in development, if we are unsuccessful in
commercializing Senza or are unable to market Senza as a result of a quality problem, failure to maintain or obtain additional regulatory approvals, unexpected or
serious complications or other unforeseen negative effects related to our HF10 therapy or the other factors discussed in these risk factors, we would lose our only
source of revenue, and our business will be materially adversely affected.

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive and time consuming, and ultimately
unsuccessful, and could result in the diversion of significant resources, thereby hindering our ability to effectively commercialize our existing or future
products. If we are unable to obtain, maintain, protect, and enforce our intellectual property, our business will be negatively affected.

The market for medical devices is subject to rapid technological change and frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. It is
possible that our patents or licenses may not withstand challenges made by others or protect our rights adequately.
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Our success depends in large part on our ability to secure effective patent protection for our products and processes in the United States and internationally.
We have filed and intend to continue to file patent applications for various aspects of our technology and trademark applications to protect our brand and business.
We seek to obtain and maintain patents and other intellectual property rights to restrict the ability of others to market products or services that misappropriate our
technology and/or infringe our intellectual property to compete with our products.

However, we face the risks that:
 

 
•  We may fail to secure necessary patents, potentially permitting competitors to market competing products and make, use or sell products that are

substantially the same as ours without incurring the sizeable development costs that we have incurred, which would adversely affect our ability to
compete.

 

 •  Patents may not issue from any of our currently pending or future patent applications.
 

 •  Our already-granted patents and any future patents may not survive legal challenges to their scope, validity or enforceability, or provide significant
protection for us, and they may be re-examined or invalidated, and/or may be found to be unenforceable or not cover competing products.

 

 

•  Even if our patents are determined by a court to be valid and enforceable, they may not be drafted or interpreted broadly enough to prevent others from
marketing products and services similar to ours. Similarly, others may simply design around our patents. For example, third parties may be able to
make systems or devices that are similar to ours but that are not covered by the claims of our patents. Third parties may assert that we or our licensors
were not the first to make the inventions covered by our issued patents or pending patent applications. The claims of our issued patents or patent
applications when issued may not cover our commercial technology or the future products and services that we develop. We may not have freedom to
operate unimpeded by the patent rights of others. Third parties may have dominating, blocking or other patents relevant to our technology of which we
are not aware. In addition, because patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months
after the filing of certain priority documents (or, in some cases, are not published until they issue as patents) and because publications in the scientific
literature often lag behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for our technology or our contemplated
technology. Any such patent applications may have priority over our patent applications or issued patents, which could further require us to obtain
rights to issued patents covering such technologies. If another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to ours, depending on
when the timing of the filing date falls under certain patent laws, we may have to participate in a priority contest (such as an interference proceeding)
declared by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO), to determine priority of invention in the United States. There may be prior public
disclosures that could invalidate our inventions or parts of our inventions of which we are not aware. Further, we may not develop additional
proprietary technologies and, even if we do, they may not be patentable.

 

 

•  Patent law can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important principles remain unresolved. In the United
States and in many foreign jurisdictions, policies regarding the breadth of claims allowed in patents can be inconsistent. The U.S. Supreme Court and
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made, and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws of the United States are
interpreted. Similarly, foreign courts have made, and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws in their respective jurisdictions are
interpreted. We cannot predict future changes in the interpretation of patent laws or changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by U.S. and
foreign legislative bodies. Those changes may materially affect our patents or patent applications, our ability to obtain patents or the patents and patent
applications of our licensors. Future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations.
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•  Monitoring unauthorized uses of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. From time to time, we seek to analyze our competitors’ products and
services, and may in the future seek to enforce our patents or other proprietary rights against potential infringement. However, the steps we have taken
to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property. We may not be able to detect
unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Our competitors may also independently develop similar
technology. Any inability to meaningfully protect our intellectual property could result in competitors offering products that incorporate our product
features, which could reduce demand for our products. In addition, we may need to defend our patents from third-party challenges, including
interferences, derivation proceedings, re-examination proceedings, post-grant review, inter
partes
review, third-party submissions, oppositions, nullity
actions, or other patent proceedings. We may also need to initiate infringement claims or litigation. Adverse proceedings such as litigation or
challenges to the validity of our patents can be expensive, time consuming and may divert the efforts of our technical and managerial personnel, which
could in turn harm our business, whether or not we receive a determination favorable to us. In addition, in an infringement or other adverse
proceeding, a court may decide that the patent we seek to enforce is invalid or unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the
technology at issue on the grounds that the patent in question does not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation or
proceeding could place one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated, interpreted narrowly or found unenforceable. Some of our competitors
may be able to devote significantly more resources to intellectual property litigation, and may have significantly broader patent portfolios to assert
against us, if we assert our rights against them. Further, because of the substantial discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation,
there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be disclosed or otherwise compromised during litigation.

 

 
•  We may not be able to accurately estimate or control our future operating expenses in relation to obtaining, enforcing and/or defending intellectual

property, which could lead to cash shortfalls. Our operating expenses may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of the costs of preparing,
filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other patent related costs, including litigation costs and the results of such litigation.

 

 

•  We may also be forced to enter into cross-license agreements with competitors in order to manufacture, use, sell, import and/or export products or
services that are covered by our competitors’ intellectual property rights. If we need to use our intellectual property to enter such cross-license
agreements, it may compromise the value of our intellectual property due to the fact that our competitors may be able to manufacture, use, sell, import
and/or export our patented technology.

For additional information regarding risks related to our intellectual property, see “Risks Related to Intellectual Property.”

We must demonstrate to physicians the merits of our HF10 therapy compared to those of our competitors.

Physicians play a significant role in determining the course of a patient’s treatment and the type of product that will be used to treat a patient. As a result, our
success depends, in large part, on effectively marketing our HF10 therapy to physicians. In order for us to sell Senza, we must successfully demonstrate to
physicians the merits of our HF10 therapy compared to our competitors’ SCS systems for use in treating patients with chronic leg and back pain. Acceptance of our
HF10 therapy depends on educating physicians as to the distinctive characteristics, perceived benefits, safety, ease of use and cost-effectiveness of Senza as
compared to our competitors’ SCS systems, and communicating to physicians the proper application of our HF10 therapy. If we are not successful in convincing
physicians of the merits of our HF10 therapy or educating them on the use of Senza, they may not use Senza and we may be unable to increase our sales, sustain
our growth or achieve profitability.
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In addition, we believe support of our products by physicians is essential for market acceptance and adoption. If we do not receive support from physicians
or long-term data does not show the benefits of using our HF10 therapy, physicians may not use Senza. In such circumstances, our results of operations would be
materially adversely affected.

If we fail to develop and retain an effective direct sales force in the United States, our business could suffer.

In order to successfully commercialize Senza in the United States, we must build a substantial direct sales force. As we continue our commercial launch and
increase our marketing efforts, we will need to retain, develop and grow the number of direct sales personnel that we employ. We intend to continue to make a
significant investment in recruiting and training sales representatives and clinical representatives as we continue our commercial launch in the United States. There
is significant competition for sales personnel experienced in relevant medical device sales. Once hired, the training process is lengthy because it requires significant
education for new sales representatives to achieve the level of clinical competency with our products expected by physicians. Upon completion of the training, our
sales representatives typically require lead time in the field to grow their network of accounts and achieve the productivity levels we expect them to reach in any
individual territory. Furthermore, the use of our products often requires or benefits from direct support from us. If we are unable to attract, motivate, develop and
retain a sufficient number of qualified sales personnel, or if our sales representatives do not achieve the productivity levels we expect them to reach, our revenue
will not grow at the rate we expect and our financial performance will suffer. Also, to the extent we hire personnel from our competitors, our new sales
representatives will usually be subject to restrictive covenants with their former employers, including non-competition, non-solicitation and/or confidentiality
provisions. As a result, we may have to wait until applicable non-competition provisions have expired before deploying such personnel in restricted territories or
incur costs to relocate personnel outside of such territories. We and certain of our new sales representatives have been, continue to be and may in the future be
subject to allegations that these new hires have violated the non-competition clauses, been improperly solicited or divulged to us proprietary or other confidential
information of their former employers. Any of these risks may adversely affect our business.

Our competitors are large, well-established companies with substantially greater resources than us and have a long history of competing in the SCS market.

Our current and potential competitors are publicly traded, or are divisions of publicly traded, major medical device companies that have substantially greater
financial, technical, sales and marketing resources than we do. The existing global SCS market was estimated to be approximately $1.7 billion in 2015, with the
United States comprising approximately 80% of the market. Given the size of the existing and potential market in the United States, we expect that as we continue
our commercial launch in the United States our competitors will take aggressive action to protect their current market position. For example, in May 2015, a unit of
Boston Scientific Neuromodulation Corporation, one of our principal competitors, filed with the USPTO two petitions for inter
partes
review challenging the
validity of our U.S. Patent No. 8,359,102 (the “‘102 patent”), which the Patent Trial and Appeals Board (PTAB) at the USPTO denied in November 2015. We will
face significant competition in establishing our market share in the United States and may encounter unforeseen obstacles and competitive challenges in the United
States.

In addition, we face a particular challenge overcoming the long-standing practices by some physicians of using the neuromodulation products of our larger,
more established competitors. Physicians who have completed many successful implants using the neuromodulation products made by these competitors may be
reluctant to try new products from a source with which they are less familiar. If these physicians do not try and subsequently adopt our product, then our revenue
growth will slow or decline.

Further, a number of our competitors are currently conducting, or we anticipate will be conducting, clinical trials to demonstrate the results of their SCS
systems. The results of these trials may be equivalent to, or potentially better than, the results of our pivotal U.S. trial.
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If we fail to maintain U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval to market and sell Senza, or if such approval is impacted in the future, we will be unable to
commercially distribute and market Senza in the United States. Further, we may not be able to obtain required regulatory approvals to expand the indications
for which we may market and sell Senza.

The FDA requires manufacturers of medical devices to maintain regulatory approval by filing timely reports and complying with numerous regulations.
There can be no assurance that approval will be maintained. For example:
 

 •  we may not be able to maintain to the FDA’s satisfaction that our product is safe and effective for its intended use;
 

 •  we may fail to comply with the guidelines required by FDA and other agencies to maintain our PMA approval; and
 

 •  the manufacturing processes and facilities we and our vendors use may not meet applicable requirements to maintain our PMA approval.

In addition, although the FDA has approved our PMA for Senza, we may suffer from product liability or other issues that impact our ability to continue to
market the Senza system in the United States.

Failing to maintain FDA approval could result in unexpected and significant costs for us and consume management’s time and other resources. The FDA
could ask us to improve or augment manufacturing processes, collect and provide data on the quality or safety of our product, or issue us a warning letter relating to
matters that may result in removal of our product from the market. Additionally, we will be required to obtain FDA approval prior to making any modification to
the device, and the FDA may revoke the approval or impose other restrictions if post-market data demonstrates safety issues or lack of effectiveness. If we are
unable to obtain and maintain the necessary regulatory approvals, our financial condition may be adversely affected, and our ability to grow domestically and
internationally would likely be limited.

We are currently conducting clinical trials for Senza to explore the potential for HF10 therapy to treat other chronic pain indications, including chronic
intractable neck and upper extremity pain and refractory chronic migraine. We will likely need to conduct additional clinical studies in the future to support
approval for these new indications. Senza may not be approved for these additional indications.

If we are unable to educate physicians on the safe and effective use of our HF10 therapy and Senza, we may be unable to achieve our expected growth.

An important part of our sales process includes the education of physicians on the safe and effective use of our HF10 therapy and Senza, particularly because
Senza and high frequency neuromodulation treatment is relatively new as compared to existing low frequency traditional SCS systems. In addition, we will need to
spend substantial time educating physicians using traditional SCS systems on the value of our HF10 therapy as demonstrated by our pivotal U.S. clinical data.
Physicians typically need to perform several procedures to become comfortable using HF10 therapy and Senza. If a physician experiences difficulties during an
initial procedure or otherwise, that physician may be less likely to continue to use our product or to recommend it to other physicians. It is critical to the success of
our commercialization efforts that we educate physicians on the proper use of Senza, and provide them with adequate product support during clinical procedures. It
is important for our growth that these physicians advocate for the benefits of our products in the broader marketplace. If physicians misuse or ineffectively use our
products, it could result in unsatisfactory patient outcomes, patient injuries, negative publicity or lawsuits against us, any of which could have an adverse effect on
our business.
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If our competitors are better able to develop and market neuromodulation products that are safer, more effective, less costly, easier to use or otherwise more
attractive than Senza, our business will be adversely impacted.

The medical device industry is highly competitive and subject to technological change. Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to establish a
competitive position in the neuromodulation market by securing broad market acceptance of our HF10 therapy and Senza for the treatment of chronic pain
conditions. Any product we develop that achieves regulatory clearance or approval, including Senza, will have to compete for market acceptance and market share.
We believe that the primary competitive factors in the neuromodulation market are demonstrated clinical effectiveness, product safety, reliability and durability,
ease of use, product support and service, minimal side effects and salesforce experience and relationships. We face significant competition in the United States and
internationally, which we believe will continue to intensify as we grow our presence in the U.S. market. For example, our major competitors, Medtronic plc, Boston
Scientific Corporation and St. Jude Medical, Inc., each has approved neuromodulation systems in at least the United States, Europe, and Australia and have been
established for several years. In addition, we understand that St. Jude Medical is currently working to gain FDA approval for a SCS system that offers an alternate
waveform, and in February 2016, the company gained approval for a neuromodulation system that stimulates the dorsal root ganglion for treatment of focal pain
and complex regional pain syndrome. Additionally, Boston Scientific has commenced a randomized clinical trial of high-frequency SCS therapy. In addition to
these major competitors, we may also face competition from other emerging competitors and smaller companies with active neuromodulation system development
programs that may emerge in the future. Many of the companies developing or marketing competing products enjoy several advantages over us, including:
 

 •  more experienced sales forces;
 

 •  greater name recognition;
 

 •  more established sales and marketing programs and distribution networks;
 

 •  earlier regulatory approval;
 

 •  long established relationships with physicians and hospitals;
 

 •  significant patent portfolios, including issued U.S. and foreign patents and pending patent applications, as well as the resources to enforce patents
against us or any of our third-party suppliers and distributors;

 

 •  the ability to acquire and integrate our competitors and/or their technology;
 

 •  demonstrated ability to develop product enhancements and new product offerings;
 

 •  established history of product reliability, safety and durability;
 

 •  the ability to offer rebates or bundle multiple product offerings to offer greater discounts or incentives;
 

 •  greater financial and human resources for product development, sales, and marketing; and
 

 •  greater experience in and resources for conducting research and development, clinical studies, manufacturing, preparing regulatory submissions,
obtaining regulatory clearance or approval for products and marketing approved products.

Our competitors may develop and patent processes or products earlier than us, obtain patents that may apply to us at any time, obtain regulatory clearance or
approvals for competing products more rapidly than us or develop more effective or less expensive products or technologies that render our technology or products
obsolete or less competitive. We also face fierce competition in recruiting and retaining qualified sales, scientific, and management personnel, establishing clinical
trial sites and enrolling patients in clinical studies. If our competitors are more successful than us in these matters, our business may be harmed.
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We only recently began commercializing Senza in the EEA and Australia, and only recently initiated commercial sales in the United States, and we may never
achieve market acceptance.

Senza has been CE marked since 2010, enabling us to commercialize it throughout the EEA, which is comprised of the 28 Member States of the European
Union (EU), plus Norway, Liechtenstein and Iceland. It was also approved by the Australia Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA), in 2011. In May 2015, the
FDA approved our PMA to market Senza in the United States, and as such, we have only recently commenced commercialization in the United States and have
completed only two full fiscal quarters of sales. As a result, we have a limited history of commercializing our product generally and limited history of selling Senza
in the United States. We also have limited experience engaging in commercial activities and limited established relationships with physicians and hospitals as well
as third-party suppliers on whom we depend for the manufacture of our product. As an organization, we have only recently commercially launched our first product
in the United States and commenced sales representative training. A commercial launch and training program of this size is a significant undertaking that requires
substantial financial and managerial resources. We may be unable to gain broader market acceptance in the countries in which we have already begun to
commercialize Senza, including the United States, for a number of reasons, including:
 

 •  established competitors with strong relationships with customers, including physicians, hospitals and third-party suppliers;
 

 •  limitations in our ability to demonstrate differentiation and advantages of our product compared to competing products and the relative safety, efficacy
and ease of use of our product;

 

 •  the limited size of our sales force and the learning curve required to gain experience selling our product;
 

 •  the inability to obtain sufficient supply of the components for Senza or secure second-source suppliers if our main suppliers are unable to fulfill our
orders;

 

 •  insufficient financial or other resources to support our commercialization efforts necessary to reach profitability; and
 

 •  the introduction and market acceptance of new, more effective or less expensive competing products and technologies.

Moreover, physicians and hospitals may not perceive the benefits of our products and may be unwilling to change from the SCS devices they are currently
using. Communicating the benefits of Senza and HF10 therapy to these physicians and hospitals requires a significant commitment by our marketing team and sales
organization. Physicians and hospitals may be slow to change their practices because of perceived risks arising from the use of new products. Physicians may not
recommend or use Senza until there is more long-term commercial experience to convince them to alter their existing treatment methods, or until they receive
additional recommendations from other physicians that our product is effective. We cannot predict when, if ever, physicians and hospitals may adopt use of our
product. If we are unable to educate physicians and hospitals about the advantages of our HF10 therapy and Senza, do not achieve significantly greater market
acceptance of our product, do not gain momentum in our sales activities, or fail to significantly grow our market share, we will not be able to grow our revenue and
our business and financial condition will be adversely affected.

Our past results in the international markets in which we commercialize Senza should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance in those
markets or in the United States.

Our revenue from international markets has increased from $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $45.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015 on the basis of our sales of Senza in Europe and Australia; however, we do not expect to continue this rate of revenue growth in these
international markets. Due to our current penetration in these markets, we expect to grow less rapidly in the future than we have in the past in these markets.
Furthermore, given our recent commercialization in the United States, we have not developed a history of payment and therefore we may encounter difficulties in
collecting receivables related to our U.S. sales.
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In addition, the characteristics of these markets differ significantly from the U.S. market, including as a result of differences in payor systems, competitive
dynamics, market size and patient treatment regimens. As a result of the differences in these markets, you should not compare our financial results in the
international market to any potential future results in the U.S. market nor should you rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance.

Our success depends on physicians’ use of our HF10 therapy to treat chronic back pain.

Our success is dependent on physicians’ acceptance and use of our HF10 therapy to treat chronic back pain. We believe a significant limitation of current
neuromodulation systems is the limited evidence supporting efficacy of traditional SCS for treating chronic back pain. Senza utilizes high-frequency stimulation
technology capable of delivering waveform of up to 10,000 Hz for spinal cord stimulation that has been shown to be effective in the treatment of both leg and back
pain. However, we may face challenges convincing physicians, many of whom have extensive experience with competitors’ SCS products and established
relationships with other companies, to appreciate the benefits of HF10 therapy and, in particular, its ability to treat back pain as well as leg pain, and adopt it for
treatment of their patients. If Senza is unable to gain acceptance by physicians for the treatment of back pain, our potential to expand the existing neuromodulation
market will be significantly limited and our revenue potential will be negatively impacted.

Traditional SCS has been available for over 40 years, while Senza has only been commercially available since 2010 and, as a result, we have a limited track
record compared to our competitors.

Traditional SCS has been commercialized since 1967, while we only began commercializing Senza internationally in 2010. Because we have a limited
commercial track record compared to our competitors and Senza has been implanted in patients for less than five years, physicians may be slower to adopt or
recommend Senza. Further, while we believe our international commercial experience and recent U.S. experience, and our European two-year study and U.S.
pivotal study support the safety and effectiveness of our HF10 therapy, future studies or patient experience over a longer period of time may indicate that treatment
with our HF10 therapy does not achieve non-inferiority status as compared to treatment with competitive products or that our HF10 therapy causes unexpected or
serious complications or other unforeseen negative effects. Such results would likely slow the adoption of Senza and significantly reduce our sales, which would
harm our business and adversely affect our results of operations.

Furthermore, if patients with traditional SCS implantations were to experience unexpected or serious complications or other unforeseen effects, the market
for Senza may be adversely affected, even if such effects are not applicable to Senza.

Our international operations subject us to certain operating risks, which could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

Sales of Senza outside the United States have represented a substantial portion of our revenue from Senza sales. In 2010, we began selling Senza in the EEA
through distributors and, in August 2011, we began selling Senza in Australia through our own sales force and distributors. As of December 31, 2015, we sell
Senza directly in Austria, Switzerland, United Kingdom, Sweden, Australia, Belgium, Luxembourg, Norway and Germany and through distributors and agents
located in the Netherlands, Spain, Italy, Slovakia, Turkey, Kuwait and Ireland. The sale and shipment of Senza across international borders, as well as the purchase
of components from international sources, subject us to U.S. and foreign governmental trade, import and export and customs regulations and laws.

Compliance with these regulations and laws is costly and exposes us to penalties for non-compliance. Other laws and regulations that can significantly
impact us include various anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, as well as export controls laws. Any failure to comply with
applicable legal and
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regulatory obligations could impact us in a variety of ways that include, but are not limited to, significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties, including
imprisonment of individuals, fines and penalties, denial of export privileges, seizure of shipments, restrictions on certain business activities and exclusion or
debarment from government contracting.

Our international operations expose us and our distributors to risks inherent in operating in foreign jurisdictions. These risks include:
 

 •  difficulties in enforcing our intellectual property rights and in defending against third-party threats and intellectual property enforcement actions
against us, our distributors, or any of our third-party suppliers;

 

 •  reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
 

 •  pricing pressure that we may experience internationally;
 

 •  foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 

 •  a shortage of high-quality sales people and distributors;
 

 •  third-party reimbursement policies that may require some of the patients who receive our products to directly absorb medical costs or that may
necessitate the reduction of the selling prices of Senza;

 

 •  relative disadvantages compared to competitors with established business and customer relationships;
 

 •  the imposition of additional U.S. and foreign governmental controls or regulations;
 

 •  economic instability;
 

 •  changes in duties and tariffs, license obligations and other non-tariff barriers to trade;
 

 •  the imposition of restrictions on the activities of foreign agents, representatives and distributors;
 

 •  scrutiny of foreign tax authorities that could result in significant fines, penalties and additional taxes being imposed on us;
 

 •  laws and business practices favoring local companies;
 

 •  longer payment cycles;
 

 •  difficulties in maintaining consistency with our internal guidelines;
 

 •  difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;
 

 •  the imposition of costly and lengthy new export licensing requirements;
 

 •  the imposition of U.S. or international sanctions against a country, company, person or entity with whom we do business that would restrict or prohibit
continued business with the sanctioned country, company, person or entity; and

 

 •  the imposition of new trade restrictions.

If we experience any of these risks, our sales in non-U.S. jurisdictions may be harmed and our results of operations would suffer.

We are dependent upon third-party manufacturers and suppliers, in some cases sole- or single-source suppliers, making us vulnerable to supply shortages and
problems and price fluctuations, which could harm our business.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers who manufacture and assemble certain components of Senza.
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Our suppliers may encounter problems during manufacturing for a variety of reasons, including, for example, failure to follow specific protocols and
procedures, failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, equipment malfunction and environmental factors, failure to properly conduct their
own business affairs, and infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, any of which could delay or impede their ability to meet our requirements. Our
reliance on these third-party suppliers also subjects us to other risks that could harm our business, including:
 

 •  third parties may threaten or enforce their intellectual property rights against our suppliers, which may cause disruptions or delays in shipment, or may
force our suppliers to cease conducting business with us;

 

 •  we may not be able to obtain adequate supplies from one or more vendors in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms;
 

 •  we are not a major customer of many of our suppliers, and these suppliers may therefore give other customers’ needs higher priority than ours;
 

 •  our suppliers, especially new suppliers, may make errors in manufacturing that could negatively affect the efficacy or safety of Senza, impacting our
ability to maintain our PMA approval, or cause delays in shipment, impacting our ability to meet demand in the United States or international markets;

 

 •  we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers;
 

 •  switching components or suppliers may require product redesign and possibly submission to FDA, EEA Notified Bodies, or other foreign regulatory
bodies, which could significantly impede or delay our commercial activities;

 

 •  one or more of our sole- or single-source suppliers may be unwilling or unable to supply components of Senza, or may supply products that do not
meet our product requirements;

 

 •  other customers may use fair or unfair negotiation tactics and/or pressures to impede our use of the supplier;
 

 •  the occurrence of a fire, natural disaster or other catastrophe impacting one or more of our suppliers may affect their ability to deliver products to us in
a timely manner; and

 

 •  our suppliers may encounter financial or other business hardships unrelated to our demand, which could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders and
meet our requirements.

We may not be able to quickly establish additional or alternative suppliers for commercialization in the United States if necessary, in part because we may
need to undertake additional activities to qualify such suppliers as required by the regulatory approval process. Any interruption or delay in obtaining products from
our third-party suppliers, or our inability to obtain products from qualified alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner, could impair our ability to meet
the demand of our customers and cause them to switch to competing products. Given our reliance on certain single-source suppliers, we are especially susceptible
to supply shortages because we do not have alternate suppliers currently available.

We rely upon third-party, single-source, and in certain cases sole-source, suppliers for many of the components and materials used in Senza, and for critical
manufacturing and packaging services, and the loss of any of these suppliers could harm our business.

A number of the critical components used in Senza are supplied to us from single-source, or in certain cases sole-source, suppliers, including leads and lead
extenders, neurostimulator components, telemetry modules, batteries, and packaging services. Our ability to supply Senza commercially depends, in part, on our
ability to obtain a supply of these components that has been manufactured in accordance with regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for
commercialization and clinical testing. We have not entered into manufacturing, supply or quality agreements with all of our single-source and sole-source
suppliers, some of which supply
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components critical to our products. We are not certain that our single-source or sole-source suppliers will be able to meet our demand for their products and
services, either because of the nature of our agreements with those suppliers, or our limited experience with those suppliers, or due to our relative importance as a
customer to those suppliers. It may be difficult for us to assess their ability to timely meet our demand in the future based on past performance. While our suppliers
have generally met our demand for their products on a timely basis in the past, they may subordinate our needs in the future to their other customers.

Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for the components or processes used in Senza, if required, may not be accomplished quickly. If we are able
to find a replacement supplier, such replacement supplier would need to be qualified and may require additional regulatory authority approval, which could result in
further delay. While we seek to maintain adequate inventory of the single-source or sole-source components and materials used in our products, any interruption or
delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain components or materials from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner,
could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to cancel orders.

If our third-party suppliers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities of materials, or the level of services we require, on a timely basis and at
commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to find one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost in
substantially equivalent volumes and quality and on a timely basis, the continued commercialization of Senza would be impeded, delayed, limited or prevented,
which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We may not be able to establish or strengthen our brand.

We believe that establishing and strengthening the Nevro and Senza brands is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of HF10 therapy, particularly
because of the highly competitive nature of the market for SCS products. Promoting and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing
efforts and our ability to provide physicians with a reliable product for successful treatment of chronic leg and back pain. Additionally, we believe the quality and
reliability of our product is critical to building physician support of this new therapy in the U.S. and any negative publicity regarding the quality or reliability of
Senza could significantly damage our reputation in the market. Further, given the established nature of our competitors, and our very recent commercial launch in
the United States, it is likely that our future marketing efforts will require us to incur significant additional expenses. These brand promotion activities may not
yield increased sales and, even if they do, any sales increases may not offset the expenses we incur to promote our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and
maintain our brand, or if we incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brand, our HF10 therapy may not be accepted by
physicians, which would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our ability to achieve profitability will depend, in part, on our ability to reduce the per unit manufacturing cost of Senza.

Currently, the gross profit generated from the sale of Senza is not sufficient to cover our operating expenses. To achieve our operating and strategic goals, we
will, among other things, need to reduce the per-unit manufacturing cost of Senza. This cannot be achieved without increasing the volume of components that we
purchase in order to take advantage of volume-based pricing discounts, improve manufacturing efficiency or increase our volume to leverage manufacturing
overhead costs. If we are unable to improve manufacturing efficiency and reduce manufacturing overhead costs per unit, our ability to achieve profitability will be
severely constrained. Any increase in manufacturing volumes is dependent upon a corresponding increase in sales. The occurrence of one or more factors that
negatively impact the manufacturing or sales of Senza or reduce our manufacturing efficiency may prevent us from achieving our desired reduction in
manufacturing costs, which would negatively affect our operating results and may prevent us from attaining profitability.
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If third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement for the use of Senza, our revenue will be negatively impacted.

Our success in marketing Senza depends and will depend in large part on whether U.S. and international government health administrative authorities,
private health insurers and other organizations adequately cover and reimburse customers for the cost of our products.

In the United States, we expect to derive nearly all our sales from sales of Senza to hospitals and outpatient surgery centers who typically bill various third-
party payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, private commercial insurance companies, health maintenance organizations and other healthcare-related organizations,
to cover all or a portion of the costs and fees associated with Senza and bill patients for any applicable deductibles or co-payments. Access to adequate coverage
and reimbursement for SCS procedures using Senza (and our other products in development) by third-party payors is essential to the acceptance of our products by
our customers.

SCS procedures using Senza are adequately described by existing CPT, HCPCS II and ICD-10-CM codes for the implantation of spinal cord stimulators and
related leads performed in various sites of care. In the United States, CMS has approved a transitional pass-through payment for High Frequency Stimulation under
the Medicare hospital outpatient prospective payment system effective beginning January 1, 2016. This pass-through payment for HF10 therapy will be in addition
to the established reimbursement for spinal cord stimulation devices. We believe that some of our target customers may be unwilling to adopt Senza over more
established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives already available or subsequently become available. Further, any decline in the amount payors are willing to
reimburse our customers for SCS procedures using Senza could make it difficult for new customers to adopt Senza and could create additional pricing pressure for
us, which could adversely affect our ability to invest in and grow our business.

Third-party payors, whether foreign or domestic, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling
healthcare costs. In addition, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for medical device products and services exists among third-
party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for medical device products and services can differ significantly from payor to payor. In addition, payors
continually review new technologies for possible coverage and can, without notice, deny coverage for these new products and procedures. As a result, the coverage
determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each
payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained, or maintained if obtained.

Reimbursement systems in international markets vary significantly by country and by region within some countries, and reimbursement approvals must be
obtained on a country-by-country basis. In many international markets, a product must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that
country. Further, many international markets have government-managed healthcare systems that control reimbursement for new devices and procedures. For
example, the governmental healthcare system in France has not yet approved reimbursement of Senza. In most markets there are private insurance systems as well
as government-managed systems. If sufficient coverage and reimbursement is not available for our current or future products, in either the United States or
internationally, the demand for our products and our revenues will be adversely affected.

If we fail to properly manage our anticipated growth, our business could suffer.

We have been growing rapidly in recent periods and have a relatively short history of operating as a commercial company. As an organization, we have only
recently commercially launched our product in the United States and commenced a sales representative training program. A commercial launch and training
program of this size is a significant undertaking that requires substantial financial and managerial resources. We intend to continue to grow and may experience
periods of rapid growth and expansion, which could place a
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significant additional strain on our limited personnel, information technology systems and other resources. In particular, the hiring of our direct sales force in the
United States requires significant management, financial and other supporting resources. Any failure by us to manage our growth effectively could have an adverse
effect on our ability to achieve our development and commercialization goals.

To achieve our revenue goals, we must successfully increase manufacturing output to meet expected customer demand. In the future, we may experience
difficulties with manufacturing yields, quality control, component supply and shortages of qualified personnel, among other problems. These problems could result
in delays in product availability and increases in expenses. Any such delay or increased expense could adversely affect our ability to generate our revenue.

Future growth will also impose significant added responsibilities on management, including the need to identify, recruit, train and integrate additional
employees. In addition, rapid and significant growth will place a strain on our administrative and operational infrastructure.

In order to manage our operations and growth we will need to continue to improve our operational and management controls, reporting and information
technology systems and financial internal control procedures. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, it may be difficult for us to execute our business
strategy and our operating results and business could suffer.

If we fail to receive access to hospital facilities, our sales may decrease.

In the United States, in order for physicians to use Senza, the hospital facilities where these physicians treat patients typically require us to enter into
purchasing contracts. The process of securing a satisfactory contract can be lengthy and time-consuming and require extensive negotiations and management time.
In the EU, from time to time certain institutions require us to engage in a contract bidding process in the event that such institutions are considering making
purchase commitments that exceed specified cost thresholds, which vary by jurisdiction. These processes are only open at certain periods of time, and we may not
be successful in the bidding process. If we do not receive access to hospital facilities via these contracting processes or otherwise, or if we are unable to secure
contracts or tender successful bids, our sales may stagnate or decrease and our operating results may be harmed. Furthermore, we may expend significant effort in
these time-consuming processes and still may not obtain a purchase contract from such hospitals.

We rely in part on a small group of third-party distributors to effectively distribute our products outside the United States.

We depend in part on medical device distributors for marketing and sales of our products in certain territories in Europe. We depend on these distributors’
efforts to market our products, yet we are unable to control their efforts completely. These distributors typically sell a variety of other, non-competing products that
may limit the resources they dedicate to selling Senza. In addition, we are unable to ensure that our distributors comply with all applicable laws regarding the sale
of our products. If our distributors fail to effectively market and sell Senza, in full compliance with applicable laws, our operating results and business may suffer.
Recruiting and retaining qualified third-party distributors and training them in our technology and product offering requires significant time and resources. To
develop and expand our distribution, we must continue to scale and improve our processes and procedures that support our distributors. Further, if our relationship
with a successful distributor terminates, we may be unable to replace that distributor without disruption to our business. If we fail to maintain positive relationships
with our distributors, fail to develop new relationships with other distributors, including in new markets, fail to manage, train or incentivize existing distributors
effectively, or fail to provide distributors with competitive products on attractive terms, or if these distributors are not successful in their sales efforts, our revenue
may decrease and our operating results, reputation and business may be harmed.
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We may face product liability claims that could result in costly litigation and significant liabilities.

Manufacturing and marketing of Senza, and clinical testing of our HF10 therapy, may expose us to product liability and other tort claims. Although we have,
and intend to maintain, liability insurance, the coverage limits of our insurance policies may not be adequate and one or more successful claims brought against us
may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court recently declined to hear an appeal where the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ruled that the 1976 Medical Device Amendments to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act did not preempt state
laws in a product liability case involving a medical device company. If other courts in the United States adopt similar rulings, we may be subject to increased
litigation risk in connection with our products. Product liability claims could negatively affect our reputation, continued product sales, and our ability to obtain and
maintain regulatory approval for our products.

If clinical studies for future indications do not produce results necessary to support regulatory clearance or approval in the United States or elsewhere, we will
be unable to commercialize our products for these indications.

We are currently conducting clinical trials for Senza to explore the potential for HF10 therapy to treat other chronic pain indications, including chronic
intractable neck and upper extremity pain and refractory chronic migraine. We will likely need to conduct additional clinical studies in the future to support
approval for these new indications. Clinical testing can take many years, is expensive and carries uncertain outcomes. The initiation and completion of any of these
studies may be prevented, delayed, or halted for numerous reasons, including, but not limited to, the following:
 

 •  the FDA, institutional review boards (IRBs), Ethics Committees, EU Competent Authorities or other regulatory authorities do not approve a clinical
study protocol, force us to modify a previously approved protocol, or place a clinical study on hold;

 

 •  patients do not enroll in, or enroll at a lower rate than we expect, or do not complete a clinical study;
 

 •  patients or investigators do not comply with study protocols;
 

 •  patients do not return for post-treatment follow-up at the expected rate;
 

 •  patients experience serious or unexpected adverse side effects for a variety of reasons that may or may not be related to our products such as the
advanced stage of co-morbidities that may exist at the time of treatment, causing a clinical study to be put on hold;

 

 •  sites participating in an ongoing clinical study withdraw, requiring us to engage new sites;
 

 •  difficulties or delays associated with establishing additional clinical sites;
 

 
•  third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in our clinical studies, do not perform the clinical studies on the anticipated schedule, or perform

in a manner inconsistent with the investigator agreement, clinical study protocol, good clinical practices, other FDA, IRB or Ethics Committee
requirements, and EEA Member State or other foreign regulations governing clinical trials;

 

 •  third-party organizations do not perform data collection and analysis in a timely or accurate manner;
 

 •  regulatory inspections of our clinical studies or manufacturing facilities require us to undertake corrective action or suspend or terminate our clinical
studies;

 

 •  changes in federal, state, or foreign governmental statutes, regulations or policies;
 

 •  interim results are inconclusive or unfavorable as to immediate and long-term safety or efficacy;
 

 •  the study design is inadequate to demonstrate safety and efficacy; or
 

 •  the statistical endpoints are not met.
 

39



Table of Contents

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of the testing. Our clinical studies may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may
require us, to conduct additional clinical or non-clinical studies in addition to those we have planned. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of any of our devices would prevent receipt of regulatory clearance or approval and, ultimately, the commercialization of that device or indication for
use.

We could also encounter delays if the FDA concludes that our financial relationships with investigators results in a perceived or actual conflict of interest
that may have affected the interpretation of a study, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site or the utility of the clinical trial itself.
Principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive cash compensation and/or stock
options in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation to or ownership interest by the clinical investigator carrying out the
study result in perceived or actual conflicts of interest, or if the FDA concludes that the financial relationship may have affected interpretation of the study, the
integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized, which could result
in the FDA refusing to accept the data as support for our future applications. Any such delay or rejection could prevent us from commercializing any of our
products currently in development.

Even if our products are approved in the United States, Australia and the EEA, comparable regulatory authorities of additional foreign countries must also
approve the manufacturing and marketing of our products in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, Australia or the EEA, including additional preclinical studies or clinical
trials. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

If we fail to retain our key executives or recruit and hire new employees, our operations and financial results may be adversely effected while we attract other
highly qualified personnel.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to retain our executive officers and other key employees and recruit and hire new employees.
All of our executive officers and other employees are at-will employees, and therefore may terminate employment with us at any time with no advance notice. The
replacement of any of our key personnel likely would involve significant time and costs, may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business
objectives and may harm our business.

In addition, many of our employees have become or will soon become vested in a substantial amount of stock or number of stock options. Our employees
may be more likely to leave us if the shares they own or the shares underlying their vested options have significantly appreciated in value relative to the original
purchase prices of the shares or the exercise prices of the options, or if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly below the market price of
our common stock. Further, our employees’ ability to exercise those options and sell their stock in a public market may result in a higher than normal turnover rate.

Our future success also depends on our ability to retain executive officers and other key employees and attract new key employees. Many executive officers
and other employees in the neuromodulation and medical device industry are subject to strict non-competition, non-solicitation and/or confidentiality agreements
with their employers, including our main competitors Medtronic plc, Boston Scientific Corporation and St. Jude Medical, Inc. Our competitors may allege breaches
of and seek to enforce such non-competition, non-solicitation, and/or confidentiality agreements or initiate litigation based on such agreements. Such litigation,
whether or not meritorious, may impede our ability to attract or use executive officers and other key employees who have been employed by our competitors and
may result in intellectual property claims against us. Boston Scientific Corporation, for example, initiated a lawsuit in 2014 against one of our employees alleging
that the employee cannot work for us without inevitably disclosing Boston Scientific’s proprietary information. Although we were
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not a party to this lawsuit, and it has since been resolved, it impeded our ability to utilize this employee. It is likely that we will experience similar aggressive
tactics by our competitors as they seek to protect their market position, particularly now that we have entered the U.S. market.

Our credit facility contains restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

In October 2014, we entered into a term loan agreement with Capital Royalty Partners and certain of its affiliates, which we refer to as our credit facility. In
December 2014, we drew down $20.0 million under this facility. Our credit facility also contains various covenants that limit our ability to engage in specified
types of transactions. Subject to limited exceptions, these covenants limit our ability to, among other things:
 

 •  sell, lease, transfer, exclusively license or dispose of our assets;
 

 •  create, incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness or liens;
 

 •  make restricted payments, including paying dividends on, repurchasing or making distributions with respect to our capital stock;
 

 •  make specified investments (including loans and advances);
 

 •  merge, consolidate or liquidate; and
 

 •  enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.

In addition, our credit facility contains certain financial covenants, including certain minimum pre-specified liquidity and revenue requirements. In
particular, we are required to maintain a minimum of $5.0 million of cash and certain cash equivalents, and we must achieve minimum revenue of $25.0 million in
2015, $30.0 million in 2016, $40.0 million in 2017, $50.0 million in 2018 and $70.0 million in 2019. The covenants in our credit facility may limit our ability to
take certain actions and, in the event that we breach one or more covenants, our lenders may choose to declare an event of default and require that we immediately
repay all amounts outstanding and foreclose on the collateral granted to it to collateralize such indebtedness, which includes our intellectual property. As of
December 31, 2015, we did not elect to enter into any additional drawdowns under the facility and the option to do so has expired.

Failure to protect our information technology infrastructure against cyber-based attacks, network security breaches, service interruptions, or data corruption
could significantly disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business and operating results.

We rely on information technology and telephone networks and systems, including the Internet, to process and transmit sensitive electronic information and
to manage or support a variety of business processes and activities, including sales, billing, marketing, procurement and supply chain, manufacturing, and
distribution. We use enterprise information technology systems to record, process, and summarize financial information and results of operations for internal
reporting purposes and to comply with regulatory, financial reporting, legal, and tax requirements. Our information technology systems, some of which are
managed by third-parties, may be susceptible to damage, disruptions, or shutdowns due to computer viruses, attacks by computer hackers, failures during the
process of upgrading or replacing software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures, telecommunication failures, user errors, or
catastrophic events. Despite the precautionary measures we have taken to prevent breakdowns in our information technology and telephone systems, if our systems
suffer severe damage, disruption, or shutdown and we are unable to effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, our business and operating results may suffer.
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Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to defend ourselves against intellectual property disputes, which could be expensive and time consuming, and
ultimately unsuccessful, and could result in the diversion of significant resources, and hinder our ability to commercialize our existing or future products.

Our success depends in part on not infringing the patents or violating the other proprietary rights of others. Intellectual property disputes can be costly to
defend and may cause our business, operating results and financial condition to suffer. Significant litigation regarding patent rights occurs in the medical industry.
Whether merited or not, it is possible that U.S. and foreign patents and pending patent applications controlled by third parties may be alleged to cover our products.
We may also face allegations that our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property rights of their former employers or other third parties. Our
competitors in both the United States and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial investments in patent portfolios
and competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained or may in the future apply for and obtain, patents that will prevent, limit, or otherwise interfere with
our ability to make, use, sell, and/or export our products. For example, our major competitors, Medtronic plc, Boston Scientific Corporation and St. Jude Medical,
Inc., each have significant patent portfolios covering systems, sub-systems, methods, and manufacturing processes. These competitors may have one or more
patents for which they can threaten and/or initiate patent infringement actions against us and/or any of our third-party suppliers. Our ability to defend ourselves
and/or our third-party suppliers may be limited by our financial and human resources, the availability of reasonable defenses, and the ultimate acceptance of our
defenses by the courts or juries. Further, if such patents are successfully asserted against us, this may result in an adverse impact on our business, including
injunctions, damages, and/or attorneys’ fees. From time to time and in the ordinary course of business, we may develop non-infringement and/or invalidity
positions with respect to third-party patents, which may or not be ultimately adjudicated as successful by a judge or jury if such patents were asserted against us.

We may receive in the future, particularly as a public company, communications from patent holders, including non-practicing entities, alleging infringement
of patents or other intellectual property rights or misappropriation of trade secrets, or offering licenses to such intellectual property. Any claims that we assert
against perceived infringers could also provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their intellectual property rights. At any
given time, we may be involved as either a plaintiff or a defendant in a number of patent infringement actions, the outcomes of which may not be known for
prolonged periods of time. We may also become involved in disputes with others regarding the ownership of intellectual property rights. For example, we jointly
develop intellectual property with certain parties, and disagreements may therefore arise as to the ownership of the intellectual property developed pursuant to these
relationships. If we are unable to resolve these disputes, we could lose valuable intellectual property rights.

The large number of patents, the rapid rate of new patent applications and issuances, the complexities of the technologies involved and the uncertainty of
litigation significantly increase the risks related to any patent litigation. Any potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one or more of the
following:
 

 •  stop selling, making, using, or exporting products that use the disputed intellectual property;
 

 •  obtain a license from the intellectual property owner to continue selling, making, exporting, or using products, which license may require substantial
royalty payments and may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;

 

 •  incur significant legal expenses;
 

 •  pay substantial damages or royalties to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing, potentially including treble
damages if the court finds that the infringement was willful;

 

 •  if a license is available from a third-party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees or grant cross-licenses to intellectual property rights
for our products and services;
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 •  pay the attorney fees and costs of litigation to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing;
 

 •  find non-infringing substitute products, which could be costly and create significant delay due to the need for FDA regulatory clearance;
 

 •  find alternative supplies for infringing products or processes, which could be costly and create significant delay due to the need for FDA regulatory
clearance; and/or

 

 •  redesign those products or processes that infringe any third-party intellectual property, which could be costly, disruptive, and/or infeasible.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business with respect to intellectual property. For more
information, see Part I, Item 3 of this Report. Even if resolved in our favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us
to incur significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be
negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Finally, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any
litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations.

If any of the foregoing occurs, we may have to withdraw existing products from the market or may be unable to commercialize one or more of our products,
all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Any litigation or claim against us, even those
without merit, may cause us to incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management from our
core business and harm our reputation. Further, as the number of participants in the neuromodulation industry grows, the possibility of intellectual property
infringement claims against us increases.

In addition, we may indemnify our customers, suppliers and international distributors against claims relating to the infringement of the intellectual property
rights of third parties relating to our products, methods, and/or manufacturing processes. Third parties may assert infringement claims against our customers,
suppliers, or distributors. These claims may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on behalf of our customers, suppliers or distributors,
regardless of the merits of these claims. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our customers, suppliers, or distributors or
may be required to obtain licenses for the products they use. If we cannot obtain all necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, our customers may be
forced to stop using our products, or our suppliers may be forced to stop providing us with products.

Similarly, interference or derivation proceedings provoked by third parties or brought by the USPTO or any foreign patent authority may be necessary to
determine the priority of inventions or other matters of inventorship with respect to our patents or patent applications. An unfavorable outcome in these or any other
such proceedings could require us to cease using the related technology or to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing party. Our business could be harmed
if the prevailing party does not offer us a license on commercially reasonable terms, if any license is offered at all.

We may also become involved in other proceedings, such as re-examination or opposition proceedings, before the USPTO or its foreign counterparts relating
to our intellectual property or the intellectual property rights of others. Two of our competitors, Boston Scientific Corporation and Medtronic plc, have filed
oppositions in the European Union with respect to certain of our patents. In addition, on May 14, 2015, Boston Scientific Neuromodulation Corporation filed with
the USPTO two petitions for inter
partes
review challenging the validity of the ‘102 patent. In November 2015, the Patent Trial and Appeals Board at the USPTO
denied
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instituting an inter
partes
review of the ‘102 patent. In its written decision, the PTAB determined that Boston Scientific failed to establish a reasonable likelihood
of showing that any of the challenged claims of the ‘102 patent was invalid, and that therefore both petitions were denied. However, defending our position in
proceedings such as these will require management’s time and attention, as well as financial costs. Given the competitive environment in which we operate, we
expect additional challenges to our intellectual property portfolio as we commence commercialization of Senza in the United States. An unfavorable outcome in
these or any other such proceedings could cause us to lose valuable intellectual property rights and/or be unable to enforce our intellectual property rights.

Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our existing and future products.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or
defense of our issued patents. On September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (the Leahy-Smith Act), was signed into law. The Leahy-Smith Act
includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art, may
affect patent litigation, and switched the United States patent system from a “first-to-invent” system to a “first-to-file” system. Under a “first-to-file” system,
assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to the patent on an invention
regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. The USPTO recently developed new regulations and procedures to govern administration of
the Leahy- Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, in particular, the first-to-file provisions, only
became effective on March 16, 2013. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. The Leahy-
Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense
of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

In addition, patent reform legislation may pass in the future that could lead to additional uncertainties and increased costs surrounding the prosecution,
enforcement and defense of our patents and applications. Furthermore, the U.S. Supreme Court and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit have made,
and will likely continue to make, changes in how the patent laws of the United States are interpreted. Similarly, foreign courts have made, and will likely continue
to make, changes in how the patent laws in their respective jurisdictions are interpreted. We cannot predict future changes in the interpretation of patent laws or
changes to patent laws that might be enacted into law by United States and foreign legislative bodies. Those changes may materially affect our patents or patent
applications and our ability to obtain additional patent protection in the future.

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements
imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment, and other
similar provisions during the patent application process. In addition, periodic maintenance fees on issued patents often must be paid to the USPTO and foreign
patent agencies over the lifetime of the patent. While an unintentional lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance
with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or
complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include,
but are not limited to, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal
documents. If we fail to
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maintain the patents and patent applications covering our products or procedures, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing products that are the
same as or similar to our own, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our products in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. The requirements for
patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly developing countries, and the breadth of patent claims allowed can be inconsistent. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent
third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not
obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories in which we have patent protection
that may not be sufficient to terminate infringing activities.

We do not have patent rights in certain foreign countries in which a market may exist. Moreover, in foreign jurisdictions where we do have patent rights,
proceedings to enforce such rights could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at
risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. Additionally, such proceedings could provoke third parties to
assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially
meaningful. Thus, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing and selling in foreign countries products that are the same as or similar to our products,
and our competitive position in the international market would be harmed.

If we fail to comply with our obligations under our existing intellectual property license with the Mayo Foundation or under future license agreements, we
could lose license rights that are important to our business.

We are currently a party to a license agreement (the Mayo License), with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (the Mayo Foundation).
Our Mayo License imposes, and we expect that future license agreements will impose, various diligence, royalty, insurance and other obligations on us. For
example, the Mayo License requires that we continue to use commercially reasonable efforts to commercialize products incorporating the technology we license
and to satisfy other specified obligations, including the payment of royalties on the sales of such products. If we fail to comply with our obligations under the Mayo
License or future license agreements, the counterparty to the license may have the right to terminate such license. We do not believe a termination of the Mayo
License would have an adverse impact on our ability to commercialize Senza due, in part, to our proprietary patent rights; however, if the Mayo Foundation
terminates the license, we may be subject to disputes with them that could be costly and time-consuming. Further, if any future licenses we enter into are
terminated, we may need to negotiate new or reinstated licenses with less favorable terms, and we could lose access to critical technology related to our existing or
future products.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our competitors or are
in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors.

We could in the future be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed alleged trade secrets or other
proprietary information of former employers or competitors. For more information, see Part I, Item 3 of this Report. In addition, six of our nine executive officers
and key employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, have worked for our major competitors (or companies acquired by these competitors), which include
Boston Scientific Corporation, Medtronic plc and St. Jude Medical, Inc. Although we have procedures in place that seek to prevent our employees and consultants
from using the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may in the future be subject to claims that
we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-
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solicitation agreement, or that we or these individuals have, inadvertently or otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information
of a former employer or competitor. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. If our defense to those claims fails, in addition to paying monetary damages, a
court could prohibit us from using technologies or features that are essential to our products, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived
from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. An inability to incorporate technologies or features that are important or essential
to our products would have a material adverse effect on our business, and may prevent us from selling our products or from practicing our processes. In addition,
we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire employees
or contract with independent sales representatives. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our
products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business
may be adversely affected.

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared generic or determined to be infringing on
other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights in these trademarks and trade names, which we need in order to build name recognition with potential
partners or customers in our markets of interest. In addition, third parties have registered trademarks similar and identical to our trademarks in foreign jurisdictions,
and may in the future file for registration of such trademarks. If they succeed in registering or developing common law rights in such trademarks, and if we were
not successful in challenging such third-party rights, we may not be able to use these trademarks to market our products in those countries. In any case, if we are
unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely
affected.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position may be harmed.

In addition to patent and trademark protection, we also rely on trade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information,
to maintain our competitive position. We seek to protect our trade secrets, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who
have access to them, such as our consultants and vendors, or our former or current employees. We also enter into confidentiality and invention or patent assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants. Despite these efforts, however, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our trade secrets and
other unpatented or unregistered proprietary information, and once disclosed, we are likely to lose trade secret protection. Monitoring unauthorized uses and
disclosures of our intellectual property is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property will be effective. In
addition, we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for any such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret
is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or
unwilling to enforce trade secret protection.

Further, our competitors may independently develop knowledge, methods and know-how similar, equivalent, or superior to our proprietary technology.
Competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development efforts, willfully
infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology, or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of our intellectual
property rights. In addition, our key employees, consultants, suppliers or other individuals with access to our proprietary technology and know-how may
incorporate that technology and know-how into projects and inventions developed independently or with third parties. As a result, disputes may arise regarding the
ownership of the proprietary rights to such technology or know-how, and any
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such dispute may not be resolved in our favor. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have
no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information to compete with us and our competitive position could
be adversely affected. If our intellectual property is not adequately protected so as to protect our market against competitors’ products and methods, our competitive
position could be adversely affected, as could our business.

Risks Related to our Financial and Operating Results

We may be required to obtain additional funds in the future, and these funds may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception, and we anticipate our expenses will increase as we continue to build a
commercial sales force in the United States, investigate the use of our HF10 therapy for the treatment of other chronic pain conditions, continue to grow our
business and continue to operate as a public company. In particular, we believe that we will continue to expend substantial resources for the foreseeable future on
the commercialization of Senza in the United States, including sales and marketing efforts and sales representative training, seeking additional foreign regulatory
approvals, the preparation and submission of regulatory filings and the clinical development of any other product candidates we may choose to pursue. These
expenditures will include costs associated with manufacturing and supply as well as marketing and selling Senza in the United States and elsewhere, as well as any
other future products approved for sale, research and development, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approvals.

We believe that our growth will depend, in part, on our ability to fund our commercialization efforts, particularly in the United States, and our efforts to
develop Senza and our HF10 therapy for the treatment of additional chronic pain indications and develop technology complementary to our current product. Our
existing resources may not allow us to conduct all of the activities that we believe would be beneficial for our future growth. As a result, we may need to seek funds
in the future. If we are unable to raise funds on favorable terms, or at all, we may not be able to support our commercialization efforts or increase our research and
development activities and the growth of our business may be negatively impacted. As a result, we may be unable to compete effectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2015, our net cash used in operating activities was $100.4 million as compared to $31.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. As of
December 31, 2015, our working capital was $246.2 million. Our cash requirements in the future may be significantly different from our current estimates and
depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  the costs of commercialization activities related to commercializing Senza in the United States and elsewhere, including product sales, marketing,
manufacturing and distribution;

 

 •  the scope and timing of our investment in our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force in connection with commercialization of Senza in the
United States;

 

 •  the R&D activities we intend to undertake in order to expand the chronic pain indications and product enhancements that we intend to pursue;
 

 •  the degree and rate of market acceptance of Senza in the United States and elsewhere;
 

 •  changes or fluctuations in our inventory supply needs and forecasts of our supply needs;
 

 •  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
 

 •  the amount and timing of any draws we make under our credit facility;
 

 •  our need to implement additional infrastructure and internal systems;
 

 •  our ability to hire additional personnel to support our operations as a public company; and
 

 •  the emergence of competing technologies or other adverse market developments.
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To finance these activities, we may seek funds through borrowings or through additional rounds of financing, including private or public equity or debt
offerings and collaborative arrangements with corporate partners. We may be unable to raise funds on favorable terms, or at all.

The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in additional dilution to our stockholders. If we borrow additional funds or issue debt
securities, these securities could have rights superior to holders of our common stock and could contain covenants that will restrict our operations. We might have
to obtain funds through arrangements with collaborative partners or others that may require us to relinquish rights to our technologies, product candidates, or
products that we otherwise would not relinquish. If we do not obtain additional resources, our ability to capitalize on business opportunities will be limited, we may
be unable to compete effectively and the growth of our business will be harmed.

Our operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, which may negatively impact our stock price in the future.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to, among others, the following reasons:
 

 •  physician and payor acceptance of Senza and our HF10 therapy;
 

 •  the timing, expense and results of our commercialization efforts in the United States and elsewhere, research and development activities, clinical trials
and regulatory approvals;

 

 •  fluctuations in our expenses associated with inventory buildup or write-downs from analyzing our inventory for obsolesce or conformity with our
product requirements;

 

 •  difficulties in collecting receivables related to our sales in the United States;
 

 •  fluctuations in expenses as a result of expanding our commercial operations and operating as a public company;
 

 •  the introduction of new products and technologies by our competitors;
 

 •  the productivity of our sales representatives;
 

 •  supplier, manufacturing or quality problems with our products;
 

 •  the timing of stocking orders from our distributors;
 

 •  changes in our pricing policies or in the pricing policies of our competitors or suppliers; and
 

 •  changes in coverage amounts or government and third-party payors’ reimbursement policies.

Because of these and other factors, it is likely that in some future period our operating results will not meet investor expectations or those of public market
analysts.

Any unanticipated change in revenues or operating results is likely to cause our stock price to fluctuate. New information may cause investors and analysts to
revalue our business, which could cause a decline in our stock price.

We are required to maintain high levels of inventory, which could consume a significant amount of our resources, reduce our cash flows and lead to inventory
impairment charges.

As a result of the need to maintain substantial levels of inventory, we are subject to the risk of inventory obsolescence and expiration, which may lead to
inventory impairment charges. Our products consist of a substantial number of individual components. In order to market and sell Senza effectively, we often must
maintain high levels of inventory. In particular, as we continue our commercial launch of Senza in the United
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States, we intend to substantially increase our levels of inventory in order to meet our estimated demand and, as a result, incur significant expenditures associated
with such increases in our inventory. The manufacturing process requires lengthy lead times, during which components of our products may become obsolete, and
we may over- or under-estimate the amount needed of a given component, in which case we may expend extra resources or be constrained in the amount of end
product that we can produce. As compared to direct manufacturers, our dependence on third-party manufacturers exposes us to greater lead times increasing our
risk of inventory obsolesce comparatively. Furthermore, our products have a limited shelf life due to sterilization requirements, and part or all of a given product or
component may expire and its value would become impaired and we would be required to record an impairment charge. In addition, we have also experienced
inventory write-downs as a result of inventory that did not meet our product requirements. If our estimates of required inventory are too high, we may be exposed
to further inventory obsolesce risk. In the event that a substantial portion of our inventory becomes obsolete or expires, or in the event we experience a supply chain
imbalance as described above, it could have a material adverse effect on our earnings and cash flows due to the resulting costs associated with the inventory
impairment charges and costs required to replace such inventory. During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded total inventory write-down charges of
$2.8 million.

The seasonality of our business creates variance in our quarterly revenue, which makes it difficult to compare or forecast our financial results.

Our revenue fluctuates on a seasonal basis, which affects the comparability of our results between periods. For example, in certain years we have historically
experienced lower sales in the summer months and around the holidays, primarily due to the buying patterns and implant volumes of our distributors, hospitals and
clinics. These seasonal variations are difficult to predict accurately, may vary amongst different markets, and at times may be entirely unpredictable, which
introduce additional risk into our business as we rely upon forecasts of customer demand to build inventory in advance of anticipated sales. In addition, we believe
our limited history commercializing our products has, in part, made our seasonal patterns more difficult to discern, making it more difficult to predict future
seasonal patterns.

We are subject to risks associated with currency fluctuations, and changes in foreign currency exchange rates could impact our results of operations.

A significant portion of our business is located outside the United States and, as a result, we generate revenue and incur expenses denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, a majority of which is denominated in Euros and Australian Dollars. In the first half of 2015, and all of 2014 and 2013, nearly all of our
total revenue was denominated in foreign currencies. As a result, changes in the exchange rates between such foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar could
materially impact our reported results of operations and distort period to period comparisons. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates also impact the
reporting of our receivables and payables in non-U.S. currencies. As a result of such foreign currency fluctuations, it could be more difficult to detect underlying
trends in our business and results of operations. In addition, to the extent that fluctuations in currency exchange rates cause our results of operations to differ from
our expectations or the expectations of our investors, the trading price of our common stock could be adversely affected.

In the future, we may engage in exchange rate hedging activities in an effort to mitigate the impact of exchange rate fluctuations. If our hedging activities are
not effective, changes in currency exchange rates may have a more significant impact on our results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating losses and tax credits to offset future taxable income and taxes may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to
limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and other tax attributes, such as research and development tax credits to
offset future taxable income and taxes.
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As a result of our June 2015 underwritten public offering, we have experienced a Section 382 “ownership change.” We currently believe that this “ownership
change” will not inhibit our ability to utilize our NOLs. However, as a result of any potential future “ownership changes,” or if we do not generate sufficient
taxable income in the future, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs and tax credits, even if we achieve profitability. If we are limited in our
ability to use our NOLs and tax credits in future years in which we have taxable income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our NOLs and
tax credits. This could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. As of December 31, 2015, we had federal and state NOLs of $187.8 million and
$73.2 million, respectively, available to offset future taxable income due to prior period losses, which if not utilized will begin to expire in 2026 for federal
purposes and 2016 for state purposes.

Risks Related to Regulation of our Industry

Senza is subject to extensive governmental regulation, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements could cause our business to suffer.

The medical device industry is regulated extensively by governmental authorities, principally the FDA and corresponding state and foreign regulatory
agencies and authorities, such as the EU legislative bodies and the EEA Member State Competent Authorities. The FDA and other U.S., EEA and foreign
governmental agencies and authorities regulate and oversee, among other things, with respect to medical devices:
 

 •  design, development and manufacturing;
 

 •  testing, labeling, content and language of instructions for use and storage;
 

 •  clinical trials;
 

 •  product safety;
 

 •  marketing, sales and distribution;
 

 •  pre-market regulatory clearance and approval;
 

 •  conformity assessment procedures;
 

 •  record-keeping procedures;
 

 •  advertising and promotion;
 

 •  recalls and other field safety corrective actions;
 

 •  post-market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries and malfunctions that, if they were to recur, could lead to death or serious
injury;

 

 •  post-market studies; and
 

 •  product import and export.

The laws and regulations to which we are subject are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time. Legislative or regulatory changes could
result in restrictions on our ability to carry on or expand our operations, higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales.

Our failure to comply with U.S. federal and state regulations or EEA or other foreign regulations applicable in the countries where we operate could lead to
the issuance of warning letters or untitled letters, the imposition of injunctions, suspensions or loss of regulatory clearance or approvals, product recalls, termination
of distribution, product seizures or civil penalties. In the most extreme cases, criminal sanctions or closure of our manufacturing facilities are possible. If any of
these risks materialize, our business would be adversely affected.
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Our business is subject to extensive governmental regulation that could make it more expensive and time consuming for us to expand the potential indications
for which Senza is approved or introduce new or improved products.

Our products must comply with regulatory requirements imposed by the FDA in the United States and similar agencies in foreign jurisdictions. These
requirements involve lengthy and detailed laboratory and clinical testing procedures, sampling activities, extensive agency review processes, and other costly and
time-consuming procedures. It often takes several years to satisfy these requirements, depending on the complexity and novelty of the product. We also are subject
to numerous additional licensing and regulatory requirements relating to safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire hazard
control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. Some of the most important requirements we must comply with include:
 

 •  the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the FDA’s implementing regulations (Title 21 CFR);
 

 •  European Union CE mark requirements;
 

 •  Medical Device Quality Management System Requirements (ISO 13485:2003);
 

 •  Occupational Safety and Health Administration requirements; and
 

 •  California Department of Health Services requirements.

Government regulation may impede our ability to conduct clinical studies and to manufacture and sell our existing and future products. Government
regulation also could delay our marketing of new products for a considerable period of time and impose costly procedures on our activities. Foreign regulatory
agencies may not approve Senza and any of our future products on a timely basis, if at all. Any delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, such approvals could
negatively impact our marketing of any future products and reduce our product revenues.

Our products remain subject to strict regulatory controls on manufacturing, marketing and use. We may be forced to modify or recall a product after release
in response to regulatory action or unanticipated difficulties encountered in general use. Any such action could have a material effect on the reputation of our
products and on our business and financial position.

Further, regulations may change, and any additional regulation could limit or restrict our ability to use any of our technologies, which could harm our
business. We could also be subject to new international, federal, state or local regulations that could affect our research and development programs and harm our
business in unforeseen ways. If this happens, we may have to incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations, which will harm our results of
operations.

In September 2012, the European Commission published proposals for the revision of the EU regulatory framework for medical devices. The proposal would
replace the Medical Devices Directive and the Active Implantable Medical Devices Directive with a new regulation (the Medical Devices Regulation). Unlike the
Directives that must be implemented into national laws, the Regulation would be directly applicable in all EEA Member States and so is intended to eliminate
current national differences in regulation of medical devices.

In October 2013, the European Parliament approved a package of reforms to the European Commission’s proposals. Under the revised proposals, only
designated “special notified bodies” would be entitled to conduct conformity assessments of high-risk devices, such as active implantable devices. These special
notified bodies will need to notify the European Commission when they receive an application for a conformity assessment for a new high-risk device. The
European Commission will then forward the notification and the accompanying documents on the device to the Medical Devices Coordination Group (MDCG), (a
new, yet to be created, body chaired by the European Commission, and representatives of Member States) for an opinion. These new procedures may result in the
re-assessment of our existing medical devices, or a longer or more burdensome assessment of our new products.
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If adopted, the Medical Devices Regulation is expected to enter into force in 2016 and become applicable three years thereafter. In its current form it would,
among other things, also impose additional reporting requirements on manufacturers of high risk medical devices, impose an obligation on manufacturers to
appoint a “qualified person” responsible for regulatory compliance, and provide for more strict clinical evidence requirements. While we believe that the Medical
Device Regulation, if adopted in its current form, would likely require reassessment of Senza, the actual impact on Senza remains uncertain unless and until the
adoption of a final Medical Device Regulation.

Senza is subject to extensive governmental regulation in foreign jurisdictions, such as Europe, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements could
cause our business to suffer.

In the EEA, Senza must comply with the Essential Requirements laid down in Annex I to the EU Active Implantable Medical Devices Directive. Compliance
with these requirements is a prerequisite to be able to affix the CE mark to Senza, without which Senza cannot be marketed or sold in the EEA. To demonstrate
compliance with the Essential Requirements and obtain the right to affix the CE Mark to Senza, we must undergo a conformity assessment procedure, which varies
according to the type of medical device and its classification. Except for low risk medical devices (Class I with no measuring function and which are not sterile),
where the manufacturer can issue an EC Declaration of Conformity based on a self-assessment of the conformity of its products with the Essential Requirements, a
conformity assessment procedure requires the intervention of a Notified Body, which is an organization designated by a competent authority of an EEA country to
conduct conformity assessments. Depending on the relevant conformity assessment procedure, the Notified Body would audit and examine the Technical File and
the quality system for the manufacture, design and final inspection of our devices. The Notified Body issues a CE Certificate of Conformity following successful
completion of a conformity assessment procedure conducted in relation to the medical device and its manufacturer and their conformity with the Essential
Requirements. This Certificate entitles the manufacturer to affix the CE mark to its medical devices after having prepared and signed a related EC Declaration of
Conformity.

As a general rule, demonstration of conformity of medical devices and their manufacturers with the Essential Requirements must be based, among other
things, on the evaluation of clinical data supporting the safety and performance of the products during normal conditions of use. Specifically, a manufacturer must
demonstrate that the device achieves its intended performance during normal conditions of use and that the known and foreseeable risks, and any adverse events,
are minimized and acceptable when weighed against the benefits of its intended performance, and that any claims made about the performance and safety of the
device (e.g., product labeling and instructions for use) are supported by suitable evidence. This assessment must be based on clinical data, which can be obtained
from (1) clinical studies conducted on the devices being assessed, (2) scientific literature from similar devices whose equivalence with the assessed device can be
demonstrated or (3) both clinical studies and scientific literature. With respect to active implantable medical devices or Class III devices, the manufacturer must
conduct clinical studies to obtain the required clinical data, unless reliance on existing clinical data from equivalent devices can be justified. The conduct of clinical
studies in the EEA is governed by detailed regulatory obligations. These may include the requirement of prior authorization by the competent authorities of the
country in which the study takes place and the requirement to obtain a positive opinion from a competent Ethics Committee. This process can be expensive and
time-consuming.

In order to continue to sell Senza in Europe, we must maintain our CE Mark and continue to comply with certain EU Directives. Our failure to continue to
comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, including those administered by authorities of the EEA countries, could result in enforcement actions
against us, including refusal, suspension or withdrawal of our CE Certificates of Conformity by the BSI, which could impair our ability to market products in the
EEA in the future.
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The misuse or off-label use of our product may harm our image in the marketplace, result in injuries that lead to product liability suits, which could be costly to
our business, or result in costly investigations and sanctions from the FDA and other regulatory bodies if we are deemed to have engaged in off-label
promotion.

Senza has been approved for marketing in the United States, CE Marked in the EEA and approved by the TGA in Australia for specific treatments and
anatomies. We may only promote or market the Senza SCS system for its specifically approved indications as described on the approved label. We train our
marketing and sales force against promoting our products for uses outside of the approved indications for use, known as “off-label uses.” We cannot, however,
prevent a physician from using our product off-label, when in the physician’s independent professional medical judgment he or she deems the use of the product in
the non-approved indication as appropriate. There may be increased risk of injury to patients if physicians attempt to use our product off-label. Furthermore, the use
of our product for indications other than those approved by the applicable regulatory body may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm our
reputation in the marketplace among physicians and patients.

Physicians may also misuse our product or use improper techniques if they are not adequately trained, potentially leading to injury and an increased risk of
product liability. If our product is misused or used with improper technique, we may become subject to costly litigation by our customers or their patients. Product
liability claims could divert management’s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend, and result in sizable damage awards against us that may not be
covered by insurance. In addition, if the FDA determines that our promotional materials, training or physician support activities constitute promotion of an off-label
use, it could request that we modify our training, promotional materials or physician support activities or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including
the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine or criminal penalties. It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign
enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our business activities to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant
penalties, including, but not limited to, criminal, civil and/or administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government
healthcare programs, and the curtailment of our operations. Further, regulators or legislators may also enhance the enforcement of, and attempt to curtail, any off-
label use by physicians of medical devices in the future. Any of these events could significantly harm our business and results of operations and cause our stock
price to decline.

Further, the advertising and promotion of our products is subject to EEA Member States laws implementing Directive 93/42/EEC concerning Medical
Devices (the EU Medical Devices Directive), Directive 2006/114/EC concerning misleading and comparative advertising, and Directive 2005/29/EC on unfair
commercial practices, as well as other EEA Member State legislation governing the advertising and promotion of medical devices. EEA Member State legislation
may also restrict or impose limitations on our ability to advertise our products directly to the general public. In addition, voluntary EU and national Codes of
Conduct provide guidelines on the advertising and promotion of our products to the general public and may impose limitations on our promotional activities with
healthcare professionals.

Senza may in the future be subject to notifications, recalls, or voluntary market withdrawals that could harm our reputation, business and financial results.

The FDA, EEA Competent Authorities and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in
the event of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture that could affect patient safety. In the case of the FDA, the authority to require a recall must
be based on an FDA finding that there is a reasonable probability that the device would cause serious adverse health consequences or death. Manufacturers may,
under their own initiative, conduct a product notification or recall to inform physicians of changes to instructions for use (IFU), or if a deficiency in a device is
found or suspected. A government-mandated recall or voluntary recall by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of component failures, manufacturing
errors, design or labeling defects or other issues. Recalls, which include
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certain notifications and corrections as well as removals, of Senza could divert managerial and financial resources and could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition, harm our reputation with customers, and reduce our ability to achieve expected revenue.

In addition, the manufacturing of our products is subject to extensive post-market regulation by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities, and any failure
by us or our contract manufacturers or suppliers to comply with regulatory requirements could result in recalls, facility closures, and other penalties. We and our
suppliers and contract manufacturers are subject to the FDA’s Quality System Regulation (QSR), and comparable foreign regulations which govern the methods
used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, manufacture, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage, shipping, and servicing of
medical devices. These regulations are enforced through periodic inspections of manufacturing facilities. Any manufacturing issues at our or our suppliers’ or
contract manufacturers’ facilities, including failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in warning or untitled letters, manufacturing restrictions,
voluntary or mandatory recalls or corrections, fines, withdrawals of regulatory clearances or approvals, product seizures, injunctions, or the imposition of civil or
criminal penalties, which would adversely affect our business results and prospects.

We are required to report certain malfunctions, deaths, and serious injuries associated with our products, which can result in voluntary corrective actions or
agency enforcement actions.

Under the FDA medical device reporting (MDR), regulations, medical device manufacturers are required to submit information to the FDA when they
receive a report or become aware that a device has or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or has or may have a malfunction that would
likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. All manufacturers placing medical devices on the market in the EEA are
legally bound to report incidents involving devices they produce or sell to the regulatory agency, or competent authority, in whose jurisdiction the incident
occurred. Under the EU Medical Devices Directive (Directive 93/42/EEC), an incident is defined as any malfunction or deterioration in the characteristics and/or
performance of a device, as well as any inadequacy in the labeling or the instructions for use which, directly or indirectly, might lead to or might have led to the
death of a patient, or user or of other persons or to a serious deterioration in their state of health.

Malfunction of our products could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls, including corrections, or customer notifications, or agency
action, such as inspection or enforcement actions. If malfunctions do occur, we may be unable to correct the malfunctions adequately or prevent further
malfunctions, in which case we may need to cease manufacture and distribution of the affected products, initiate voluntary recalls, and redesign the products.
Regulatory authorities may also take actions against us, such as ordering recalls, imposing fines, or seizing the affected products. Any corrective action, whether
voluntary or involuntary, will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from operating our business, and may harm our reputation and
financial results.

A recall of our products, either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA, an EEA Competent Authority or another governmental authority, or the discovery of
serious safety issues with our products, could have a significant adverse impact on us.

The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities such as the Competent Authorities of the EEA countries have the authority to require the recall of
commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health.
Manufacturers may, under their own initiative, recall a product if any material deficiency in a device is found. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us or
one of our distributors could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures, manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects or other
deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of our products would divert managerial and financial resources and have an adverse effect on our reputation, results of
operations and financial condition, which could impair our ability
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to produce our products in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. We may also be required to bear other costs or take other
actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and our ability to generate profits.

We may be subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations, and a finding of failure to comply with such laws and regulations could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Although we do not provide healthcare services, submit claims for third-party reimbursement, or receive payments directly from Medicare, Medicaid or
other third-party payors for our products, we are subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regulation and enforcement by federal, state and foreign governments, which
could significantly impact our business. In the United States, the laws that may affect our ability to operate include, but are not limited to:
 

 

•  the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons and entities from knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving,
offering, or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchase, lease, order or recommendation of, any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under federal
healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or specific intent to
violate it;

 

 

•  federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, that prohibit, among
other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment or approval to the federal government that are false or fraudulent,
knowingly making a false statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government or knowingly concealing
or knowingly and improperly avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the federal government;

 

 
•  the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), which created federal criminal laws that prohibit executing a

scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters. A person or entity does not need to have
actual knowledge of these statutes or specific intent to violate them;

 

 

•  HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (HITECH), and their respective
implementing regulations, which impose requirements on certain covered healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses as well as
their business associates that perform services for them that involve individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable health information without appropriate authorization, including mandatory contractual terms as well as
directly applicable privacy and security standards and requirements;

 

 

•  the federal physician sunshine requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act (collectively, the ACA), which require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies to report annually
to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include
doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and
their immediate family members. The period between August 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 was the first reporting period, and manufacturers were
required to report aggregate payment data by March 31, 2014, and to report detailed payment data and submit legal attestation to the accuracy of such
data by June 30, 2014. Thereafter, manufacturers must submit reports by the 90th day of each subsequent calendar year;

 

 

•  state and foreign law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to items or
services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers; state laws that require device companies to comply with the industry’s
voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, or otherwise restrict payments that
may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral
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sources; state laws that require device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other
healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain
circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in light
of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare
companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Responding
to investigations can be time-and resource-consuming and can divert management’s attention from the business. Additionally, as a result of these investigations,
healthcare providers and entities may have to agree to additional onerous compliance and reporting requirements as part of a consent decree or corporate integrity
agreement. Any such investigation or settlement could increase our costs or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us now or in the future,
we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from governmental health care programs, and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results.

Healthcare legislative reform measures may have a material adverse effect on us.

In March 2010, the ACA was signed into law, which includes, among other things, a deductible 2.3% excise tax on any entity that manufactures or imports
medical devices offered for sale in the United States, with limited exceptions, effective January 1, 2013. Subsequently, this excise tax was eliminated effective
January 1, 2016. If it were to be reinstated, this excise tax would result in a significant increase in the tax burden on our industry, and if any efforts we undertake to
offset the excise tax are unsuccessful as we begin to sell the product in the United States, the increased tax burden could have an adverse effect on our results of
operations and cash flows. Other elements of the PPACA, including comparative effectiveness research, an independent payment advisory board and payment
system reforms, including shared savings pilots and other provisions, may significantly affect the payment for, and the availability of, healthcare services and result
in fundamental changes to federal healthcare reimbursement programs, any of which may materially affect numerous aspects of our business.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. On August 2, 2011, the Budget
Control Act of 2011 among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked with
recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the
legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year,
which went into effect on April 1, 2013, and will remain in effect through 2024 unless additional Congressional action is taken. On January 2, 2013, the American
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (the ATRA), was signed into law which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to certain providers, including
hospitals.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and
state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures.
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Our future success depends on our ability to develop, receive regulatory clearance or approval for, additional chronic pain indications for Senza and introduce
new products or product enhancements that will be accepted by the market in a timely manner.

It is important to our business that we build a pipeline of product offerings for treatment of chronic pain. As such, our success will depend in part on our
ability to expand the chronic pain indications for which Senza may be used and/or develop and introduce new products. However, we may not be able to
successfully develop and obtain regulatory clearance or approval for expanded indications or product enhancements, or new products, or these products may not be
accepted by physicians or the payors who financially support many of the procedures performed with our products.

The success of any new product offering or enhancement to an existing product will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to:
 

 •  identify and anticipate physician and patient needs properly;
 

 •  develop and introduce new products or product enhancements in a timely manner;
 

 •  avoid infringing upon the intellectual property rights of third parties;
 

 •  demonstrate, if required, the safety and efficacy of new products with data from preclinical and clinical studies;
 

 •  obtain the necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for new products or product enhancements;
 

 •  comply fully with FDA and foreign regulations on marketing of new devices or modified products;
 

 •  provide adequate training to potential users of our products; and
 

 •  receive adequate coverage and reimbursement for procedures performed with our products.

If we do not develop new products or product enhancements in time to meet market demand or if there is insufficient demand for these products or
enhancements, or if our competitors introduce new products with functionalities that are superior to ours, our results of operations will suffer.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile and our stockholders may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the price they paid.

The trading price of our common stock could be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are
beyond our control. These factors include those discussed in this “Risk Factors” section of this document and others such as:
 

 •  delays or setbacks in the commercialization of Senza or any future product candidates;
 

 •  announcements of new products by us or our competitors;
 

 •  achievement of expected product sales and profitability;
 

 •  manufacture, supply or distribution shortages;
 

 •  fluctuations in our expenses associated with inventory buildup or write-downs from analyzing our inventory for obsolesce or conformity with our
product requirements;

 

 •  adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain or sales and marketing activities;
 

 •  our operating results;
 

 •  results from, or any delays in, clinical trial programs relating to our product candidates;
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 •  changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to our products;
 

 •  any adverse changes in our relationship with any manufacturers or suppliers;
 

 •  the success of our efforts to acquire or develop additional products;
 

 •  any intellectual property infringement actions in which we may become involved;
 

 •  announcements concerning our competitors or the medical device industry in general;
 

 •  actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
 

 •  FDA or other U.S. or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry or other healthcare reform measures in the United States;
 

 •  changes in financial estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;
 

 •  trading volume of our common stock;
 

 •  sales of our common stock by us, our executive officers and directors or our stockholders in the future;
 

 •  general economic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the United States equity markets; and
 

 •  the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel.

In addition, the stock markets in general, and the markets for medical device stocks in particular, have experienced volatility that may have been unrelated to
the operating performance of the issuer. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price or liquidity of our common stock. In the past, when
the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have sometimes instituted securities class action litigation against the issuer. If any of our
stockholders were to bring such a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the lawsuit and the attention of our management would be diverted
from the operation of our business, which could seriously harm our financial position. Any adverse determination in litigation could also subject us to significant
liabilities.

We incur significantly increased costs and devote substantial management time as a result of operating as a public company.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we are subject to
the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and are required to comply with the applicable requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and regulations
subsequently implemented by the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange, including the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial
controls and changes in corporate governance practices. We expect that compliance with these requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs
and will make some activities more time consuming and costly.

In addition, our management and other personnel divert attention from operational and other business matters to devote substantial time to these public
company requirements. In particular, we incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which has increased now that we are no longer an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act. We continue to hire
additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge. We cannot predict or estimate the
amount of additional costs we will incur in order to remain compliant with our public company reporting requirements or the timing of such costs. Additional
compensation costs and any future equity awards will increase our compensation expense, which would increase our general and administrative expense and could
adversely affect our profitability.
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If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If any
of the analysts who cover us issues an adverse or misleading opinion regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock performance, or if our
clinical trials and operating results fail to meet the expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of
us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal control.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and provide a
management report on internal control over financial reporting. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act also requires that our internal control over financial reporting be attested
to by our independent registered public accounting firm, now that we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” as defined by the JOBS Act.

If we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may
be materially misstated. The process of designing and implementing the internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation is time
consuming, costly and complicated. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent
registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be adversely affected, and we could become
subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial
and management resources.

If we sell shares of our common stock in future financings, stockholders may experience immediate dilution and, as a result, our stock price may decline.

We may from time to time issue additional shares of common stock at a discount from the current trading price of our common stock. As a result, our
stockholders would experience immediate dilution upon the purchase of any shares of our common stock sold at such discount. In addition, as opportunities present
themselves, we may enter into financing or similar arrangements in the future, including the issuance of debt securities, preferred stock or common stock. If we
issue common stock or securities convertible into common stock, our common stockholders would experience additional dilution and, as a result, our stock price
may decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market after the lapse of legal
restrictions on resale, the trading price of our common stock could decline. As of December 31, 2015, we had outstanding a total of approximately 28.1 million
shares of common stock. Of these shares, the 8,050,000 shares of our common stock sold in the IPO and the 5,411,762 shares sold by us and certain selling
stockholders in our June 2015 underwritten public offering are freely tradable, without restriction (except as otherwise applicable), in the public market.
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Furthermore, as of December 31, 2015, approximately 4.9 million shares of common stock that are either subject to outstanding options or reserved for
future issuance under our equity incentive plans will become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting
schedules, and Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Act. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the
public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

The holders of up to approximately 2.2 million shares of our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2015 were entitled to rights with respect to the
registration of their shares under the Securities Act. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable
without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by affiliates. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse
effect on the trading price of our common stock.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to
stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2015, our executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of our capital stock and their respective affiliates held approximately 48%
of our outstanding voting stock. These stockholders will have the ability to influence us through this ownership position, and may be able to determine all matters
requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or
approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our
common stock that our stockholders may feel are in their best interest.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may lead to
entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could significantly reduce the value of our
shares to a potential acquirer or delay or prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. The provisions in
our charter documents include the following:
 

 •  a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of
our board of directors;

 

 •  no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
 

 •  the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation,
death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

 

 •  the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote to remove a director for cause, and the prohibition on removal of directors
without cause;

 

 •  the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

 

 •  the ability of our board of directors to alter our bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;
 

 •  the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend or repeal our bylaws or repeal the
provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation regarding the election and removal of directors;

 

 •  a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders;
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 •  the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the board of directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to
force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

 

 
•  advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be

acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the
acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, these provisions would apply even if we were to receive an offer that some stockholders may consider beneficial.

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under Section 203, a corporation
may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or,
among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the transaction.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the
amount of money available to us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification agreements
that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that:
 

 

•  we will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest
extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a
manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had
no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful;

 

 •  we may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;
 

 •  we are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or
officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;

 

 
•  we will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person

against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to
indemnification;

 

 •  the rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our
directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

 

 •  we may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees
and agents.
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We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, our stockholders’ ability to achieve a return on their investment will
depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if
any, to fund our growth. Additionally, the terms of our credit facility prohibit us from paying cash dividends on our capital stock. Therefore, our stockholders are
not likely to receive any dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Since we do not intend to pay dividends, our stockholders’ ability to receive a
return on their investment will depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will
appreciate or even maintain the price at which our stockholders have purchased it.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and research and development facilities are located in Redwood City, California, where we lease and occupy approximately
50,000 square feet of office and laboratory space. We also lease office space in Switzerland and a small warehouse space in Menlo Park, California.

For additional information, see Note 5. Commitments
and
Contingencies
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Report.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On May 14, 2015, Boston Scientific Neuromodulation Corporation, a unit of Boston Scientific Corporation, filed with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO) two petitions for inter
partes
review (IPR) alleging that certain claims of U.S. Patent No. 8,359,102 (the ‘102 patent) are invalid due to prior art
references. Through the IPR petitions, Boston Scientific sought to invalidate the challenged claims. The ‘102 patent is one of our 57 issued U.S. patents directed to
our innovations in the neuromodulation field. On November 30, 2015, the Patent Trial and Appeals Board (PTAB) at the USPTO determined that Boston Scientific
failed to establish a reasonable likelihood of showing that any of the challenged claims of the ‘102 patent was invalid, and therefore denied institution of the
petitions for inter
partes
review.

The same unit of Boston Scientific Corporation has filed six European Oppositions at the European Patent Office (EPO), alleging all the claims of our EU
Patent Nos. EP 2403589 (the ‘589 patent), EP 2421600 (the ‘600 patent), EP 2243510 (the ‘510 patent), EP 2630984 (the ‘984 patent), EP 2207587 (the ‘587
patent) and EP 2459271 (the ‘271 patent) are invalid. These oppositions were filed on November 4, 2014; December 4, 2014; January 8, 2015; April 7,
2015; January 8, 2016; and January 20, 2016, respectively, and seek to invalidate all the claims of the listed patents. The listed patents are six of our eight EU
patents directed to our innovations in the neuromodulation field. In addition, Medtronic, Inc. filed four European Oppositions at the EPO, alleging all the claims of
the ‘589 patent, the ‘510 patent, the ‘984 patent and the ‘587 patent are invalid. The Medtronic, Inc. oppositions were filed on October 13, 2014; January 8, 2015;
and March 17, 2015; and December 22, 2015, respectively, and seek to invalidate all the claims of the listed patents.

We are and may from time to time continue to be involved in various legal proceedings of a character normally incident to the ordinary course of our
business.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
 

62



Table of Contents

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, under the symbol “NVRO” since the initial public offering, or
IPO, of our common stock on November 6, 2014. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock. The following table sets forth on a per share
basis, for the periods indicated, the low and high sale prices of our common stock as reported by the NYSE.
 

Year Ended December 31, 2014  High   Low  
Quarter ended December 31, 2014 (beginning November 6th)  $39.37   $25.00  

Year Ended December 31, 2015       
Quarter ended March 31, 2015  $52.03   $36.26  
Quarter ended June 30, 2015  $56.14   $45.02  
Quarter ended September 30, 2015  $53.83   $40.75  
Quarter ended December 31, 2015  $68.34   $37.09  

Holders of Record

At February 12, 2016, there were approximately 36 stockholders of record of our common stock, and the closing price per share of our common stock was
$48.34. Since many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number
of stockholders represented by these record holders.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. Additionally, the terms of our credit facility with Capital Royalty Partners prohibit us
from paying cash dividends on our capital stock without their prior consent. Because we currently intend to retain all future earnings to finance future growth, we
do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the near future.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock since November 6, 2014, which is the date our
common stock first began trading on the New York Stock Exchange, to two indices: the S&P 500 Composite Index and the S&P Healthcare Equipment Index. The
stockholder return shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future performance, and we do not make or endorse any predictions as to future
stockholder returns. This graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject
to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act, whether made before or
after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in any such filing.
 
 

 
$100 investment in stock or index   November 6, 2014   December 31, 2015 
Nevro Corp. (NVRO)   $ 100.00    $ 268.00  
S&P 500 (GSPC)   $ 100.00    $ 100.63  
S&P Healthcare Equipment (SPSIHE)   $ 100.00    $ 116.37  

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Initial Public Offering

Use
of
Proceeds

In November 2014, we completed our IPO and issued 8,050,000 shares of our common stock, including the underwriter’s exercise of their over-allotment
option, at an initial offering price to the public of $18.00. We received net proceeds from the IPO of approximately $131.6 million, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions of approximately $10.1 million and estimated offering costs of approximately $3.1 million. None of the expenses associated with the
IPO were paid to directors, officers, persons owning 10% or more of any class of equity securities, or to their associates, or to our affiliates. The underwriters were
J.P. Morgan, Morgan Stanley, Leerink Partners and JMP Securities.

Shares of our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange on November 6, 2014. The shares were registered under the Securities Act on
registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-199156), which was declared effective by the SEC on November 5, 2014.
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We expect to use the proceeds from the IPO to fund our activities related to seeking U.S. regulatory approval and preparing for the commercial launch of
Senza in the United States, and for working capital and general corporate purposes. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO
as described in our prospectus dated November 5, 2014, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and the notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in Part II,
Item 7 of this Report. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the four years in the period ended December 31, 2015, and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements.
 
(in thousands, except per share data)   2015   2014   2013   2012  
Selected Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:      
Revenue:   $ 69,606   $ 32,573   $ 23,500   $ 18,150  
Cost of revenue    28,120    11,278    9,473    7,527  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross profit    41,486    21,295    14,027    10,623  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:      
Research and development    21,382    19,824    20,345    15,659  
Sales, general and administrative    82,471    29,777    18,833    14,094  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    103,853    49,601    39,178    29,753  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (62,367)   (28,306)   (25,151)   (19,130) 
Interest and other income (expense), net    (3,898)   (1,896)   (501)   325  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (66,265)   (30,202)   (25,652)   (18,805) 
Income tax provision    1,166    478    362    162  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   $ (67,431)  $ (30,680)  $ (26,014)  $ (18,967) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   $ (2.54)  $ (6.94)  $ (29.84)  $ (38.59) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share    26,581,890    4,440,663    876,932    494,066  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
   As of December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013   2012  
Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:        
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 87,036    $ 25,287    $ 12,409   $ 5,618  
Short-term investments   $106,634    $151,521    $ 44,123   $ 24,997  
Working capital   $246,242    $190,327    $ 66,870   $ 43,572  
Total assets   $291,183    $202,496    $ 75,411   $ 49,111  
Notes payable   $ 19,740    $ 19,511    $ —     $ —    
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $234,592    $172,070    $ (85,790)  $(61,794) 
 

65



Table of Contents

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the federal securities laws, particularly statements
referencing our expectations relating to the productivity of our sales force, revenues, deferred revenues, cost of revenues, operating expenses, stock-based
compensation, and provision for income taxes; the growth of our customer base and customer demand for our products; the sufficiency of our cash balances and
cash flows; the impact of recent changes in accounting standards; market risk sensitive instruments, contractual obligations; and assumptions underlying any of the
foregoing. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “potential,” or “continue,” or the negative thereof, or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, these expectations or any of the forward-looking statements could prove to be incorrect, and
actual results could differ materially from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our future financial condition and results of operations, as
well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the factors set forth in this Report under Part I, Item 1A.
Risk
Factors
. All forward-looking statements and reasons why results may differ included in this Report are made as of the date of the filing of this Report, and we
assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements or reasons why actual results may differ.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

Overview

We are a medical device company that has developed and commercialized an innovative neuromodulation platform for the treatment of chronic pain. Our
Senza system is the only spinal cord stimulation (SCS) system that delivers our proprietary HF10 therapy. On May 8, 2015, our premarket approval (PMA)
application for our Senza SCS system, or Senza, was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Accordingly, we began U.S. commercialization
of the Senza system in May 2015. In order to maintain our PMA approval in the United States, we need to comply with applicable laws and regulations from the
FDA and other relevant regulatory agencies. The Senza system received a CE Mark in 2010, and commercialization commenced in Europe in 2010 and Australia in
2011 where the system is reimbursed under existing SCS codes. We market our products to physicians in Europe and Australia and sell to hospitals and outpatient
surgery centers through both a direct sales organization and distributors. Beginning in 2010, we established our international sales organizations to support our
product launch outside of the United States.

In the second quarter of 2015, we recorded our first commercial sales of Senza in the United States. During 2015, sales in the United States increased from
$53,000 in the second quarter to $4.5 million in the third quarter and $19.8 million in the fourth quarter. Revenue from international sales was $9.7 million, $11.3
million, $10.9 million and $13.3 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2015, respectively. Our total revenue was $9.7 million, $11.4
million, $15.4 million and $33.1 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2015, respectively. Total combined revenue from U.S. and
international sales was $23.5 million, $32.6 million and $69.6 million for fiscal years 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively.

Our commercial efforts are supported by the results of our SENZA-RCT U.S. pivotal study, which demonstrated the superiority of HF10 therapy over
traditional SCS therapies for treating both back and leg pain. While SCS therapy is indicated and reimbursed for treating back and leg pain, it has limited efficacy
in back pain and is utilized primarily for treating leg pain, which has limited its market adoption. In our pivotal study, HF10 therapy was demonstrated to provide
significant and sustained back pain relief in addition to leg pain relief. We believe we are positioned to transform and grow the approximately $1.7 billion existing
global SCS market under current reimbursement by treating back pain in addition to leg pain without causing paresthesia.
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Since our inception, we have financed our operations primarily through equity financings and borrowings under our debt facility. Our accumulated deficit as
of December 31, 2015 was $189.4 million. A significant amount of our capital resources has been used to support the development of Senza and our HF10 therapy,
including, our pivotal clinical trial, SENZA-RCT, and more recently we have made a significant investment building our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales
force to support our commercial launch in the United States. We intend to continue to make significant investments in our U.S. commercial infrastructure, as well
as in research and development (R&D) to develop Senza to treat other chronic pain indications, including conducting clinical trials to support our future regulatory
submissions. As a result of these and other factors, we expect to continue to incur net losses for the next several years and may require substantial additional
funding, which may include future equity and debt financings.

We rely on third-party suppliers for all of the components of Senza and for the assembly of the system. Many of these suppliers are currently single-source
suppliers. During 2015, we have entered into several supply agreements in an effort to reinforce our supply chain. We are also required to maintain high levels of
inventory, and, as a result, we are subject to the risk of inventory obsolescence and expiration, which may lead to inventory impairment charges. In particular, we
have substantially increased our levels of inventory in order to meet our estimated demand in the U.S. and, as a result, incur significant expenditures associated
with such increases in our inventory. Additionally, as compared to direct manufacturers, our dependence on third-party manufacturers exposes us to greater lead
times increasing our risk of inventory obsolesce.

On November 5, 2014, our registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the initial public offering (IPO) of common stock became effective. The IPO closed
in November 2014 at which time we issued 8,050,000 shares of our common stock, which included 1,050,000 shares issued pursuant to the exercise in full by the
underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. We received cash proceeds of approximately $131.6 million from the IPO, net of underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering costs paid by us. In June 2015, we completed an underwritten public offering of our common stock, which included shares of our
common stock held by certain of our stockholders, at which time we issued 2,470,587 shares of common stock, including 705,882 shares issued pursuant to the
exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares. We received cash proceeds of approximately $118.4 million, net of underwriting
discounts and commissions and offering costs paid by us.

Important Factors Affecting our Results of Operations

We believe that the following factors have impacted and we expect will continue to impact our results of operations.

Significant Investment in U.S. Sales Organization

We are continuing to make significant investments in building our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force and in recruiting and training our sales
representatives for U.S. commercialization. This is a lengthy process that requires recruiting appropriate sales representatives, establishing a commercial
infrastructure in the United States and training our sales representatives, and will require significant investment by us. Following initial training for Senza, our sales
representatives typically require lead time in the field to grow their network of accounts and produce sales results. Successfully recruiting and training a sufficient
number of productive sales representatives is required to achieve growth at the rate we expect.

Importance of Physician Awareness and Acceptance of Senza

We continue to invest in programs to educate international physicians who treat chronic pain about the advantages of Senza. This requires significant
commitment by our marketing team and sales organization, and can vary depending upon the physician’s practice specialization, personal preferences and
geographic location. We are competing with well-established companies in our industry that have strong existing relationships with
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many of these physicians. Educating physicians about the advantages of Senza, and influencing these physicians to use Senza to treat chronic pain, is required to
grow our revenue.

Access to Hospital Facilities

In the United States, in order for physicians to use Senza, the hospital facilities where these physicians treat patients typically will require us to enter into
purchasing contracts. This process can be lengthy and time-consuming and require extensive negotiations and management time. In Europe, we may be required to
engage in a contract bidding process in order to sell Senza product, which processes are only open at certain periods of time, and we may not be successful in the
bidding process.

Inventory Buildup and Supply Chain Management

Our Senza product consists of a substantial number of individual components and, in order to market and sell Senza effectively, we must maintain high
levels of inventory. In particular, as we continue with our commercial launch of Senza in the United States and continue to add additional supplier to fortify our
supply chain, we are substantially increasing our levels of inventory. As a result, we are incurring significant expenditures associated with the increases in our
inventory, which will include satisfying certain minimum purchase obligations, as demand for Senza in the United States is developing. There may also be times in
which we determine that our inventory does not meet our product requirements, as was the case in the year ended December 31, 2015, wherein we recorded a write
down of inventory of $2.1 million for inventory that did not meet our product requirements. Further, the manufacturing process for Senza requires lengthy lead
times, during which components may become obsolete. We may also over- or under-estimate the amount needed of a given component, in which case we may
expend extra resources or be constrained in the amount of end product that we can produce. These factors subject us to the risk of inventory obsolescence and
expiration, which may lead to inventory impairment charges.

Investment in Research and Clinical Trials

We intend to continue investing in research and development to expand into new indications and chronic pain conditions for Senza, as well as develop
product enhancements to improve outcomes and enhance the physician and patient experience. In the future, we expect to initiate clinical trials to support the
development of Senza and HF10 therapy for the treatment of other chronic pain conditions. We believe that our continuing clinical research and regulatory efforts
will continue to drive adoption of Senza. While research and development and clinical testing are time consuming and costly, we believe that clinical data
demonstrating efficacy, safety and cost effectiveness is critical to increasing the adoption of HF10 therapy.

We Do Not Expect Our Revenue Growth Rate in International Markets to Continue at Historic Rates

Our revenue from international markets has increased from $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $45.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2015. Revenue increased as a result of our sales of Senza in Europe and Australia; however, we do not expect to continue this rate of revenue growth
in these international markets given our existing penetration in these markets. Despite our growth in international markets, international revenue was negatively
impacted by the appreciation of the U.S. dollar. Due to governmental reimbursements constraints in the European SCS market limiting the number of annual SCS
implants and our current penetration in these markets, we expect to grow less rapidly in the future than we have in the past in this market.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Use of Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
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generally accepted in the United States of America, or US GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our critical accounting policies and
estimates. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable in the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that the estimates, judgments, and assumptions involved in the accounting for
revenue recognition, inventory, stock-based compensation, income taxes, and allowance for doubtful accounts have the greatest potential impact on our
consolidated financial statements, so we consider these to be our critical accounting policies. We discuss below the critical accounting estimates associated with
these policies. Historically, our estimates, judgments, and assumptions relative to our critical accounting policies have not differed materially from actual results.
Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Report.

Revenue

We recognize revenue when all of the following criteria are met:
 

 •  persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
 

 •  the sales price is fixed or determinable;
 

 •  collection of the relevant receivable is reasonably assured at the time of sale; and
 

 •  delivery has occurred or services have been rendered.

For a majority of sales, where our sales representative delivers our product at the point of implantation at hospitals or medical facilities, we recognize
revenue upon completion of the procedure and authorization, which represents satisfaction of the required revenue recognition criteria. For the remaining sales,
which are sent from our distribution centers directly to hospitals and medical facilities, as well as distributor sales where product is ordered in advance of an
implantation procedure and a valid purchase order has been received, we recognize revenue at the time of shipment of the product, which represents the point in
time when the customer has taken ownership and assumed the risk of loss and the required revenue recognition criteria are satisfied. Such customers are obligated
to pay within specified terms regardless of when or if they ever they sell or use the products. We do not offer rights of return or price protection and we have no
post-delivery obligations. We periodically provide incentive offers to customers. Product revenue is recorded net of such incentive offers.

Inventory Valuation

We contract with third parties for the manufacturing and packaging of all of the components of Senza. We plan the manufacture of our systems based on
estimates of market demand. The nature of our business requires that we maintain sufficient inventory on hand to meet the requirements of our customers.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value. Cost is determined using actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis. Market value is determined as the lower
of replacement cost or net realizable value.

We regularly review inventory quantities in consideration of actual loss experiences, projected future demand, and remaining shelf life to record a provision
for excess and obsolete inventory when appropriate. Inventory write downs are recorded for excess and obsolete inventory. We periodically assesses the
recoverability of all inventories to determine whether write downs for impairment are required. We evaluate projected future demand as compared to remaining
shelf life and other obsolescence and excess criteria in assessing the recoverability of our inventory. In determining the adequacy of reserves, we analyze the
following, among other things:
 

 •  Current inventory quantities on hand;
 

 •  Product acceptance in the marketplace;
 

 •  Customer demand;
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 •  Historical sales;
 

 •  Forecast sales;
 

 •  Product obsolescence;
 

 •  Technological innovations; and
 

 •  Character of the inventory as a distributed item, finished manufactured item or system components.

Any inventory write-downs are recorded in cost of goods sold within the statements of operations during the period in which such write-downs are
determined necessary by management.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation costs related to stock options granted to employees are measured at the date of grant based on the estimated fair value of the
award, net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate the grant date fair value, and the resulting stock-based compensation expense, using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of four years.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective assumptions which determine the fair value of stock-based awards. The
assumptions used in our option-pricing model represent management’s best estimates. These estimates are complex, involve a number of variables, uncertainties
and assumptions and the application of management’s judgment, so that they are inherently subjective. If factors change and different assumptions are used, our
stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. These assumptions are estimated as follows:

Risk-Free
Interest
Rate.
We base the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation model on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues with an equivalent remaining term of the options for each option group.

Expected
Term.
The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. Because of the limitations on the sale or
transfer or our common stock as a privately held company, we do not believe our historical exercise pattern is indicative of the pattern we will experience as a
publicly traded company. We have consequently used the Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, 110, simplified method to calculate the expected term, which is the
average of the contractual term and vesting period. We plan to continue to use the SAB 110 simplified method until we have sufficient trading history as a publicly
traded company.

Volatility.
We determine the price volatility factor based on the historical volatilities of our peer group as we did not have a sufficient trading history for our
common stock. Industry peers consist of several public companies in the medical device technology industry with comparable characteristics including enterprise
value, risk profiles and position within the industry. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a
sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own common stock share price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such
that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case, more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the
calculation.

Dividend
Yield.
The expected dividend assumption is based on our current expectations about our anticipated dividend policy. We currently do not expect to
issue any dividends.

In addition to assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, we must also estimate a forfeiture rate to calculate the stock-based compensation
for our awards. We will continue to use judgment in evaluating the assumptions related to our stock-based compensation on a prospective basis. As we continue to
accumulate additional data, we may have refinements to our estimates, which could materially impact our future stock-based compensation expense.
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In 2015, we began issuing restricted stock units (RSUs). We account for stock-based compensation for the RSUs at their fair value, based on the closing
market price of our common stock on the grant date. These costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the
vesting term of four years.

Income Tax

We recognize deferred income taxes for temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for financial statement and income tax purposes. We
periodically evaluate the positive and negative evidence bearing upon realizability of our deferred tax assets. Based upon the weight of available evidence, which
includes our historical operating performance, reported cumulative net losses since inception and difficulty in accurately forecasting our future results, we
maintained a full valuation allowance on the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. We intend to maintain a full valuation allowance on the
federal, state and foreign deferred tax assets until sufficient positive evidence exists to support reversal of the valuation allowance.

As of December 31, 2015, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $187.8 million and $73.2 million, respectively, available to
offset future taxable income, due to prior period losses, which if not utilized will begin to expire in 2026 and 2016 for federal and state purposes, respectively. We
also have federal research tax credit carryforwards that will begin to expire in 2026. Realization of these NOL and research tax credit carryforwards depends on
future income, and there is a risk that our existing carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to reduce future income tax liabilities, which could
materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, our ability to utilize NOL carryforwards or other tax
attributes such as research tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience, or have experienced, an “ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership
change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders, who own at least 5% of our stock, increase their ownership by more than 50
percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws.

No deferred tax assets have been recognized on our balance sheet related to our NOLs and tax credits, as they are fully reserved by a valuation allowance. As
a result of our June 2015 underwritten public offering, we have experienced a Section 382 “ownership change.” We currently estimate this “ownership change” will
not inhibit our ability to utilize our NOLs. We may in the future experience another Section 382 “ownership change.” If so, or if we do not generate sufficient
taxable income, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs and tax credits even if we achieve profitability. If we are limited in our ability to use
our NOLs and tax credits in future years in which we have taxable income, we will pay more taxes than if we were able to fully utilize our NOLs and tax credits.
This could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

We record unrecognized tax benefits as liabilities and adjust these liabilities when our judgment changes as a result of the evaluation of new information not
previously available. Because of the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in a payment that is materially different from our
current estimate of the unrecognized tax benefit liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period in
which new information is available. Our policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. No interest or
penalties related to income taxes have been recognized in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss in 2015 and 2014.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We must make estimates of the collectability of accounts receivable. In doing so, we analyze historical bad debt trends, customer credit worthiness, current
economic trends and changes in customer payment patterns when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our accounts receivable balance
was $22.5 million, net of allowance of $122,000 as of December 31, 2015 and $6.6 million, net of allowance of $10,000 as of December 31, 2014.
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Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Our revenue is generated from sales to two types of customers: hospitals and outpatient medical facilities served through a direct sales force, and third-party
distributors. Sales to hospitals and medical facilities represent the majority of our revenue. Product sales to hospitals and medical facilities are billed to and paid by
the hospitals as part of their normal payment processes, with payment received by us in the form of an electronic transfer, check or credit card payment. Product
sales to distributors are billed to and paid by the distributors as part of their normal payment processes, with payment received by us in the form of an electronic
transfer.

Revenue from sales of Senza fluctuates based on the selling price of the system, as the sales price of a system varies among jurisdictions, and the mix of
sales by jurisdiction. In addition, our revenue may fluctuate based on the ratio of trials to permanent implants. Our revenue from international sales can also be
significantly impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as our sales are denominated in the local currency in the countries that we sell our
products in. We recognized net foreign currency transaction losses of $1.6 million, $1.7 million and $0.6 million, during the year ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively which are recorded within other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

We expect our revenue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to a variety of factors, including seasonality, as we have historically experienced lower sales
in the summer months and around the holidays, and the impact of the buying patterns and implant volumes of our hospitals and medical facilities, and third party
distributors.

Cost of Revenue

We utilize contract manufactures for production of Senza. Cost of revenue consists primarily of acquisition costs of the components of Senza, allocated
manufacturing overhead, royalty payments, scrap and inventory obsolescence, as well as distribution-related expenses such as logistics and shipping costs, net of
costs charged to customers.

We calculate gross margin as revenue less cost of revenue divided by revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of
factors, primarily by our costs to have our products manufactured for us, the ratio of trials to permanent implants, the period of time between a trial and the related
permanent implant, and, to a lesser extent, the percentage of products we sell to distributors as compared to those sold directly to hospitals and medical facilities as
our gross margin is typically higher on products we sell directly as compared to products we sell through distributors. We expect our gross margin to be positively
affected over time to the extent we are successful in reducing manufacturing costs as our sales volume increases. However, our gross margin may fluctuate from
period to period.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of research and development, sales, general and administrative expense. Personnel costs are the most significant component
of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation, and sales commissions. We expect operating expenses to increase in absolute
dollars as we continue to invest to grow our business.

Research
and
Development.
Research and development, or R&D, costs are expensed as incurred. R&D expense consists primarily of personnel costs,
including salary, employee benefits and stock-based compensation expenses for our R&D employees. R&D expense also includes costs associated with product
design efforts, development prototypes, testing, clinical trial programs and regulatory activities, contractors and consultants, equipment and software to support our
development, facilities and information technology. We expect research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to develop
product enhancements to Senza and develop our HF10 therapy to treat other chronic pain indications, including conducting additional clinical studies. Our R&D
expenses may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and extent of our R&D and clinical trial expenses.
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Sales,
General
and
Administrative.
Sales, general and administrative, or SG&A, expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee
benefits and stock-based compensation expenses for our sales and marketing personnel, including sales commissions, and for administrative personnel that support
our general operations such as information technology, executive management, financial accounting, customer services and human resources personnel. We
expense commissions at the time of the sale. SG&A expense also includes costs attributable to marketing, as well as travel, intellectual property and other legal
fees, financial audit fees, insurance, fees for other consulting services, depreciation and facilities.

In the last two years, we significantly increased the size of our sales presence internationally and increased marketing spending to generate sales
opportunities. Additionally, during 2015, we made substantial investments in our U.S. commercial infrastructure to support the commercial launch of Senza in the
U.S. We expect SG&A expenses to continue to significantly increase as we build up our sales and marketing personnel to support commercialization of Senza in
the United States, continue to increase the size of our sales and marketing organizations and increase our international presence and develop and assist our channel
partners.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, our administrative expenses increased as we operated as a public company. We expect our administrative expenses
will continue to increase as we increase our headcount and expand our facility and information technology to support our expected growth and our operations as a
public company. Additionally, we anticipate increased expenses related to audit, legal, regulatory and tax-related services associated with maintaining compliance
with exchange listing and Securities and Exchange Commission requirements, including compliance under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, director and officer
insurance premiums and investor relations costs associated with being a public company. Our SG&A expenses may fluctuate from period to period due to the
seasonality of our revenue and the timing and extent of our SG&A expenses.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on our investments and Interest expense consists of interest paid on our outstanding debt.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and the gains and losses from the remeasurement of foreign-
denominated balances to the U.S. dollar.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists primarily of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We maintain a full valuation allowance for
deferred tax assets including net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits and other tax credits.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We make estimates as to the overall collectability of accounts receivable and provide an allowance for accounts receivable considered uncollectible. We
specifically analyze accounts receivable based on historical bad debt experience, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, the age of the receivable,
current economic trends, and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. We record the adjustment
in general and administrative expense.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2. Summary
of
Significant
Accounting
Policies
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II,
Item 8 of this Report.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

Revenue,
Cost
of
Revenue,
Gross
Profit
and
Gross
Margin
 

   
Year Ended 
December 31,     

(in thousands)   2015   2014   Change  
Revenue   $69,606   $32,573   $37,033  
Cost of revenue    28,120    11,278    16,842  

Gross profit    41,486    21,295    20,191  
Gross margin    60%   65%   (5)% 

Revenue.
Revenue increased to $69.6 million in 2015 from $32.6 million in 2014, an increase of $37.0 million, or 114%, due to sales of the Senza system in
the United States, which began in May 2015 upon receiving FDA approval of our PMA for Senza, and continued adoption of the Senza system in international
markets where it had historically been sold. We expanded our sales force in the United States in 2015 to support our anticipated revenue growth.

Cost
of
Revenue,
Gross
Profit
and
Gross
Margin.
Cost of revenue increased to $28.1 million in 2015 from $11.3 million in 2014, an increase of $16.8
million, or 149%. This increase was primarily due to a $12.7 million increase in the acquisition costs of manufactured product components as sales volumes
increased, as well as a $2.0 million increase in inventory-related charges. Gross profit increased to $41.5 million in 2015 from $21.3 million in 2014, an increase of
$20.2 million, or 95%. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue, or gross margin, decreased to 60% in 2015 compared to 65% in 2014. The decrease was partly
attributed to the costs incurred in association with ramping our operational infrastructure in response to the product launch in the United States, as well as the $2.0
million increase in the write down of inventory in 2015. Additionally, while costs were primarily incurred in U.S. dollars, international revenue was negatively
impacted by the appreciation of the U.S. dollar, which negatively impacted the overall gross margin for the period.

Operating
Expenses
 

   Year Ended December 31,     
   2015   2014     
       % of Total      % of Total  Change  
(in thousands)   Amount    Revenue   Amount    Revenue   Amount  
Operating expenses:         

Research and development   $ 21,382     31%  $19,824     61%  $ 1,558  
Sales, general and administrative    82,471     118    29,777     91    52,694  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses   $103,853     149%  $49,601     152%  $54,252  
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Research
and
Development
Expenses.
R&D expenses increased to $21.4 million in 2015 from $19.8 million in 2014, an increase of $1.6 million, or 8%. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in headcount and related personnel and consulting costs of $3.1 million, offset by a decrease in clinical and development
expenses of $1.4 million associated with our preclinical and regulatory costs in preparation for our June 2014 PMA submission, as well as a decrease in costs
related to the reduction of R&D participation in the manufacturing process development of $0.8 million.

Sales,
General
and
Administrative
Expenses.
SG&A expenses increased to $82.5 million in 2015 from $29.8 million in 2014, an increase of $52.7 million, or
177%. This increase was primarily due to an increase in personnel costs of $35.6 million in relation to an increase in headcount for SG&A personnel in support of
our U.S. commercial launch, increased travel, training, marketing and associated supply costs of $9.5 million, increased legal and other professional services costs
associated with being a public company of $4.2 million,
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additional facilities-related costs of $2.3 million and increased computer hardware and software expenses of $0.6 million.

Interest
Income,
Interest
Expense,
Other
Income
(Expense),
Net
and
Provision
for
Income
Taxes
 

   
Year Ended 
December 31,      

(in thousands)   2015    2014    Change  
Interest income   $ 575    $ 141    $ 434  
Interest expense    (2,732)    (157)    (2,575) 
Other income (expense), net    (1,741)    (1,880)    139  
Provision for income taxes    (1,166)    (478)    (688) 

Interest
Income.
Interest income increased to $0.6 million in 2015 from $0.1 million in 2014, primarily as a result of the increase in average investment
balances.

Interest
Expense.
Interest expense increased to $2.7 million in 2015 from $0.2 million in 2014, primarily as a result of debt outstanding during 2015 as a
result of borrowing under our credit facility in December 2014.

Other
Income
(Expense),
Net.
Other income (expense), net was primarily comprised of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and the gains and losses
from the remeasurement of foreign-denominated balances. Related to these two items, in 2015, we recorded a net loss of $1.6 million, compared to the
corresponding period in prior year in which we recorded a net loss of $1.7 million. Our remeasurement gains and losses are affected by changes in the foreign
currency translation rates of the countries in which we conduct business.

Income
Tax
Expense.
Income tax expense was $1.2 million in 2015 and $0.5 million in 2014. Our income tax expense associated primarily with foreign
income taxes. We continue to generate tax losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes and have net operating loss carryforwards creating a deferred tax asset. We
have a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets. The change in income tax expense was due to changes in foreign income taxes on profits realized by our
foreign subsidiaries.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Revenue,
Cost
of
Revenue,
Gross
Profit
and
Gross
Margin
 

   
Year Ended 
December 31,     

(in thousands)   2014   2013   Change 
Revenue   $32,573   $23,500   $9,073  
Cost of revenue    11,278    9,473    1,805  

Gross profit    21,295    14,027    7,268  
Gross margin    65%   60%   5% 

Revenue.
In 2014, revenue increased to $32.6 million from $23.5 million in 2013, an increase of $9.1 million, or 39%, due to increased acceptance of Senza
in Europe and Australia. We established our international sales operations in 2011, and materially expanded our sales forces in those countries during 2012 and
2013 to support our revenue growth.

Cost
of
Revenue,
Gross
Profit
and
Gross
Margin.
Cost of revenue increased $1.8 million, or 19%, in 2014 as compared to 2013 due to higher personnel costs
of $1.0 million, an increase in the costs for manufactured goods of $0.6 million related to the increased production of units due to the increase in sales volume, as
well as an increase in our shipping costs of $0.2 million. Gross profit increased $7.3 million, or 52%, to $21.3 million, in
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the year ended 2014 as compared to 2013 due to higher sales volume, while our gross profit as a percentage of sales increased by 5%.

Operating
Expenses
 
   Year Ended December 31,     
   2014   2013     

(in thousands)   Amount    
% of Total
Revenue   Amount    

% of Total
Revenue   

Change 
Amount  

Operating expenses:         
Research and development   $19,824     61%  $20,345     87%  $ (521) 
Sales, general and administrative    29,777     91    18,833     80    10,944  

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Total operating expenses   $49,601     152%  $39,178     167%  $10,423  
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

Research
and
Development
Expenses.
R&D expenses decreased $0.5 million, or 3%, in 2014 as compared to 2013. Our clinical trial expenses declined by
$2.8 million in 2014 to $1.1 million as compared to $3.9 million during 2013 due to the completion of the enrollment in our clinical trial in February 2013. Our
development costs were $4.5 million in both 2013 and 2014 due to our continued investment in preclinical activities for our products and our preparation of the
PMA submission for Senza. We submitted our completed PMA in June 2014 to the FDA. The overall decline in our R&D expenses was offset by an increase in
personnel costs of $1.8 million as we increased our headcount to support continued investment in our products, as well as increased facilities related expenses of
$0.6 million.

Sales,
General
and
Administrative
Expenses.
SG&A expenses increased $10.9 million, or 58%, in 2014 as compared to 2013, primarily due to an increase in
personnel costs of $5.5 million as we increased sales and administrative headcount to support growth, as well as increased facilities related expenses of $0.9
million. Our professional consulting expenses increased by $3.0 million during 2014 as compared to 2013 as a result of our expenses related to preparing to become
a public company. In addition our travel-related expense increased $0.7 million as a result of our larger sales team and support for the expansion in foreign markets.

Interest
Income,
Other
Income
(Expense),
Net
and
Income
Tax
Expense
 

   
Year Ended 
December 31,      

(in thousands)   2014    2013    Change  
Interest income (expense), net   $ (16)   $ 153    $ (169) 
Other income (expense), net    (1,880)    (654)    (1,226) 
Income tax    (478)    (362)    (116) 

Interest
Income
(Expense,
net).
Interest income (expense), net decreased to an expense of $16,000 during 2014 from interest income in 2013 of $0.2 million,
primarily due to an increase in our average outstanding debt balances during the year 2014. We entered into a credit line during 2014 under which we drew down
$20.0 million in December 2014, whereas during the year ended December 31, 2013 we did not have any debt outstanding.

Other
Income
(Expense),
Net.
Other income (expense), net was primarily comprised of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and the gains and losses
from the remeasurement of foreign-denominated balances to the U.S. dollar. We recorded such expense of $1.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2014,
and expense of $0.7 million during the same period in 2013. Our remeasurement gains and losses are affected by changes in the foreign currency translation rates
of the different countries that we do business in.
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Income
Tax
Expense.
Income tax expense was $0.5 million in 2014, compared to an income tax expense of $0.4 million in 2013. We incur income tax
expense primarily due to foreign taxes. We continue to generate tax losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes and have net operating loss carryforwards
creating a deferred tax asset. We have a full valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets. The change in income tax expense was due to changes in foreign
income taxes on profits realized by our foreign subsidiaries as we expanded internationally.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Plan of Operations

Since our inception through December 31, 2015, we have financed our operations through private placements of preferred stock and issuance of common
stock in our IPO and underwritten public offering. At December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents and investments of $193.7 million. Based on our
current operating plan, we expect that our cash on hand, together with the anticipated funds from the collection of our receivables will be sufficient to fund our
operations through at least the next twelve months.

In October 2014, we entered into a credit facility with Capital Royalty Partners and certain of its affiliates, which we refer to as our credit facility, whereby
we have access to borrow up to $50.0 million principal amount of senior secured term loan financing in up to three draws on or before September 30, 2015. As of
December 31, 2015, we did not elect to enter into the second or third draw of $10.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, under our credit facility with Capital
Royalty Partners and the option to do so expired. As of December 31, 2015, we have a term loan outstanding with a principal balance of $20.0 million under the
facility.

We expect to incur substantial expenditures in the foreseeable future in connection with the expansion of our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force
in to support commercialization of Senza in the United States. In addition, we intend to make investment in the development of Senza and HF10 therapy for the
treatment of other chronic pain conditions, including ongoing research and development programs and clinical trials.

We may continue to seek funds through equity or debt financings, or through other sources of financing. Adequate additional funding may not be available to
us on acceptable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital in the future could have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our
business strategies. We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial additional capital, the requirements of which will depend on many factors, including:
 

 •  the costs of commercialization activities related to commercializing Senza in the United States and elsewhere, including product sales, marketing,
manufacturing and distribution;

 

 •  the scope and timing of our investment in our U.S. commercial infrastructure and sales force;
 

 •  the R&D activities we intend to undertake in order to expand the chronic pain indications and product enhancements that we intend to pursue;
 

 •  the degree and rate of market acceptance of Senza;
 

 •  changes or fluctuations in our inventory supply needs and forecasts of our supply needs;
 

 •  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
 

 •  our need to implement additional infrastructure and internal systems;
 

 •  our ability to hire additional personnel to support our operations as a public company; and
 

 •  the emergence of competing technologies or other adverse market developments.

Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to establish a competitive position in the neuromodulation market by securing broad market acceptance of our
HF10 therapy and Senza for the treatment of chronic pain conditions. Any product we develop that achieves regulatory clearance or approval will have to compete
for market acceptance and market share. We face significant competition in the United States and internationally,
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which we believe will intensify as we continue to commercialize in the United States. For example, our major competitors, Medtronic plc, Boston Scientific
Corporation and St. Jude Medical, Inc., each have approved neuromodulation systems in at least the United States, Europe, and Australia and have been established
for several years. In addition to these major competitors, we may also face competition from other emerging competitors and smaller companies with active
neuromodulation system development programs that may emerge in the future.

If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all of our commercial development plans.

The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented below:
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
   2015   2014   2013  
Net cash (used in) provided by:     

Operating activities   $(100,430)  $ (31,148)  $(21,095) 
Investing activities    39,658    (108,055)   (19,899) 
Financing activities    122,827    152,081    47,785  
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents    (306)   —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 61,749   $ 12,878   $ 6,791  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Cash
Used
in
Operating
Activities.
Net cash used in operating activities was $100.4 million and $31.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively, primarily due to the net losses during the periods of $67.4 million and $30.7 million, respectively. The cash used in operating activities in the
year ended December 31, 2015 was affected by changes in operating assets and liabilities, including an increase of $25.0 million in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, non-cash stock based compensation expense of $7.3 million and a write down of inventories of $2.8 million, offset by increases in our inventory
balances of $49.4 million, accounts receivable of $16.2 million and prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.6 million. The cash used in operating activities in the
year ended December 31, 2014 was affected by changes in operating assets and liabilities, including an increase of $3.0 million in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and non-cash stock based compensation expense of $2.0 million, offset by an increase in our prepaid expenses and other current assets of $1.3 million,
and an increase in our inventory balances by $5.5 million. The cash used in operations in the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily due to changes in our
operating assets and liabilities, including a decrease in our outstanding prepaid and other assets of $1.2 million, an increase of $3.1 million in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, and non-cash stock based compensation expense of $1.6 million, which were offset in part by an increase in our accounts receivable balances of
$0.7 million and an increase in our inventory balance by $1.6 million.

Cash
Used
in
Investing
Activities.
Investing activities consisted primarily of changes in investment balances, including purchases and maturities of short-
term investments, and purchases of property equipment. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we had net proceeds from maturity of investments of $45.3
million, offset by purchases in property and equipment of $5.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 we had net investment purchases of $107.4
million and $19.6 million, respectively.

Cash
Provided
by
Financing
Activities.
Cash provided by financing activities was $122.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily due to the
cash received from the issuance of common stock in our underwritten public offering in June 2015 totaling $118.4 million and cash received from the issuance of
common stock and stock option exercises of $4.4 million. Cash provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2014 was $152.1 million, primarily
from the $131.6 million in net proceeds received in the IPO, as well as borrowing under our note payable of $19.5 million, which consisted of borrowings of $20.0
million, and closing fees of $0.5 million. Cash provided by financing activities for 2013 consisted of $47.7 million in net
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proceeds from the issuance of Series C convertible preferred stock in March 2013 and $0.1 million received upon exercise of common stock options.

Credit Facility

On October 24, 2014, we entered into a credit facility (the “credit facility”) with Capital Royalty Partners and certain of its affiliates (the “lenders”) under
which, subject to certain conditions, we may enter into three term loan agreements totaling $50.0 million with the lenders on or before September 30, 2015. Under
the credit facility, each term loan is to be paid over 24 quarterly payment periods, with the first payment due on the last day of the calendar quarter during the
period for which the term loan is made. The first twelve quarterly payments will be interest only payments, and the last twelve quarterly payments will be equal
installments in which interest and principal amounts are paid. Interest is calculated at a fixed rate of 11.5% per annum. During the interest only period for the first
twelve quarterly payments under each term loan, we may elect to make the 11.5% interest payment by making a cash payment for the 8.0% per annum of interest
and making a payment in kind for the remaining amount, for which the 3.5% per annum of interest would be added to the outstanding principal amount of the
loans. We have initially chosen not to elect the payment in kind option. The final payment will also include an additional amount for closing and repayment fees
equivalent to 5% of the term loan agreement. We entered into the first term loan for $20.0 million on December 12, 2014, and incurred closing fees of $0.5 million.
Under the original agreement, we were eligible to enter into a second term loan for a principal amount of $10.0 million on or prior to March 31, 2015 and a third
term loan for a principal amount of $20.0 million on or prior to September 30, 2015, in each case, upon meeting certain conditions. In March 2015, we entered into
a First Amendment under this credit facility to extend the draw-down deadline of the second draw from March 31, 2015 to June 29, 2015. In June 2015, we entered
into a Second Amendment to extend the draw-down deadline of the second draw from June 29, 2015 to September 30, 2015. In 2015, we met the deadline to satisfy
certain conditions precedent on or prior to September 30, 2016, such that the interest only period on the first draw was extended so that the outstanding principal
amount of the terms loans will be payable in a single installment at maturity (the 24th quarterly payment date after the first borrowing). The credit facility contains
customary events of default, including in the event of bankruptcy or upon the occurrence of a material adverse change. Our obligations under the credit facility are
collateralized by substantially all of its assets, including its intellectual property. As of September 30, 2015, we did not elect to enter into the second or third draw,
and the option to do so expired as of September 30, 2015.

The credit facility includes affirmative and negative covenants, including certain minimum financial covenants for pre-specified liquidity and revenue
requirements. In particular, we are required to maintain a minimum of $5.0 million of cash and certain cash equivalents, and we must achieve minimum revenue of
$25.0 million in 2015, $30.0 million in 2016, $40.0 million in 2017, $50.0 million in 2018 and $70.0 million in 2019. In addition, the credit facility prohibits the
payment of cash dividends on our capital stock and also places restrictions on mergers, sales of assets, investments, incurrence of liens, incurrence of indebtedness
and transactions with affiliates. As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all applicable covenants.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We have lease obligations consisting of operating leases for our principal offices that expire in 2022 and for our warehouse space that expire in 2017, as well
as for office space in Switzerland that expire in 2017.

In March 2015, we entered into a lease agreement for approximately 50,000 square feet of office space located in Redwood City, California for a period
beginning in June 2015 and ending in May 2022, with initial annual payments of approximately $2.0 million, increasing to $2.4 million annually in the final year of
the lease term. In March 2015, we extended our warehouse lease through February 2017 under which we are obligated to pay approximately $0.3 million in lease
payments over the remaining term of the lease, and extended the lease for office space in Menlo Park, California through September 2015, at which time that lease
expired.
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In 2015, we entered into supply agreements with certain of our suppliers that required an aggregate upfront payment of $1.8 million, along with certain
minimum annual purchase commitments that total an aggregate of $53.9 million, with $50.3 million due in 2016 and $3.6 million due in 2017.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 (in thousands):
 
   Payments due by period  

   Total    

Less 
than 
1 year    

1 to 3 
years    

4 to 5 
years    

More
than 

5 years  
   (in thousands)  
Notes payable   $ 32,085    $ 2,338    $ 4,664    $25,083    $ —    
Lease obligations    14,414     1,896     4,352     4,568     3,598  
Purchase obligations    53,900     50,275     3,625     —       —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $100,399    $54,509    $12,641    $29,651    $ 3,598  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Through December 31, 2015, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured finance or
special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited
purposes. For information regarding indemnification obligations, refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements within Part II, Item 8 of this Report.

Segment Information

We have one primary business activity and operate as one reportable segment.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to limited market risk related to fluctuations in interest rates and market prices. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate
sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital to
fund our operations.

We also seek to maximize income from our investments without assuming significant risk. To achieve our objectives, we maintain a portfolio of cash
equivalents and investments in a variety of securities of high credit quality. As of December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $87.0 million,
consisting of cash, money market funds and commercial paper, and investments of $106.6 million, consisting of commercial paper and treasury bonds. We
maintained investments in money market funds that were not federally insured during the year ended December 31, 2015 and held cash in foreign banks of
approximately $5.2 million and $4.3 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014 that was not federally insured. A portion of our investments may be subject to interest
rate risk and could fall in value if market interest rates increase. However, because our investments are primarily short-term in duration, we believe that our
exposure to interest rate risk is not significant. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial
instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. A hypothetical 1% change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

A significant portion of our business is located outside the United States and, as a result, we generate revenue and incur expenses denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, a majority of which is
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denominated in Euros and Australian Dollars. In the first half of 2015, and all of 2014 and 2013, nearly all of our total revenue was denominated in foreign
currencies. Our revenue and operating expenses are therefore subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the
Australian dollar, the Euro and the United Kingdom pound sterling. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize
transaction gains and losses in our statement of operations and comprehensive loss. We recognized net foreign currency transaction losses of $1.6 million, $1.7
million and $0.6 million, in the year ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. A hypothetical 10% favorable or unfavorable change in the weighted-
average foreign exchange rates for the year ended December 31, 2015 would have affected the Company’s net loss by approximately 5% for the year. To date, we
have not engaged in any foreign currency hedging transactions. As our international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to managing the
risks relating to fluctuations in currency rates.

We do not believe that inflation and change in prices had a significant impact on our results of operations for any periods presented in our consolidated
financial statements.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements, and the related notes thereto, of Nevro Corp. and the Report of the Company’s Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm are filed as a part of this Report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Nevro Corp.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, of convertible
preferred stock, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Nevro Corp. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2015 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated
Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s
management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under
Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits
(which was an integrated audit in 2015). We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 29, 2016
 

82



Table of Contents

Nevro Corp.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
  

December 31,
2015   

December 31,
2014  

Assets   
Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 87,036   $ 25,287  
Short-term investments   106,634    151,521  
Accounts receivable, net of doubtful accounts of $122 and $10 at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively   22,522    6,610  
Inventories   62,430    14,856  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,009    2,851  

   
 

   
 

Total current assets   282,631    201,125  
Property and equipment, net   5,794    647  
Other assets   1,852    424  
Restricted cash   906    300  

   
 

   
 

Total assets  $ 291,183   $ 202,496  
   

 

   

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity   
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable  $ 21,887   $ 4,460  
Accrued liabilities   14,381    6,268  
Other current liabilities   121    70  

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities   36,389    10,798  
Notes payable   19,740    19,511  
Other long-term liabilities   462    117  

   
 

   
 

Total liabilities   56,591    30,426  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)   
Stockholders’ equity   

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively; zero
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively   —      —    

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 290,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively;
28,143,573 and 24,865,491 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively   28    25  

Additional paid-in capital   424,147    293,945  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   (175)   77  
Accumulated deficit   (189,408)   (121,977) 

   
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity   234,592    172,070  
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 291,183   $ 202,496  
   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Nevro Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
   Years Ended December 31,  
   2015   2014   2013  
Revenue   $ 69,606   $ 32,573   $ 23,500  
Cost of revenue    28,120    11,278    9,473  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Gross profit    41,486    21,295    14,027  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses     
Research and development    21,382    19,824    20,345  
Sales, general and administrative    82,471    29,777    18,833  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    103,853    49,601    39,178  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from operations    (62,367)   (28,306)   (25,151) 
Interest income    575    (16)   153  
Interest expense    (2,732)   —      —    
Other income (expense), net    (1,741)   (1,880)   (654) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Loss before income taxes    (66,265)   (30,202)   (25,652) 
Provision for income taxes    1,166    478    362  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss    (67,431)   (30,680)   (26,014) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption value    —      (147)   (153) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders    (67,431)   (30,827)   (26,167) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):     

Changes in foreign currency translation adjustment    (178)   (147)   —    
Changes in gains (losses) on short-term investments, net    (74)   196    23  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net change in other comprehensive income (loss)    (252)   49    23  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive loss   $ (67,683)  $ (30,778)  $ (26,144) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   $ (2.54)  $ (6.94)  $ (29.84) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted-average number of common shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share    26,581,890    4,440,663    876,932  
    

 

   

 

   

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Nevro Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(in thousands, except share data)
 

 

 
 
 

Series A 
Convertible 

Preferred Stock

  
  
   

 
 
 
 

Series B and C 
Redeemable 
Convertible 

Preferred Stock

  
  
  
      Common Stock    

  
  
 

Additional
Paid-In 
Capital

  
  
  

   
 

Accumulated
Deficit

  
  

 

  
  
  
 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

  
  
  
  

 

  
  
  
 

Total 
Stockholders’

Equity 
(Deficit)

   
   
   
    Shares   Amount  Shares   Amount      Shares   Amount     

Balances at December 31, 2012   5,437,826   $ 47,217    5,450,578   $ 58,191      1,076,985   $ 1   $ 3,183   $ (64,983)  $ 5   $ (61,794) 
Issuance of Series C redeemable

convertible preferred stock in
February and March 2013 at $11.11
per share for cash, net of issuance
costs of $326,623   —      —      4,319,644    47,674      —      —      —      —      —      —    

Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock issuance costs   —      —      —      153      —      —      —      (153)   —      (153) 

Exercise of common stock options   —      —      —      —        43,431    —      111    —      —      111  
Vesting of early exercised stock

options   —      —      —      —        —      —      460    —      —      460  
Stock based compensation expense   —      —      —      —        —      —      1,577    —      —      1,577  
Net loss   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      (26,014)   —      (26,014) 
Other comprehensive income   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      —      23    23  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2013   5,437,826    47,217    9,770,222    106,018      1,120,416    1    5,331    (91,150)   28    (85,790) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible

preferred stock issuance costs   —      —      —      147      —      —      —      (147)   —      (147) 
Conversion of preferred stock to

common stock   (5,437,826)   (47,217)   (9,770,222)   (106,165)     15,208,048    15    153,367    —      —      153,382  
Issuance of common stock upon initial

public offering, net of issuance
costs   —      —      —      —        8,050,000    8    131,609    —      —      131,617  

Issuance of common stock in
connection with license agreement   —      —      —      —        20,833    —      523    —      —      523  

Exercise of common stock options   —      —      —      —        466,194    1    963    —      —      964  
Vesting of early exercised stock

options   —      —      —      —        —      —      154    —      —      154  
Stock based compensation expense   —      —      —      —        —      —      1,998    —      —      1,998  
Net loss   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      (30,680)   —      (30,680) 
Other comprehensive income   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      —      49    49  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2014   —      —      —      —        24,865,491    25    293,945    (121,977)   77    172,070  
Issuance of common stock upon

underwritten public offering, net of
issuance costs   —      —      —      —        2,470,587    3    118,436    —      —      118,439  

Exercise of common stock options   —      —      —      —        774,337    —      2,958    —      —      2,958  
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan   —      —      —      —        33,158    —      1,430    —      —      1,430  
Vesting of early exercised stock

options   —      —      —      —        —      —      53    —      —      53  
Stock based compensation expense   —      —      —      —        —      —      7,325    —      —      7,325  
Net loss   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      (67,431)   —      (67,431) 
Other comprehensive loss   —      —      —      —        —      —      —      —      (252)   (252) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at December 31, 2015   —     $ —      —     $ —        28,143,573   $ 28   $ 424,147   $ (189,408)  $ (175)  $ 234,592  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Nevro Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
 

   Years Ended December 31,   
   2015   2014   2013  
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss   $ (67,431)  $ (30,680)  $(26,014) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities     

Depreciation and amortization    614    96    47  
Provision for doubtful accounts    90    (172)   2  
Stock-based compensation expense    7,325    1,998    1,577  
Noncash research and development expense    —      523    —    
Amortization (accretion) of premium (discount) on short term investments    (458)   82    540  
Non-cash interest expense    231    11    —    
Write down of inventories    2,767    754    1,066  
Unrealized foreign currency transactions    (682)   —      —    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

Accounts receivable    (16,233)   167    (750) 
Inventories    (49,407)   (5,487)   (1,600) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    (1,197)   (1,337)   1,246  
Other assets    (1,432)   (204)   (138) 
Accounts payable    17,051    1,283    1,227  
Accrued liabilities    7,987    1,763    1,888  
Other long term liabilities    345    55    (186) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (100,430)   (31,148)   (21,095) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchases of short-term investments    (190,000)   (159,265)   (70,404) 
Proceeds from maturity of short-term investments    235,272    51,835    50,760  
Restricted cash    (606)   —      (200) 
Purchase of property and equipment    (5,008)   (625)   (55) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used) in investing activities    39,658    (108,055)   (19,899) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable    —      19,500    —    
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net    —      —      47,674  
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in public offering, net    118,439    131,617    —    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and exercise of stock options    4,388    964    111  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    122,827    152,081    47,785  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (306)   —      —    
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    61,749    12,878    6,791  
Cash and cash equivalents     
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    25,287    12,409    5,618  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 87,036   $ 25,287   $ 12,409  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:     
Cash paid for income taxes   $ 670   $ 243   $ 179  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash paid for interest   $ 2,332   $ —     $ —    
    

 
   

 
   

 

Significant non-cash transactions:     
Vesting of early exercised stock options   $ 53   $ 154   $ 460  

    

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

86



Table of Contents

Nevro Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Formation and Business of the Company

We were incorporated in Minnesota on March 10, 2006 to manufacture and market innovative active implantable medical devices for the treatment of
neurological disorders initially focusing on the treatment of chronic pain. Subsequently, we were reincorporated in Delaware on October 4, 2006 and relocated to
California.

Since inception, the Company has incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company
incurred a net loss of $67.4 million and used $100.4 million of cash in operations. At December 31, 2015, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $189.4
million and does not expect to experience positive cash flows in the near future. The Company has financed operations to date primarily through private placements
of equity securities, borrowings under a debt agreement, the issuance of common stock in the initial public offering completed in November 2014 and an
underwritten public offering in June 2015. The Company’s ability to continue to meet its obligations and to achieve its business objectives for the foreseeable
future is dependent upon, amongst other things, generating sufficient revenues and its ability to continue to control expenses, if necessary, to meet its obligations as
they become due. Failure to increase sales of its products, manage discretionary expenditures or raise additional financing, if required, may adversely impact the
Company’s ability to achieve its intended business objectives.

Public Offerings

In November 2014, the Company completed its initial public offering (IPO) of shares of its common stock and as a result, the following transactions were
recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements during the fourth quarter of 2014:
 

 
•  the sale of 8,050,000 shares of common stock, including 1,050,000 from the exercise by the underwriters of their overallotment option, at an offering

price of $18.00 per share, for net proceeds of $131.6 million, after deducting the underwriters’ discounts, commissions and estimated offering costs;
and

 

 •  immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all the outstanding shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock and convertible
preferred stock were converted into 15,208,048 shares of common stock.

In June 2015, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of its common stock, which included shares of its common stock held by certain of its
stockholders, and issued 2,470,587 shares of common stock, including 705,882 shares issued pursuant to the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to
purchase additional shares. The Company received cash proceeds of approximately $118.4 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering
costs paid by the Company.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (U.S. GAAP). The
consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated.

Segments

The chief operating decision maker for the Company is the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer reviews financial information presented on
a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by geographic region, for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.
The
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Company has one business activity and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operations, operating results or plans for levels or components
below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it has a single reportable and operating segment structure. The Company and its
Chief Executive Officer evaluate performance based primarily on revenue in the geographic locations in which the Company operates.

The Company historically derived most of its revenue from sales to customers in Australia and Europe. In May 2015, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) approved the Company’s premarket approval (PMA) application to market Senza in the United States and the Company launched sales in the United States
in 2015. Revenue by geography is based on the billing address of the customer. The following table sets forth revenue by geographic area for countries with
revenue accounting for more than 10% of the total revenue during the periods presented:
 

   Years ended December 31,  
   2015  2014   2013  
United States    35%   —  %   —  % 
Australia    20%   35%   30% 
United Kingdom    12%   18%   19% 
Germany    13%   17%   18% 

Long-lived assets and operating income outside the U.S. are not material; therefore disclosures have been limited to revenue.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in U.S. dollars (USD). Its foreign subsidiaries use their local currency as their functional
currency and maintain their records in the local currency. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into USD using the current
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and equity accounts are translated into USD using historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated using the
monthly average exchange rates during the period when the transaction occurs. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments from this process are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance sheets. Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses from the
remeasurement of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the reporting entity are recorded in other income (expense),
net. The Company recorded net unrealized foreign currency transaction gain of $0.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 and loss of $1.1 million and
$0.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Additionally, realized gains and losses resulting from transactions denominated in
currencies other than the local currency are recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company recorded realized
foreign currency transaction losses of $2.2 million, $0.6 million and $0.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As the Company’s international operations grow, its risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates will become greater, and the Company will continue
to reassess its approach to managing this risk. In addition, currency fluctuations or a weakening U.S. dollar can increase the costs of the Company’s international
expansion. To date, the Company has not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts. Based on its current international structure, the Company does not
plan on engaging in hedging activities in the near future.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant accounting estimates
and management judgments reflected in the consolidated financial statements include items such as allowances for
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doubtful accounts; stock-based compensation; depreciation and amortization lives; inventory valuation; valuation of investments and deferred tax assets, including
valuation allowances. Estimates are based on historical experience, where applicable, and other assumptions believed to be reasonable by the management. Actual
results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and investments. The majority
of the Company’s cash is held by one financial institution in the United States in excess of federally insured limits. The Company maintained investments in money
market funds that were not federally insured during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, and held cash in foreign banks of approximately $5.2 million
and $4.3 million at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, that was not federally insured. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash
and cash equivalents.

Through December 31, 2014, all of the Company’s revenue had been derived from sales of its products in international markets, principally Australia and
Europe. In May 2015, the Company launched sales in the United States upon receiving FDA approval to market and sell its products in the United States. In the
international markets in which the Company participates, the Company uses both a direct sales force and distributors to sell its products, while in the United States
the Company utilizes a direct sales force. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its direct customers and distributors, does not require collateral, and
maintains allowances for potential credit losses on customer accounts when deemed necessary.

There were no customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue for each of the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013.
There were no customers that accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. One customer
accounted for 11% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2013.

The Company is subject to risks common to medical device companies including, but not limited to, new technological innovations, dependence on key
personnel, protection of proprietary technology, compliance with government regulations, product liability, uncertainty of market acceptance of products, and the
need to obtain additional financing. The Company is dependent on third party manufacturers and suppliers, in some cases sole- or single-source suppliers.

There can be no assurance that the Company’s products or services will continue to be accepted in the marketplace, nor can there be any assurance that any
future products or services can be developed or manufactured at an acceptable cost and with appropriate performance characteristics, or that such products or
services will be successfully marketed, if at all.

The Company expects to incur substantial operating losses in the near term and may need to obtain additional financing. There can be no assurance that such
financing will be available or will be at terms acceptable by the Company.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, short term investments, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their relatively short maturities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include money market funds in the amount of $36.6 million and $10.6 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company’s cash equivalents were held in institutions in the U.S. and include commercial paper deposits in a
money market fund which were unrestricted as to withdrawal or use.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2015 consists of a letter of credit of $0.6 million representing collateral for the Company’s Redwood City building lease
pursuant to an agreement dated March 5, 2015 and certificates of deposit of $0.3 million collateralizing payment of charges related to the Company’s credit cards.
Restricted cash as of December 31, 2014 represents certificates of deposit of $0.3 million collateralizing payment of charges related to the Company’s credit cards.

Investment Securities

The Company classifies its investment securities as available-for-sale. Those investments with maturities less than 12 months at the date of purchase are
considered short-term investments. Those investments with maturities greater than 12 months at the date of purchase are considered long-term investments. The
Company’s investment securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value based upon quoted market prices at period end. Unrealized gains and
losses, deemed temporary in nature, are reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

A decline in the fair value of any security below cost that is deemed other than temporary results in a charge to earnings and the corresponding establishment
of a new cost basis for the security. Premiums (discounts) are amortized (accreted) over the life of the related security as an adjustment to yield using the straight-
line interest method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned. Realized gains and losses are included in earnings and are derived using the
specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost to purchase or manufacture the inventory or the market value of such inventory. Cost is determined using the
standard cost method which approximates the first-in, first-out basis. Market value is determined as the lower of replacement cost or net realizable value. The
Company regularly reviews inventory quantities in consideration of actual loss experiences, projected future demand, and remaining shelf life to record a provision
for excess and obsolete inventory when appropriate.

The Company’s policy is to write down inventory that has become obsolete, inventory that has a cost basis in excess of its expected net realizable value, and
inventory in excess of expected requirements. The estimate of excess quantities is subjective and primarily dependent on the Company’s estimates of future
demand for a particular product. If the estimate of future demand is inaccurate based on actual sales, the Company may increase the write down for excess
inventory for that component and record a charge to inventory impairment in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The
Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of inventory on hand for potential excess amount over demand using the same lower of cost or market approach
as that has been used to value the inventory. The Company also periodically evaluates inventory quantities in consideration of actual loss experience. As a result of
these evaluations, for the year ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized total write downs of $2.8 million, $0.8 million and $1.1 million
for its inventories. The Company’s estimation of the future demand for a particular component of the Company’s products may vary and may result in changes in
estimates in any particular period.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs are expensed as incurred and are included in cost of revenue.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria are met:
 

 •  persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
 

 •  the sales price is fixed or determinable;
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 •  collection of the relevant receivable is reasonably assured at the time of sale; and
 

 •  delivery has occurred or services have been rendered.

For a majority of sales, where the Company’s sales representative delivers its product at the point of implantation at hospitals or medical facilities, the
Company recognizes revenue upon completion of the procedure and authorization, which represents satisfaction of the required revenue recognition criteria. For
the remaining sales, which are sent from the Company’s distribution centers directly to hospitals and medical facilities, as well as distributor sales where product is
ordered in advance of an implantation procedure and a valid purchase order has been received, the Company recognizes revenue at the time of shipment of the
product, which represents the point in time when the customer has taken ownership and assumed the risk of loss and the required revenue recognition criteria are
satisfied. The Company’s customers are obligated to pay within specified terms regardless of when or if they ever sell or use the products. The Company does not
offer rights of return or price protection and it has no post-delivery obligations. The Company periodically provides incentive offers to customers. Product revenue
is recorded net of such incentive offers.

The Company has a limited one- to five-year warranty to most customers. Estimated warranty obligations are recorded at the time of sale, and warranty costs
have not been material to date.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation of property and equipment, other than leasehold
improvements, is computed using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives of three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the life of the lease. Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
operations as incurred.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset
group might not be recoverable. When such an event occurs, management determines whether there has been impairment by comparing the anticipated
undiscounted future net cash flows to the related asset group’s carrying value. If an asset is considered impaired, the asset is written down to fair value, which is
determined based either on discounted cash flows or appraised value, depending on the nature of the asset. There were no impairment charges, or changes in
estimated useful lives recorded through December 31, 2015.

Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements or income tax returns. In estimating future tax
consequences, expected future events other than enactments or changes in the tax law or rates are considered. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

The Company operates in various tax jurisdictions and is subject to audit by various tax authorities. To date, taxes paid have been predominantly due to
income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. The Company provides for tax contingencies whenever it is deemed probable that a tax asset
has been impaired or a tax liability has been incurred for events such as tax claims or changes in tax laws. Tax contingencies are based upon their technical merits,
relative tax law, and the specific facts and circumstances as of each reporting period. Changes in facts and circumstances could result in material changes to the
amounts recorded for such tax contingencies.
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The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) a determination is made as to whether it is more likely than not
that the tax positions will be sustained based on the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax
authority. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. No interest or penalties
related to income taxes have been recognized in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss in 2015 and 2014.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) represents all changes in stockholders’ equity except those resulting from distributions to stockholders. The Company’s
unrealized gains on short-term available-for-sale investment securities and foreign currency translation adjustments represent the components of other
comprehensive income (loss) that are excluded from the reported net loss and are presented in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses, including new product development, regulatory compliance, and clinical research, are charged to operations as incurred
in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Such costs include personnel-related costs, including stock-based compensation, supplies,
services, depreciation, allocated facilities and information services, clinical trial and related clinical manufacturing expenses, fees paid to investigative sites, and
other indirect costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation arrangements with employees in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 718, C
ompensation—Stock
Compensation
. ASC 718 requires the recognition of compensation expense, using a fair value-based method, for costs related to all share-
based payments including stock options.

The Company’s determination of the fair value of stock options on the date of grant utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and is impacted by its
common stock price as well as changes in assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited
to, the expected term that options will remain outstanding, the expected common stock price volatility over the term of the option awards, risk-free interest rates
and expected dividends.

The fair value is recognized over the period during which an optionee is required to provide services in exchange for the option award, known as the
requisite service period (usually the vesting period) on a straight-line basis. Stock-based compensation expense recognized at fair value includes the impact of
estimated forfeitures. The Company estimates future forfeitures at the date of grant and revises the estimates, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Equity instruments issued to non-employees are recorded at their fair value on the measurement date and are subject to periodic adjustments as the
underlying equity instruments vest. The fair value of options granted to consultants is expensed when vested. The non-employee stock-based compensation expense
was not material for all periods presented.

Estimating the fair value of equity-settled awards as of the grant date using valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, is affected by
assumptions regarding a number of complex variables. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the fair value and ultimately how much stock-based
compensation expense is recognized. These inputs are subjective and generally require significant analysis and
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judgment to develop. For all stock options granted to date, we estimated the volatility data based on a study of publicly traded industry peer companies. For
purposes of identifying these peer companies, we considered the industry, stage of development, size and financial leverage of potential comparable companies.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues similar in duration to the expected term of the equity-settled award.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation for the restricted stock units at their fair value, based on the closing market price of the Company’s
common stock on the grant date. These costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting term of four
years.

The Company recognizes a benefit from stock-based compensation as additional paid-in capital if an incremental tax benefit is realized by following the
with-and-without approach.

Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. For purposes
of the diluted net loss per share calculation, redeemable convertible preferred stock and common stock options are considered to be potentially dilutive securities.
Because the Company has reported a net loss in all periods presented, diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for those
periods.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-12, Accounting
for
Share-Based
Payments
When
the
Terms
of
an
Award
Provide
That
a
Performance
Target
Could
Be
Achieved
after
the
Requisite
Service
Period
. ASU 2014-12 requires that a
performance target that affects vesting and could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. ASU 2014-12 is effective for
the Company in its first quarter of 2016 with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect its pending adoption of ASU 2014-12 to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure
of
Uncertainties
About
an
Entity’s
Ability
to
Continue
as
a
Going
Concern
. The new
standard provides guidance around management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide related footnote disclosures. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory
(Topic
330):
Simplifying
the
Measurement
of
Inventory
, which permits companies to measure
inventory at the lower of cost and realizable value. ASU 2015-11 applies to all business entities and is effective for public business entities for annual periods, and
interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating whether
the adoption of ASU 2015-11 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Interest—Imputation
of
Interest
(Subtopic
835-30):
Simplifying
the
Presentation
of
Debt
Issuance
Costs
,
which requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the
related debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. ASU 2015-03 applies to all business entities and is effective
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for public business entities for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company does not expect that the adoption of ASU 2015-03 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. In August 2015, the FASB
issued ASU No. 2015-15, Interest—Imputation
of
Interest
(Subtopic
835-30):
Presentation
and
Subsequent
Measurement
of
Debt
Issuance
Costs
Associated
With
Line-of-Credit
Arrangements—Amendments
to
SEC
Paragraphs
Pursuant
to
Staff
Announcement
at
June
18,
2015
EITF
Meeting
, which clarified that the SEC
would not object to an entity deferring and presenting debt issuance costs as an asset and subsequently amortizing the deferred debt issuance costs ratably over the
term of the line-of-credit arrangement. The Company does not expect that the adoption of ASU 2015-03 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
(Topic
606)
, which supersedes the revenue recognition
requirements in ASC 605, Revenue
Recognition
. This ASU is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The ASU also requires
additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments
and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. In August 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
(Topic
606):
Deferral
of
the
Effective
Date
, which effectively delayed the adoption date by one year, to an effective date for public
entities for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company has not determined the potential effects of this ASU on its consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Balance
Sheet
Classification
of
Deferred
Taxes
to simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes.
The amendments in this update require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The
Company has elected to early adopt ASU 2015-17 as of the beginning of our fourth quarter ended December 31, 2015 on a prospective basis. There is no impact to
the balance sheet amounts as a result of early adoption.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Recognition
and
Measurement
of
Financial
Assets
and
Financial
Liabilities
, which addresses certain
aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 is effective for annual periods, and interim periods within
those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company has not determined the potential effects of this ASU on its consolidated financial
statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 - Leases
(ASC 842), which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e. lessees and lessors). The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either
finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine
whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, respectively. A lessee is also
required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of their classification. Leases with a term
of 12 months or less will be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. ASC 842 supersedes the previous leases standard, ASC 840
Leases
. The standard is effective on January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value
must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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The fair value hierarchy defines a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:
 

 •  Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 

 •  Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active,
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

 

 •  Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Cash Equivalents and Short Term Investments

The Company’s cash equivalents are comprised of investments in money market funds that are classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. To value its
money market funds, the Company values the funds at $1 stable net asset value, which is the quoted price in active markets for identical assets that the Company
has the ability to access. The Company’s short-term investments are comprised of commercial paper, corporate notes and U.S. government agency obligations. All
short-term investments have been classified within Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because of the sufficient observable inputs for revaluation. The
Company’s Level 2 investments are valued using third-party pricing sources. The pricing services utilize industry standard valuation models, including both
income and market-based approaches, for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly, to estimate fair value. These inputs include
reported trades of any broker/dealer quotes on the same or similar investments, issuer credit spreads, benchmark investments, prepayment/default projections based
on historical data and other observable inputs. The following table sets forth the Company’s financial instruments that were measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, by level, within the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):
 

Balance as of December 31, 2015   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Assets:         
Money market funds (i)   $36,559    $ —      $ —      $ 36,559  
Commercial paper (ii)    —       129,206     —       129,206  
Treasury bonds (ii)    10,617       —       10,617  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $47,176    $129,206    $ —      $176,382  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Balance as of December 31, 2014   Level 1    Level 2    Level 3   Total  
Assets:         
Money market funds (i)   $10,590    $ —      $ —      $ 10,590  
Commercial paper (ii)    —       140,484     —       140,484  
Corporate notes (ii)    —       19,037     —       19,037  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $10,590    $159,521    $ —      $170,111  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(i) Included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets.
(ii) Included in either cash and cash equivalents or short-term investments on the consolidated balance sheets.
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4. Balance Sheet Components

Investments

The fair value of the Company’s cash equivalents and short-term investments approximates their respective carrying amounts due to their short-term
maturity. The following is a summary of the gross unrealized gains and unrealized losses on the Company’s investment securities (in thousands):
 

   December 31, 2015  

   
Amortized 

Cost    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Gains    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses    

Aggregate 
Fair Value 

Investment Securities         
Commercial paper (i)   $ 129,075    $ 131    $ —      $ 129,206  
Treasury bonds    10,616     1     —       10,617  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total securities   $ 139,691    $ 132    $ —      $ 139,823  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(i) Includes $33.2 million of commercial paper that is classified as cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet.
 

   December 31, 2014  

   
Amortized 

Cost    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Gains    

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses    

Aggregate 
Fair Value 

Investment Securities         
Commercial paper (i)   $ 140,273    $ 211    $ —      $ 140,484  
Corporate notes    19,040     —       (3)    19,037  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total securities   $ 159,313    $ 211    $ (3)   $ 159,521  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(i) Includes $8.0 million of commercial paper that is classified as cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet.

Realized gains or losses from the sale of investments and other-than-temporary impairments, if any, on available-for-sale securities are reported in other
income (expense), net as incurred. The cost of securities sold was determined based on the specific identification method. The Company has not recorded any
realized gains, realized losses or impairment on its investments during the periods presented.

The contractual maturities of the Company’s investment securities were all within one year as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Inventories, Net (in thousands)
 

   December 31  
   2015    2014  
Raw materials   $37,096    $ 7,960  
Finished goods    25,334     6,896  

    
 

    
 

  $62,430    $14,856  
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Property and Equipment, Net (in thousands)
 

   December 31  
   2015    2014  
Laboratory equipment   $ 921    $ 390  
Computer equipment and software    1,836     125  
Furniture and fixtures    1,752     112  
Leasehold improvements    1,188     22  
Construction in process    799     333  

    
 

    
 

Total    6,496     982  
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization    (702)    (335) 

    
 

    
 

Property and equipment, net   $5,794    $ 647  
    

 

    

 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $614,000, $96,000 and $47,000, respectively.

Accrued Liabilities (in thousands)
 

   December 31  
   2015    2014  
Accrued payroll and related expenses   $ 9,857    $4,268  
Accrued professional fees    583     184  
Accrued taxes    2,044     998  
Accrued clinical and research expenses    405     427  
Accrued other    1,492     391  

    
 

    
 

Total accrued liabilities   $14,381    $6,268  
    

 

    

 

5. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

In February 2015, the Company entered into a lease agreement for approximately 50,000 square feet of office space located in Redwood City, California for
a period beginning in June 2015 through May 2022 with initial annual payments of approximately $2.0 million, increasing to $2.4 million annually during the final
year of the lease term.

The Company entered into a non-cancellable operating lease effective May 1, 2010 for facilities in Menlo Park, as amended in 2012 to extend the period of
the lease until May 31, 2015. In March 2015, the Company extended the lease through September 30, 2015, at which time the lease terminated. In August 2014, the
Company entered into a new facility lease for warehouse space beginning on August 21, 2014 through May 31, 2015, under which it is obligated to pay
approximately $100,000 in lease payments over the term of the lease. In March 2015, the Company extended the warehouse lease through February 2017 under
which it is obligated to pay approximately $0.3 million in lease payments over the remaining term of the lease.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $1.9 million, $0.7 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Operating

Leases  
Year ending December 31,   
2016   $ 1,896  
2017    2,167  
2018    2,185  
2019    2,250  
2020    2,318  
Thereafter    3,598  

    
 

  $ 14,414  
    

 

Supply Agreements

In 2015, the Company entered into supply agreements with certain of the Company’s suppliers that required aggregate upfront payments of $1.8 million,
along with certain minimum annual purchase commitments that total an aggregate of $53.9 million, with $50.3 million due in 2016 and $3.6 million due in 2017.

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business activities. The Company accrues a
liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. There have been no
contingent liabilities requiring accrual or disclosure at December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Indemnification

The Company enters into standard indemnification arrangements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these arrangements, the Company
indemnifies, holds harmless, and agrees to reimburse the indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, in connection with any trade
secret, copyright, patent or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third-party with respect to the Company’s technology. The term of these
indemnification agreements is generally perpetual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these
agreements is not determinable because it involves claims that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made.

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and officers that may require the Company to indemnify its directors and
officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from willful misconduct of the
individual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited;
however, the Company has director and officer insurance coverage that reduces the Company’s exposure and enables the Company to recover a portion of any
future amounts paid. The Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal.

The Company has not incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. No liability associated with such
indemnifications has been recorded to date.
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License Agreement

In March 2006, the Company entered into an amended and restated license agreement with the Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research
(Mayo) and Venturi Group LLC (VGL), which provides the Company access to the certain know how and licensed patents owned by Mayo and VGL for treatment
of central, autonomic and peripheral nervous system disorders, including pain, using devices to modulate nerve signaling. The licenses granted are exclusive and
the Company has the right to sub-license. The agreement will terminate upon the last to expire patent application, unless terminated earlier. The agreement can be
terminated any time after three years from March 2006 by Mayo or VGL.

Per terms of the license, the Company is required to pay royalties based on the greater of earned royalty or minimum royalty. The earned royalty will be
based on a percentage of net sales of licensed products either by the Company or the sub-licensee. The minimum royalty payment will be based on royalty periods
as defined in the agreement.

In March 2011, the Company entered into a Phase II License Agreement with Mayo which provides the Company access to the certain know how and
licensed patents owned by Mayo. The licenses granted are exclusive and the Company has the right to sub-license. The agreement will terminate upon the last to
expire patent application, unless terminated earlier.

Per terms of the license, the Company is required to:
 

 •  Pay a retainer fee of $40,000 per annum starting March 2011 and ending February 2013;
 

 •  Pay royalties based on the greater of earned royalty or minimum royalty. The earned royalty will be based on a percentage of net sales of licensed
products either by the Company or the sub-licensee. The minimum annual royalty payment is $200,000.

Retainer fees paid and recognized as research and development expenses during the year ended December 31, 2013 was $18,000. Royalties paid during the
years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 were $0.6 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

In November 2014, the Company issued Mayo 20,833 shares of common stock owed in connection with the IPO pursuant to the terms of the license, and
recorded noncash research and development expense of $0.5 million for the fair value of the shares on the date of issuance.

6. Notes Payable

Capital Royalty Term Loan

On October 24, 2014, the Company entered into a credit facility (the “credit facility”) with Capital Royalty Partners and certain of its affiliates (the
“lenders”) under which, subject to certain conditions, the Company may enter into three term loan agreements totaling $50.0 million with the lenders on or before
September 30, 2015. Under the credit facility, each term loan is to be paid over 24 quarterly payment periods, with the first payment due on the last day of the
calendar quarter during the period for which the term loan is made. The first twelve quarterly payments will be interest only payments, and the last twelve quarterly
payments will be equal installments in which interest and principal amounts are paid. Interest is calculated at a fixed rate of 11.5% per annum. During the interest
only period for the first twelve quarterly payments under each term loan, the Company may elect to make the 11.5% interest payment by making a cash payment
for the 8.0% per annum of interest and making a payment in kind for the remaining amount, for which the 3.5% per annum of interest would be added to the
outstanding principal amount of the loans. The Company has initially chosen not to elect the payment in kind option. The final payment will also include an
additional amount for closing and repayment fees equivalent to 5% of the term loan agreement. The Company entered into the first term loan for $20.0 million on
December 12, 2014, and incurred closing fees of $0.5 million. Under the original agreement, the Company was eligible to enter into a second term loan for a
principal amount of $10.0 million on or prior to March 31, 2015 and a third term loan for a principal amount of $20.0 million on or prior to September 30, 2015, in
each case,
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upon meeting certain conditions. In March 2015, the Company entered into a First Amendment under its credit facility with Capital Royalty Partners to extend the
draw-down deadline of the second draw from March 31, 2015 to June 29, 2015. In June 2015, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to extend the draw-
down deadline of the second draw from June 29, 2015 to September 30, 2015. In 2015, the Company met the deadline to satisfy certain conditions precedent on or
prior to September 30, 2016, such that the interest only period on the first draw was extended so that the outstanding principal amount of the term loans will be
payable in a single installment at maturity (the 24th quarterly payment date after the first borrowing). The credit facility contains customary events of default,
including in the event of bankruptcy or upon the occurrence of a material adverse change. The Company’s obligations under the credit facility are collateralized by
substantially all of its assets, including its intellectual property. As of September 30, 2015, the Company did not elect to enter into the second or third draw, and the
option to do so expired as of September 30, 2015.

The credit facility includes affirmative and negative covenants, including certain minimum financial covenants for pre-specified liquidity and revenue
requirements. In particular, the Company is required to maintain a minimum of $5.0 million of cash and certain cash equivalents, and the Company must achieve
minimum revenue of $25.0 million in 2015, $30.0 million in 2016, $40.0 million in 2017, $50.0 million in 2018 and $70.0 million in 2019. In addition, the credit
facility prohibits the payment of cash dividends on the Company’s capital stock and also places restrictions on mergers, sales of assets, investments, incurrence of
liens, incurrence of indebtedness and transactions with affiliates. As of December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants.

As of December 31, 2015, future minimum payments for the notes are as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Term 
Loans  

Year ending December 31,   
2016   $ 2,338  
2017    2,332  
2018    2,332  
2019    2,332  
2020 and beyond    22,751  

    
 

Total minimum payments    32,085  
Less: Amount representing interest    (11,085) 
Less: Amount representing closing and repayment fees    (1,000) 

    
 

Present value of minimum payments    20,000  
Less: Unamortized debt discount    (409) 
Plus: Accretion of closing and repayment fees    149  

    
 

Notes payable, net    19,740  
Less: Notes payable, current portion    —    

    
 

Non-current portion of notes payable   $ 19,740  
    

 

7. Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the initial public offering, the Company had outstanding 15,208,048 shares of convertible preferred stock. Each share of preferred stock was
convertible to one share of common stock. Upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on November 11, 2014, all shares of outstanding redeemable
convertible preferred stock were automatically converted to 15,208,048 shares of the Company’s common stock.

The Company recorded the Series B and C redeemable convertible preferred stock at fair value on the dates of issuance. The Company classified the Series B
and C redeemable convertible preferred stock outside of stockholders’ deficit because the shares contain liquidation features that are not solely within the
Company’s control. The Series B and C redeemable convertible preferred shares were originally issued with a contingent
 

100



Table of Contents

redemption feature, which allowed the holders to redeem their shares five years following the issuance date of the Series B and C redeemable preferred shares.
Accordingly, the Company accreted the Series B and C redeemable convertible preferred stock for change in redemption value with a charge to accumulated deficit
at the end of each reporting period. Accordingly, the Company has accreted $0.1 million and $0.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

8. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Plans

The Company’s Board of Directors, or Board, and stockholders previously approved the 2007 Stock Option Plan (the “2007 Plan”). In October 2014, the
Board adopted the 2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan (the “2014 Plan” and, together with the 2007 Plan, the “Stock Plans”). As of the effective date of the 2014
Plan, the Company suspended the 2007 Plan and no additional awards may be granted under the 2007 Plan. Any shares of common stock covered by awards
granted under the 2007 Plan that terminate after the effective date of the 2014 Plan by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation or other means without the issuance of
such shares, will be added to the 2014 Plan reserve.

Under the 2014 Plan, 1,854,166 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance, plus the number of shares remaining available for future awards
under the 2007 Plan, as of the pricing of the IPO. The number of shares initially reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan is subject to increase by (i) the number
of shares represented by awards outstanding under the 2007 Plan that are forfeited or lapse unexercised and which following the pricing date are not issued under
the 2007 Plan, and (ii) an annual increase on January 1 of each year. As of December 31, 2015, an aggregate of 1,856,709 shares of common stock were reserved
for issuance under these stock plans.

Options granted under the 2014 Plan may be either incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock awards or stock appreciation rights.
Incentive stock options (ISO) may be granted only to Company employees (including directors who are also employees). Nonqualified stock options (NSO) may be
granted to Company employees, directors and consultants. Upon the exercise of options, the Company issues new common stock from its authorized shares.
Options under the 2014 Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years and at prices no less than 100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of
grant as determined by the Board, provided, however, that the exercise price of an ISO or an NSO granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be less than 110% of the
estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant. The vesting provisions of individual options may vary but provide for vesting of at least 20% per year.

A summary of shares available for grant under the Stock Plans is as follows:
 

Balances at December 31, 2012    364,820  
Additional shares reserved    1,014,289  
Options granted    (915,458) 
Options cancelled    117,934  

    
 

Balances at December 31, 2013    581,585  
Additional shares reserved    1,854,166  
Options granted    (753,102) 
Options cancelled    12,767  

    
 

Balances at December 31, 2014    1,695,416  
Additional shares reserved    994,619  
Options granted    (970,238) 
Options cancelled    142,072  
Restricted stock granted    (5,450) 
Restricted stock cancelled    290  

    
 

Balances at December 31, 2015    1,856,709  
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A summary of stock option activity under the Stock Plans is as follows:
 
   Options Outstanding    Weighted- 

Average 
Remaining 
Contractual

Term  

    

   
Number of 

Shares   

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price      

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value  
          (in years)    (in thousands) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2012    1,977,869   $ 2.65     8.4    $ 1,741  
Options granted    915,458   $ 3.60      
Options exercised    (43,431)  $ 2.64      
Options cancelled    (117,934)  $ 3.60      

    
 

     

Outstanding at December 31, 2013    2,731,962   $ 2.88     8.0    $ 1,655  
Options granted    753,102   $ 13.50      
Options exercised    (498,565)  $ 2.26      
Options cancelled    (12,767)  $ 3.60      

    
 

     

Outstanding at December 31, 2014    2,973,732   $ 5.77     7.9    $ 97,832  
Options granted    970,238   $ 50.16      
Options exercised    (751,610)  $ 3.87      
Options cancelled    (142,072)  $ 19.08      

    
 

     

Outstanding at December 31, 2015    3,050,288   $ 19.74     7.8    $ 145,721  
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2015    1,389,211   $ 6.50     6.6    $ 84,753  
Options vested, exercisable, or expected to vest December 31, 2015    2,841,664   $ 18.48     7.7    $ 139,320  

    

 

     

The options outstanding and vested under the Stock Plans by exercise price, at December 31, 2015, are as follows:
 

Options Outstanding    Options Vested  

Exercise 
Price   

Number 
Outstanding   

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual

Life (in 
Years)    

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price    
Number 

Exercisable   

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
           (in thousands)         
$0.96 - $1.92    244,493     4.12    $ 1.52     244,493    $ 1.52  
$3.60 - $3.60    1,446,794     6.98     3.60     950,163    $ 3.60  
$10.08 - $38.79    688,848     8.90     25.81     172,581    $ 23.45  
$41.83 - $53.70    375,053     9.31     48.49     15,845    $ 50.89  
$63.23 - $63.23    295,100     9.92     63.23     6,129    $ 63.23  

    
 

      
 

    
 

  

$0.96 - $63.23    3,050,288     7.76    $ 19.74     1,389,211    $ 6.50  
    

 

      

 

    

 

  

The aggregate pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, was $42.4 million, $68,000 and
$45,000, respectively. The intrinsic value is the difference between the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of exercise and the exercise
price for in-the-money options. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was
$25.06, $11.33, and $1.92 per share, respectively.
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A summary of restricted stock units (RSUs) under the Stock Plans is as follows:
 

   
Number of

Shares    

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding at December 31, 2014    —      $ —    
Restricted stock granted    5,450    $ 56.47  
Restricted stock cancelled    (290)   $ 62.23  

    
 

    
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2015    5,160    $ 56.09  
    

 
    

 

The Company began granting RSUs in 2015. As of December 31, 2015, there were no restricted stock vested. Based on the closing price per share of the
Company’s common stock of $67.51 on the last trading day in 2015, the total pre-tax intrinsic value of the outstanding restricted stock units as of December 31,
2015 was $0.3 million.

2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In October 2014, the Board adopted the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP). A total of 196,666 shares of common stock were initially available
for future issuance under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, subject to an annual increase on January 1 of each year. As of December 31, 2015, 412,162 of
common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 33,158 shares of common stock had been issued under this plan.

Early Exercises

Stock options previously granted under the 2007 Plan allowed the Board of Directors to grant awards to provide employee option holders the right to elect to
exercise unvested options in exchange for restricted common stock. Unvested shares, which amounted to 14,863 at December 31, 2015, and 29,613 at
December 31, 2014, and 57,202 at December 31, 2013, were subject to a repurchase right held by the Company at the original issue price in the event the
optionees’ employment was terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily. For exercises of employee options, this right lapses according to the vesting schedule
designated on the associated option grant. The repurchase terms are considered to be a forfeiture provision. The shares purchased by the employees pursuant to the
early exercise of stock options are not deemed to be issued or outstanding for accounting purposes until those shares vest, though they are legally issued and
outstanding. In addition, cash received from employees for exercise of unvested options is treated as a refundable deposit shown as a liability on the consolidated
balance sheets. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 cash received related to unvested shares totaled $54,000 and $0.1 million, respectively. Amounts recorded are
transferred into common stock and additional paid-in-capital as the shares vest.

Other

In March 2011, the Company issued 416,983 common shares under a restricted stock agreement to one of the officers of the Company at a purchase price of
$1.44 per share. Under the terms of the agreement, the holder was entitled to purchase the shares in exchange for a promissory note. All the shares were purchased
in March 2011 in exchange for a promissory note aggregating to $0.6 million. The restricted stock agreement granted the Company repurchase rights which lapsed
upon attainment of full vesting by the stockholder. The restricted common shares vested 33% one year from the vesting start date and monthly thereafter over the
next two years. The note bore interest at 0.54% per annum compounded annually. The principal amount of the note along with accrued interest was discharged on a
quarterly basis in arrears on a pro rata basis over a period of three years conditioned upon the holder continuing to provide services to the Company. The Company
accounted for the grant of the restricted common stock as stock-based compensation based on the fair value of the shares on the original grant date, and recognized
expense over the three-year vesting period. The Company recorded stock-
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based compensation expenses of $48,000 and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, zero
and 34,749 shares of common stock were subject to repurchase by the Company, respectively.

Employee Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for restricted stock units at their fair value, based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date.

The Company estimated the fair value of stock options granted to employees and shares purchased by employees under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes
option valuation model. The fair value is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards. The following assumptions were used in
estimating the fair value:
 
   Options   ESPP
   Years Ended December 31,   Years Ended December 31,
   2015   2014   2013   2015   2014   2013
Expected term (in years)   5.3 - 6.1   5.3 - 6.1   5.9 - 6.1   0.5   —    —  
Expected volatility   46% - 59%   57% - 63%   62% - 63%   42% - 64%   —    —  
Risk-free interest rate   1.4% - 1.8%   1.7% - 2.0%   1.1% - 1.8%   0.1% - 0.3%   —    —  
Dividend yield   0%   0%   0%   0%   —    —  

Expected
Term.
The expected term of stock-based awards represents the weighted-average period that the stock-based awards are expected to remain
outstanding. The Company has opted to use the “simplified method” for estimating the expected term of the awards, whereby the expected term equals the
arithmetic average of the vesting term and the original contractual term of the awards.

Expected
Volatility.
The Company determined the share price volatility for stock-based awards based on an analysis of the historical volatilities of a peer
group of publicly traded medical device companies. In evaluating similarity, the Company considered factors such as industry, stage of life cycle and size. In future
periods, the Company expects to utilize its own stock trading volatility to determine stock based compensation expense.

Risk-Free
Interest
Rate.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time of the grant for zero-coupon U.S. Treasury notes
with remaining terms similar to the expected term of the stock-based awards.

Dividend
Rate.
The expected dividend was assumed to be zero as the Company has never paid dividends and has no current plans to do so.

Expected
Forfeiture
Rate.
The Company is required to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant, and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense
only for those awards that are expected to vest. To the extent actual forfeitures differ from the estimates, the difference will be recorded as a cumulative adjustment
in the period that the estimates are revised.

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $7.3 million, $2.0 million and $1.6
million, respectively. The stock-based compensation expense includes costs for ESPP of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company did not
have ESPP costs in prior years.

As of December 31, 2015, total stock-based compensation not yet recognized related to unvested stock options grants was $20.5 million, net of estimated
forfeitures, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average amortization period of 2.7 years.
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As of December 31, 2015, total stock-based compensation not yet recognized related to ESPP was $0.5 million, net of estimated forfeitures, and is expected
to be recognized over a weighted average amortization period of 0.4 years.

As of December 31, 2015, total stock-based compensation not yet recognized related to RSUs was $0.2 million, net of estimated forfeitures, and is expected
to be recognized over a weighted-average amortization period of 3.9 years.

9. Income Taxes

The components of the Company’s income (loss) before income taxes were as follows:
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013  
   (in thousands)  
Domestic   $(68,919)   $ (31,807)   $ (26,574) 
Foreign    2,654     1,605     922  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total income (loss) before income taxes   $(66,265)   $ (30,202)   $ (25,652) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

The components of income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013  
Current:       

Federal   $ —      $ —      $ —    
State    34     2     (6) 
Foreign    1,132     476     368  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current    1,166     478     362  
Deferred:       

Federal    —       —       —    
State    —       —       —    
Foreign    —       —       —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total deferred    —       —       —    
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total income tax expense   $ 1,166    $ 478    $ 362  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Income tax expense differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2015   2014   2013  
Tax at statutory federal rate    34.0%   34.0%   34.0% 
State tax, net of federal benefit    0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 
Other    (3.5)%   (5.3)%   (3.4)% 
Foreign rate differential    (0.5)%   0.2%   (0.2)% 
Tax credits    1.6%   2.0%   4.2% 
Change in valuation allowance    (33.4)%   (32.5)%   (36.0)% 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total    (1.8)%   (1.6)%   (1.4)% 
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The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

   Years Ended December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013  
   (in thousands)  
Net operating loss carryforwards   $ 56,340    $ 37,977    $ 29,491  
Tax credits    5,236     3,713     2,937  
Depreciation    13     29     8  
Stock-based compensation    1,857     471     371  
Accruals and reserves    3,617     1,215     1,363  
Other    313     262     98  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Deferred tax assets    67,376     43,667     34,268  
Other    (345)    —       —    

    
 

    
 

    
 

Deferred tax liabilities    (345)    —       —    
Valuation allowance    (67,031)    (43,667)    (34,268) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net deferred tax assets   $ —      $ —      $ —    
    

 

    

 

    

 

The Company has established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding realization of these assets.

The Company’s deferred tax assets do not include the excess tax benefit related to stock-based compensation that are a component of its federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards in the amount of $28.4 million as of December 31, 2015. The excess tax benefit reflected in the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards will be accounted for as a credit to stockholders’ equity, if and when realized. In determining if and when excess tax benefits have been realized, the
Company has elected to utilize the with-and-without approach with respect to such excess tax benefits.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax
assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance increased by $23.4 million, $9.4 million and $10.0 million for the years ending
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $187.8
million and $73.2 million, respectively. The federal NOLs begin expiring in 2026, and the state NOLs begin expiring in 2016.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $4.1 million and $3.1 million for federal and
California state income tax purposes, respectively. The federal credit carryforward begins expiring in 2026, and the state credits carry forward indefinitely.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Company’s ability to utilize NOLs or other tax attributes such as research tax
credits, in any taxable year may be limited if the Company experiences, or has experienced, an “ownership change.” A Section 382 “ownership change” generally
occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders, who own at least 5% of the Company’s stock, increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage
points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. As a result of the Company’s June
2015 underwritten public offering, the Company experienced a Section 382 “ownership change.” The Company currently estimates that this “ownership change”
will not inhibit its ability to utilize its NOLs. The Company may, in the future, experience one or more additional Section 382 “ownership changes.” If so, the
Company may not be able to utilize a material portion of its NOLs and tax credits, even if the Company achieves profitability.
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The earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are not considered permanently reinvested. As a result, the Company has provided for residual U.S. tax
on its foreign subsidiary unremitted earnings net of a foreign tax credit deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2015. The net amount of deferred tax liability is
considered insignificant. The timing of the potential remittance of these earning is uncertain at December 31, 2015.

The Company had unrecognized tax benefits (“UTBs”) of approximately $3.8 million as of December 31, 2015. All of the deferred tax assets associated with
these UTBs are fully offset by a valuation allowance. The following table summarizes the activity related to UTBs (in thousands):
 

Balance at January 1, 2013   $ 654  
Increases related to current year tax provisions    228  
Increases related to prior year tax provisions    183  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2013    1,065  
Increases related to current year tax provisions    220  
Increases related to prior year tax provisions    677  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2014    1,962  
Increases related to current year tax provisions    813  
Increases related to prior year tax provisions    1,069  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2015   $3,844  
    

 

All of these UTBs, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate before consideration of the valuation allowance.

In accordance with ASC 740, Income
Taxes
, the Company is classifying interest and penalties as a component of tax expense. There was no interest or
penalties accrued at December 31, 2015, December 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013.

The Company files U.S. federal and state income tax and foreign income tax returns with varying statues of limitations. The Company’s tax years from
inception in 2006 will remain open to examination due to the carryover of the unused NOLs and tax credits. The Company does not have any tax audits or other
proceedings pending.

The Company does not expect any material changes to the estimated amount of liability associated with its uncertain tax positions within the next twelve
months.
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10. Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The following table summarizes the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders of the Company (in thousands,
except share and per share data):
 

   Years ended December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013  
Net loss   $ (67,431)   $ (30,680)   $ (26,014) 
Accretion of convertible preferred stock to redemption value    —       (147)    (153) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders-basic and diluted   $ (67,431)   $ (30,827)   $ (26,167) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Weighted-average shares outstanding    26,603,512     4,486,569     1,090,731  
Less: weighted average shares subject to repurchase    (21,622)    (45,906)    (213,799) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted net
loss per share    26,581,890     4,440,663     876,932  

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted   $ (2.54)   $ (6.94)   $ (29.84) 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period,
determined using the treasury-stock method and the as-if converted method, for convertible securities, if inclusion of these is dilutive. Because the Company has
reported a net loss for all periods presented, diluted net loss per common share is the same as basic net loss per common share for those periods.

The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding at the end of the periods presented have been excluded from the computation of diluted shares
outstanding:
 

   December 31,  
   2015    2014    2013  
Preferred stock    —       —       15,208,048  
Options to purchase common stock    3,050,288     2,973,732     2,748,367  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    3,050,288     2,973,732     17,956,415  
    

 

    

 

    

 

11. Employee Benefit Plan.

In 2007, the Company adopted a 401(K) plan for its employees whereby eligible employees may contribute up to the maximum amount permitted by the
Internal Revenue Code. Under the Plan, the Company does not provide matching contributions to employees.
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12. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
 

  Three Months Ended  

  
December 31,

2015   
September 30,

2015   
June 30, 

2015   
March 31, 

2015  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  
Total revenue  $ 33,124   $ 15,402   $ 11,418   $ 9,662  
Gross profit  $ 20,353   $ 9,434   $ 5,910   $ 5,789  
Loss from operations  $ (13,144)  $ (17,709)  $ (19,175)  $ (12,339) 
Net loss  $ (14,191)  $ (19,454)  $ (19,726)  $ (14,060) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption

value  $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —    
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (14,191)  $ (19,454)  $ (19,726)  $ (14,060) 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and

diluted  $ (0.51)  $ (0.70)  $ (0.77)  $ (0.57) 
Shares used in computing net income per common share, basic and

diluted   28,003,957    27,861,523    25,564,249    24,849,229  

  Three Months Ended  

  
December 31,

2014   
September 30,

2014   
June 30, 

2014   
March 31, 

2014  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  
Total revenue  $ 9,715   $ 8,668   $ 7,526   $ 6,664  
Gross profit  $ 6,695   $ 5,931   $ 5,004   $ 3,665  
Loss from operations  $ (7,106)  $ (6,498)  $ (7,461)  $ (7,241) 
Net loss  $ (8,310)  $ (7,885)  $ (7,429)  $ (7,056) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock to redemption

value  $ (16)  $ (44)  $ (44)  $ (43) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (8,326)  $ (7,929)  $ (7,473)  $ (7,099) 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and

diluted  $ (0.59)  $ (5.96)  $ (6.58)  $ (6.60) 
Shares used in computing net income per common share, basic and

diluted   14,229,775    1,329,610    1,136,259    1,075,932  
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”) refers to controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and our management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2015, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon such evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of such date.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our CEO and CFO, and effected by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
 

 •  Pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect in reasonable detail the transactions and dispositions of the assets of our
company;

 

 
•  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and

 

 •  Provide reasonable assurances regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a
material adverse effect on our financial statements.

Our management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, the end the period covered by this Annual Report on Form
10-K. Management based its assessment on criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting, management concluded that, as of
December 31, 2015, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
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Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and
compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented
by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible
to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers, Significant Employee and Non-Employee Directors of the Registrant

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers, significant employees and directors, as of February 1, 2016:
 
Name  Age  Position(s)
Executive Officers   
Michael DeMane   59    Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Rami Elghandour   37    President
Andrew H. Galligan   59    Chief Financial Officer
Doug Alleavitch   55    Vice President, Quality and Operations
Michael Enxing   49    Vice President of Sales and Marketing
Andre Walker   52    Senior Vice President, Research & Development

Significant Employees   
David Caraway, M.D., Ph.D.   59   Chief Medical Officer
Richard B. Carter   45   Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller
Bradford E. Gliner   50   Vice President, Clinical & Regulatory Affairs
Michael W. Hall   67   General Counsel
Tamara F. Rook   44   Vice President, Health Economics & Reimbursement

Non-Employee Directors   
Ali Behbahani, M.D. (2)(3)   39   Director
Lisa D. Earnhardt   46   Director
Frank Fischer (3)   74   Director
Wilfred E. Jaeger, M.D. (1)(2)   60   Director
Shawn T McCormick (1)   51   Director
Brad Vale, Ph.D., D.V.M. (2)   63   Director
 
(1) Member of the audit committee.
(2) Member of the compensation committee.
(3) Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee.

Executive Officers

Michael DeMane joined us in March 2011 and serves as our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. DeMane has served on the board of
directors of several private companies since 2009, as well as on the board of directors of eReserach Technology, Inc., a public company specializing in clinical
services and customizable medical devices, from July 2008 to April 2012. From March 2009 to June 2010, Mr. DeMane served as a Senior Advisor to Thomas,
McNerney & Partners, a healthcare venture firm. Mr. DeMane served as the Chief Operating Officer of Medtronic, Inc. from August 2007 to April 2008. Prior to
his COO role, Mr. DeMane served at Medtronic Inc. as Senior Vice President from May 2007 to August 2007, Senior Vice President and President: Europe,
Canada, Latin America and Emerging Markets from August 2005 to May 2007, Senior Vice President and President: Spinal, ENT and Navigation from February
2002 to August 2005, and President, Spinal from January 2000 to February 2002. Prior to that, he was President at Interbody Technologies, a division of Medtronic
Sofamor Danek, Inc., from June 1998 to December 1999. From April 1996 to June 1998, Mr. DeMane served at Smith & Nephew Pty. Ltd. as Managing Director,
Australia and New Zealand, after a series of research and development and general management positions with Smith & Nephew Inc. Mr. DeMane earned a B.S. in
Chemistry from St. Lawrence University and an M.S. in bioengineering from Clemson
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University. We believe that Mr. DeMane is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his investment experience, strategic leadership track record, service
on other boards of directors of companies in the healthcare industry and his service as our chief executive officer.

Rami Elghandour joined us in October 2012, has served as our Chief Business Officer and currently serves as our President. From September 2008 to
October 2012, Mr. Elghandour managed investments for Johnson & Johnson Development Corporation, or JJDC, where he led several investments and served on
the board of directors of a number of private companies, including our board of directors. Additionally, he led strategic initiatives in the development and
management of JJDC’s portfolio. From 2001 to 2006, Mr. Elghandour worked for Advanced Neuromodulation Systems, Inc. (acquired by St. Jude Medical, Inc.), a
medical device company, where he led firmware design and development on several implantable neurostimulators. Mr. Elghandour received an M.B.A. from the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and a B.S. in Electrical and Computer Engineering from Rutgers University School of Engineering.

Andrew H. Galligan has served as our Chief Financial Officer since May 2010. From February 2009 to July 2010, Mr. Galligan served as Vice President of
Finance and Chief Financial Officer at Ooma, a consumer electronics manufacturer and VOIP service provider. From 2007 to 2008, Mr. Galligan served as Vice
President of Finance and CFO of Reliant Technologies, Inc. (later acquired by Solta Medical, Inc.), a medical device company. Mr. Galligan has also held the top
financial executive position at several other medical device companies and began his career in various financial positions at KPMG and Raychem Corp.
Mr. Galligan served on the board of directors of DiaDexus, Inc., a public medical diagnostics company, until January 2015. Mr. Galligan received a degree in
Business Studies from Trinity College in Dublin, Ireland and is also a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

Doug Alleavitch has served as Vice President, Quality and Operations of the company since April 2015. From October 2009 to April 2015, Mr. Alleavitch
served as Vice President, Operations and Quality Assurance at AEGEA Medical, Inc., a medical device company, where he oversaw manufacturing and quality
assurance procedures. From August 2007 to September 2009, Mr. Alleavitch served first as Senior Director, Manufacturing and later as Vice President, Operations
at AngioScore, Inc., a medical device company, where he oversaw AngioScore’s production, supply chain management and manufacturing engineering. From
February 2002 to July 2007, Mr. Alleavitch served first as Director, Quality Assurance and later as Director, Operations at Boston Scientific, a medical device
company. Mr. Alleavitch received a BS in Chemical Engineering from Cornell University, an MS in Industrial Engineering, and an MBA from the University of
Illinois, and an MS in Chemical Engineering from the Illinois Institute of Technology.

Michael Enxing has served as our Vice President of Sales and Marketing since December 2012. From 2009 to December 2012, Mr. Enxing served as Vice
President of Vertos Medical Inc., a medical device company. From 1990 to 2009, Mr. Enxing held various executive positions at Cardiovascular Systems, Inc.
(f/k/a Cardio Vascular Solutions (CSI)), a medical device company, Advanced Neuromodulation Systems, Inc. (acquired by St. Jude Medical, Inc.), a medical
device company, Stryker Corporation, a medical technology company, and Tecnol Medical Products, Inc. (acquired by Kimberly Clark), a medical device
company. Mr. Enxing is a graduate of Iowa State University with a B.S. in Communications and focus in business administration.

Andre Walker has served as our Senior Vice President, Research & Development since February 2007. From 1999 to 2007, Mr. Walker was Vice President
of R&D at St. Jude Medical, Inc., responsible for the development of its implantable Defibrillators and Pacemaker products. Mr. Walker has also held leadership
positions at Siemens Pacesetter, Inc., a medical device company, and Zilog, Inc., a consumer semiconductor manufacturer. Mr. Walker holds a M.S. in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hasselt in Hasselt, Belgium.
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Significant Employees

David Caraway, M.D., Ph.D. has served as our Chief Medical Officer since April 2014. Before joining Nevro, from 2001 to May 2014, Dr. Caraway was
the CEO of The Center for Pain Relief, Tri-State, L.L.C., in partnership with St. Mary’s Regional Medical Center in Huntington, West Virginia. Dr. Caraway has
maintained an active medical practice for over 20 years and has held leadership positions in the North American Neuromodulation and the American Society of
Interventional Pain Physicians. As a nationally recognized expert in the treatment of chronic pain, he has lectured regionally, nationally and internationally in the
field of Interventional Pain Medicine and authored numerous publications in this field. Dr. Caraway received a B.S. in chemical engineering from the University of
Virginia School of Engineering, an M.D. from the University of Virginia School of Medicine and a Ph.D. in biophysics from the University of Virginia Graduate
School of Arts and Sciences. He also received post-graduate training in anesthesiology and pain management from the University of Virginia. Dr. Caraway is board
certified by the American Board of Anesthesiology.

Richard B. Carter has served as our Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller since November 2015, having held roles of increasing responsibility in
finance and accounting since joining Nevro as Corporate Controller in September 2014. From October 2013 to October 2014, Mr. Carter served as Corporate
Controller at ClearEdge Power, Inc., a privately held fuel cell manufacturing company. From December 2011 to October 2013, Mr. Carter served as the Vice
President of Finance and Corporate Controller at Kovio, Inc., a privately held electronic device manufacturing company. From March 2007 to December 2011,
Mr. Carter served as Vice President of Finance and Corporate Controller at MiaSolé, a thin-film solar panel manufacturer. Previously, Mr. Carter served as the
Corporate Controller at PortalPlayer, Inc. and Transmeta Corporation, both publicly traded fabless semiconductor companies. Mr. Carter received a B.S. in
Business Administration from California State University, Chico. Mr. Carter is a Certified Public Accountant (inactive license) and began his career as an auditor at
Ernst & Young, LLP.

Bradford E. Gliner has served as our Vice President of Clinical and Regulatory Affairs since May 2011. From 2008 to May 2011, Mr. Gliner was President
and CEO at MitoGuard Neuroscience, Inc., a photobiomodulation medical device company. From 1999 to 2008, Mr. Gliner was Vice President of Research at
Northstar Neuroscience, Inc., a medical device company, where he led research on numerous neuromodulation applications. From 1992 to 1999, Mr. Gliner was
also a co-founder of Heartstream, Inc. (acquired by Koninklijke Philips Electronics NV), a medical device company that manufactures and markets automatic
external defibrillators. Mr. Gliner received a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from the University of Illinois and a M.S. in Biomedical Engineering from Johns
Hopkins University in Maryland.

Michael Hall has served as our General Counsel since January 2015. He was a partner at Latham & Watkins from February 1999 to December 2014.
Mr. Hall practiced for a number of years at Wilson, Sonsini, Goodrich & Rosati and was a co-founder of Venture Law Group prior to joining Latham & Watkins.
His practice was focused on representation of life science companies primarily in the medical device industry. He also represented underwriters and venture capital
firms in both public and private financing transactions. He is a member of the board of San Francisco RBI, a non-profit focused on sports and literacy for
underprivileged children in San Francisco. Mr. Hall received a B.A. from California University, Sonoma and a J.D. from the University of California at Berkley,
School of Law (Boalt Hall).

Tamara F. Rook has served as our Vice President, Health Economics & Reimbursement since September 2013. From June 2012 to August 2013, Ms. Rook
was the Vice President of Reimbursement at Vertos Medical Inc., a medical device company, where she focused on gaining market access for an emerging therapy.
From 2006 to June 2012, Ms. Rook worked in the neuromodulation space with Medtronic, Inc. and from 2004 to 2006 she worked at Cyberonics, Inc. where she
was focused on managing patient access and initiating coverage for new indications. Ms. Rook received an M.B.A. from the University of Houston and a B.A. in
Public Administration from Texas State University. Non-Employee Directors
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Ali Behbahani, M.D. has served on our board of directors since September 2014. Dr. Behbahani joined New Enterprise Associates, Inc., or NEA, in 2007
and is a Partner on the healthcare team. Prior to joining NEA, Dr. Behbahani worked as a consultant in business development at The Medicines Company, a
specialty pharmaceutical company developing acute care cardiovascular products. Dr. Behbahani previously held positions as a venture associate at Morgan
Stanley Venture Partners and as a healthcare investment banking analyst at Lehman Brothers. He conducted basic science research in the fields of viral fusion
inhibition and structural proteomics at the National Institutes of Health and at Duke University. Dr. Behbahani currently serves on the board of directors of several
private companies. Dr. Behbahani has also been a director of Adaptimmune Therapeutics plc, a public biopharmaceutical company, since September 2014, and
serves on the nominating and governance committee. Dr. Behbahani holds an M.D. from The University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine, an M.B.A. from The
University of Pennsylvania Wharton School and a B.A. in Biomedical Engineering, Electrical Engineering and Chemistry from Duke University. We believe that
Dr. Behbahani is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his experience in the life science industry and his investment experience.

Lisa D. Earnhardt has served on our Board since June 2015. She has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Intersect ENT and as a member of
its board of directors since March 2008. Prior to joining Intersect ENT, Ms. Earnhardt served as President of Boston Scientific’s Cardiac Surgery division (formerly
known as Guidant Corporation, or Guidant) from June 2006 to January 2008 until its sale to Getinge Group. From August 1996 to April 2006, Ms. Earnhardt
worked at Guidant in a variety of sales and marketing leadership positions. Ms. Earnhardt served on the board of directors of Kensey Nash, a publicly traded
company from 2011 until it was acquired by Royal DSM NA in 2012, where she served on the board’s nominating and governance and audit committees.
Ms. Earnhardt holds an M.B.A. from Northwestern’s Kellogg School of Management and a B.S. in Industrial Engineering from Stanford University. We believe
that Ms. Earnhardt is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her experience in the medical device industry.

Frank Fischer has served on our board of directors since October 2012. Mr. Fischer joined NeuroPace, Inc., a privately held developer of treatment devices
for neurological disorders, in 2000 and currently serves as its President and Chief Executive Officer. From May 1998 to September 1999, Mr. Fischer was
President, Chief Executive Officer and a director of Heartport, Inc., a formerly publicly traded cardiac surgery company (later acquired by Johnson & Johnson in
2001). From 1987 to 1997, Mr. Fischer served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Ventritex, Inc., a publicly traded designer, developer, manufacturer and
marketer of implantable defibrillators and related products for the treatment of ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation, which was acquired by St. Jude
Medical in 1997. Mr. Fischer currently serves on the board of directors of several privately held companies. Mr. Fischer received a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering
and a M.S. in Management from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. We believe that Mr. Fischer is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his operational
experience in the life science industry.

Wilfred E. Jaeger, M.D. has served on our board of directors since January 2012. Dr. Jaeger cofounded Three Arch Partners in 1993 and has served as a
Partner and Managing Member since that time. Prior to co-founding Three Arch Partners, Dr. Jaeger was a general partner at Schroder Ventures. Dr. Jaeger
currently serves on the board of directors of Concert Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a public clinical stage biopharmaceutical company, Threshold Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
public pharmaceutical company, as well as numerous private companies. Dr. Jaeger received a B.S. in Biology from the University of British Columbia, an M.D.
from the University of British Columbia School of Medicine and an M.B.A from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. We believe that Dr. Jaeger is qualified
to serve on our board of directors due to his investment experience, strategic leadership track record and service on other boards of directors of life sciences
companies.

Shawn T McCormick has served on our board of directors since September 2014. Mr. McCormick served as Chief Financial Officer of Tornier N.V., a
public medical device company, from September 2012 to October 2015 when Tornier merged with Wright Medical Group. From April 2011 to February 2012,
Mr. McCormick was Chief Operating Officer of Lutonix, Inc., a medical device company acquired by C. R. Bard, Inc. in December 2011. From January 2009 to
July 2010, Mr. McCormick served as Senior Vice President and Chief
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Financial Officer of ev3 Inc., a public endovascular device company acquired by Covidien plc in July 2010. From May 2008 to January 2009, Mr. McCormick
served as Vice President, Corporate Development at Medtronic, Inc., a public medical device company, where he was responsible for leading Medtronic’s
worldwide business development activities. From 2007 to 2008, Mr. McCormick served as Vice President, Corporate Technology and New Ventures of Medtronic.
From 2002 to 2007, Mr. McCormick was Vice President, Finance for Medtronic’s Spinal, Biologics and Navigation business. Prior to that, Mr. McCormick held
various other positions with Medtronic, including Corporate Development Director, Principal Corporate Development Associate, Manager, Financial Analysis,
Senior Financial Analyst and Senior Auditor. Prior to joining Medtronic, he spent four years with the public accounting firm KPMG Peat Marwick. He has been a
director of Entellus Medical, Inc., a public medical device company, since November 2014, and serves as the chairman of the audit committee and as a member of
the nominating and corporate governance committee. Mr. McCormick has been a director of SurModics, Inc., a public medical device and in vitro diagnostic
technologies company, since December 2015 and serves on the audit committee and corporate governance and nominating committee. Mr. McCormick earned his
M.B.A. from the University of Minnesota’s Carlson School of Management and his B.S. in Accounting from Arizona State University. He is a Certified Public
Accountant (inactive license). We believe that Mr. McCormick is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his financial expertise and operational
experience in the medical device industry.

Brad Vale, Ph.D., D.V.M. , has served on our board of directors since March 2015. Dr. Vale was Head of Johnson & Johnson Development Company, or
JJDC, from January 2012 to March 2015. Dr. Vale joined JJDC in March 1992, and in April 2008, was appointed to the position of Vice President, Head of
Venture Investments. From September 1989 to March 1992, Dr. Vale supported Johnson & Johnson’s medical device businesses at the Corporate Office of Science
and Technology as an Executive Director. From 1982 to 1989, he was at Ethicon, Inc., a Johnson & Johnson subsidiary, working on preclinical studies, new
business development, and a coronary artery bypass graft internal venture. Dr. Vale currently serves or has served on the board of directors of several private
companies. Dr. Vale holds a Ph.D. from Iowa State University, a D.V.M. from Washington State University and a B.S. in Chemistry and Biology from Beloit
College. We believe that Dr. Vale is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his investment experience and strategic leadership in the life sciences
industry.

The remaining information required by this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Corporate Governance”
and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” that will be contained in the Proxy Statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the
“Proxy Statement”).

We have adopted a written code of conduct and ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer
or controller, or persons serving similar functions. The text of our code of business conduct and ethics has been posted on our website at http://www.nevro.com.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive
Compensation” and “Corporate Governance” that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the information under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the information under the caption “Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” that will be contained in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS and FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
 

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Reference is made to the Index to consolidated financial statements of Nevro Corp. under Item 8 of Part II hereof.

 
2. Financial Statement Schedule:

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the amounts are immaterial or the required information is presented in the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto in Part II, Item 8 above.

 
3. Exhibits

See Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

February 29, 2016:
 

 NEVRO CORP.

 By:  /s/ MICHAEL DEMANE

  
Michael DeMane
Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints each of Michael DeMane and Andrew
H. Galligan his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this annual report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney as of the date indicated opposite his/her name.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, this report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title  Date

/s/ MICHAEL DEMANE
Michael DeMane

  

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board

(Principal Executive Officer)  

February 29, 2016

/s/ ANDREW H. GALLIGAN
Andrew H. Galligan

  

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)  

February 29, 2016

/s/ ALI BEHBAHANI
Ali Behbahani, M.D.   

Director
 

February 29, 2016

/s/ LISA EARNHARDT
Lisa Earnhardt   

Director
 

February 29, 2016

/s/ FRANK FISCHER
Frank Fischer   

Director
 

February 29, 2016

/s/ WILFRED E. JAEGER
Wilfred E. Jaeger, M.D.   

Director
 

February 29, 2016

/s/ SHAWN T MCCORMICK
Shawn T McCormick   

Director
 

February 29, 2016

/s/ BRAD H. VALE
Brad H. Vale, Ph.D., D.V.M   

Director
 

February 29, 2016
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Exhibit Index
 

Exhibit 
Number  Exhibit Description   

Incorporated
by

Reference
Form   Date   Number   

Filed 
Herewith

    3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Nevro Corp.   8-K   11/12/2014   3.1   

    3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nevro Corp.   8-K   11/12/2014   3.1   

    4.1  Reference is made to exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.         

    4.2  Form of Common Stock Certificate.   S-1/A   10/27/2014   4.2   

  10.1†

 

Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated October 2, 2006, by and among
the Company and Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, Venturi
Group, LLC.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.1   

  10.2(a)†
 

Stellar Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2009, by and between the
Company and Stellar Technologies, Inc.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.2(a)   

  10.2(b)†
 

First Amendment to Stellar Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2014, by
and between the Company and Stellar Technologies, Inc.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.2(b)   

  10.2(c)*
 

Second Amendment to Stellar Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of January 28,
2016, by and between the Company and Stellar Technologies, Inc.         X

  10.3†
 

Supply Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2014 by and between the Company and Pro-
Tech Design and Manufacturing, Inc.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.3   

  10.4(a)†
 

Supply Agreement, dated April 1, 2012, by and between the Company and CCC del
Uruguay S.A.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.4(a)   

  10.4(b)†
 

Amendment to Supply Agreement, dated as of March 20, 2013, by and between the
Company and CCC del Uruguay S.A.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.4(b)   

  10.5(a)†
 

Product Supply and Development Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2009, by and
between the Company and EaglePicher Medical Power LLC.   S-1/A   10/15/2014   10.5   

  10.5(b)†
 

First Amendment to the Product Supply and Development Agreement, dated as of
March 4, 2015, by and between the Company and EaglePicher Medical Power LLC.   10-K   3/18/2015   10.5(b)   
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Exhibit 
Number  Exhibit Description   

Incorporated
by

Reference
Form   Date   Number   

Filed 
Herewith

  10.5(c)*

 

Second Amendment to the Product Supply and Development Agreement,
dated as of October 23, 2015, by and between the Company and EaglePicher
Medical Power LLC.         X

  10.6(a)
 

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 8,
2013, by and among the Company and the investors listed therein.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.6(a)   

  10.6(b)
 

Amendment to Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated
March 5, 2013, by and among the Company and the investors listed therein.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.6(b)   

  10.6(c)

 

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Registration Rights
Agreement, dated October 24, 2014, by and among the Company and the
investors listed therein.   S-1/A   11/04/14   10.6(c)   

  10.7(a)
 

Multi-Tenant Space Lease, dated as of March 15, 2010, by and between
Deerfield Campbell LLC and the Company.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.7(a)   

  10.7(b)
 

First Amendment to Lease, dated as of October 18, 2012, by and between
Deerfield Campbell LLC and the Company.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.7(b)   

  10.7(c)
 

Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of February 18, 2015, by and between
Deerfield Campbell LLC and the Company.   10-K   3/18/2015   10.7(c)   

  10.8(a)# Nevro Corp. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended as of March 5, 2013.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.8(a)   

  10.8(b)#
 

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (ISO) under the 2007 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.8(b)   

  10.8(c)#
 

Form of Non-Incentive Stock Option Agreement (NSO) under the 2007 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.8(c)   

  10.8(d)#
 

Form of Stock Purchase Right Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.8(d)   

  10.9(a)# Nevro Corp. 2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan.   S-8   11/12/2014   99.2(a)   

  10.9(b)#
 

Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the
2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.9(b)   
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Exhibit 
Number  Exhibit Description   

Incorporated
by

Reference
Form   Date   Number   

Filed 
Herewith

  10.9(c)#
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement and Restricted Stock Award Grant
Notice under the 2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.9(c)   

  10.9(d)#
 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and Restricted Stock Unit Award
Grant Notice under the 2014 Equity Incentive Award Plan.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.9(d)   

  10.10#  Nevro Corp. 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.   S-8   11/12/2014   99.3   

  10.11#  Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.11   

  10.12(a)#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of March 8, 2011, by and between Michael DeMane and the
Company.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.12(a)   

  10.12(b)#
 

Form of Employment Agreement by and between Michael DeMane and the
Company.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.12(b)   

  10.13#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of October 9, 2012, by and between Rami Elghandour and
the Company.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.13   

  10.14#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of May 12, 2010, by and between Andrew H. Galligan and
the Company.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.14   

  10.15#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of November 1, 2012, by and between Michael Enxing and
the Company.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.15   

  10.16#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of February 27, 2014, by and between Balakrishnan Shankar
and the Company.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.16   

  10.17#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of January 16, 2007, by and between Andre Walker and the
Company.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.17   

  10.18(a)
 

Amended and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement, dated February 8, 2013, by and
among the Company and the stockholders listed therein.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.15(a)   

  10.18(b)
 

Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement, dated March 5,
2013, by and among the Company and the stockholders listed therein.   S-1   10/03/2014   10.15(b)   

  10.18(c)
 

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholders’ Agreement, dated
October 24, 2014, by and among the Company and the investors listed therein.   S-1/A   11/04/14   10.18(c)   

  10.19#  Nevro Corp. Non-Employee Director Compensation Program.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.19   
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Exhibit 
Number  Exhibit Description   

Incorporated
by

Reference
Form   Date   Number   

Filed 
Herewith

  10.20#  Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement.   S-1/A   10/10/2014   10.20   

  10.21(a)
 

Term Loan Agreement, dated October 24, 2014, by and between the Company and
Capital Royalty Partners II L.P.   S-1/A   10/27/2014   10.21   

  10.21(b)
 

First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2015, by and
between the Company and Capital Royalty Partners II L.P.   10-K   3/18/2015   10.21(b)   

  10.21(c)
 

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2015, by and
between the Company and Capital Royalty Partners II L.P.   10-Q   8/6/2015   10.2   

  10.22†
 

Supply Agreement, dated March 13, 2015, by and between the Company and Centro
de Construccion de Cardioestimuladores del Uruguay S.A.   10-K/A   5/29/2015   10.22   

  10.23
 

Lease Agreement, dated as of March 5, 2015, by and between the Company and
Westport Office Park, LLC.   10-K   3/18/2015   10.23   

  10.24#
 

Offer Letter, dated as of March 30, 2015, by and between the Company and Doug
Alleavitch   8-K   4/9/2015   10.1   

  10.25*
 

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2015, by and
between the Company and Vention Medical Design and Development, Inc.         X

  21.1  List of Subsidiaries.         X

  23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.         X

  24.1
 

Power of Attorney (included on signature page to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K).         X

  31.1
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.         X

  31.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.         X

  32.1**

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.         X

101.INS  XBRL Instance.         X
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Exhibit 
Number   Exhibit Description   

Incorporated
by

Reference
Form   Date   Number   

Filed 
Herewith

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.         X

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.         X

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.         X

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.         X

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.         X
 
† Confidential treatment has been granted for certain information contained in this exhibit. Such information has been omitted and filed separately with the

Securities and Exchange Commission.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and this exhibit has been filed separately

with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
** The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Form 10-K is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to

be incorporated by reference into any filing of Nevro Corp. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Exhibit 10.2(c)

[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

SECOND AMENDMENT TO STELLAR MANUFACTURING
AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Stellar Manufacturing Agreement (“Second Amendment”) is entered into effective as of January 1, 2016 (“Effective Date”), by and
between Stellar Technologies, Inc., a Minnesota corporation (“Stellar”) and Nevro Corp., a Delaware corporation, having a place of business at 1800 Bridge
Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065 (“Customer”) (Stellar and Customer are the “Party[ies]”), relating to the Stellar Manufacturing Agreement entered into
between the Parties, dated July 1, 2009 (“2009 Agreement”) and First Amendment to Stellar Manufacturing Agreement, dated July 1, 2014 (“First Amendment”)
(2009 Agreement and First Amendment, collectively the “Agreement”).

In consideration of the mutual covenants contained in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Customer and Stellar agree as
follows:

1.) Defined Terms . Except as otherwise defined in this Second Amendment, all defined terms in the Agreement shall have the same meaning in this Second
Amendment.

2.) Adoption of Terms of Agreement . Except as modified by this Second Amendment, the Parties hereby adopt and restate all of the terms of: (a) the 2009
Agreement, as modified by the First Amendment, and (b) the terms of the First Amendment.

3.) Section 2 of the First Amendment . Section 2 of the First Amendment is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“Customer hereby appoints Stellar as its primary supplier of all Products listed in Exhibit A, attached (and as revised in Section 5 of this Second
Amendment), and all related Services that Customer orders from Stellar during the Contract Term. All pricing related to the Products will be listed in the Price
Schedule listed in the attached Exhibits B, B-1 and B-2. All plans, designs and specifications used by Stellar in providing any Products, which are designed solely
by Customer, are owned exclusively by Customer. Customer agrees to indemnify and hold Stellar harmless from any claims, judgments, penalties, recalls and
attorney fees arising from any third-party allegations that Customer’s plans, designs and specifications for the Products infringe on or violate any third party’s
patents, trade secrets, proprietary rights or other intellectual property rights. Stellar agrees to indemnify and hold Customer harmless from any claims, judgments,
penalties, recalls, and/or attorney fees and costs arising from any third-party allegations that any of Stellar’s manufacturing operations, processes, know-how, plans,
designs, and/or specifications for the Products or Services infringe on or violate any third party’s patents, trade secrets, proprietary rights or other intellectual
property rights. Such “Intellectual Property Indemnification Rights” shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. Stellar will cooperate with
Customer’s efforts to obtain regulatory approval for its Products from governmental authorities (‘Regulatory Approvals’) without conveying to Customer or any
governmental authorities any right, title or interest in its Confidential Information and Intellectual Property as defined herein.”



4.) Section 5 of the First Amendment . Section 5 of the First Amendment is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“ Minimum Purchase Requirement, Purchase Orders and Purchase Order Acknowledgements . During each of the following Contract Years, Customer shall
purchase from Stellar the following percentages of its requirements for each of the Key Products and Supplementary Products (collectively, ‘Minimum Purchase
Requirement’):
 

Contract Year   

Minimum 
Purchase 

Requirement (%) 

1/1/2015 - 12/31/2015    [***]% 

1/1/2016 - 12/31/2016    [***]% 

1/1/2017 - 12/31/2017    [***]% 

1/1/2018 - 12/31/2018    [***]% 

1/1/2019 - 12/31/2019    [***]% 

If Customer makes any modifications, revisions, changes, variations or improvements to Key Products or Supplementary Products (collectively,
“Revisions”), all of such Revisions are included in the definition of Key Products and Supplementary Products, respectively, and are subject to the Minimum
Purchase Requirement.”

All other terms of Section 5 remain unchanged.

5.) Exhibit A, Section 3 . Exhibit A, Section 3, Definitions , of the First Amendment is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“3. Definitions . For purposes of this Agreement:

(a) ‘Key Product(s)’ means percutaneous leads, lead extensions, S8 lead adaptors, M8 lead adaptors and lead proximal and sub-assembly for paddle leads;

(b) ‘Supplementary Product(s)’ means the Cap Header, Part No. 10111-3, Rev J; Housing Set Screw Low Profile, Part No. 10319, Rev C; and Arbor Press
Assy, Part No. 10873, Rev B; and

(c) ‘Products’ means all Key Products and Supplementary Products, together with active anchor inserts and other machined components, including, without
limitation, set screw housings, set screws and IPG header caps.”

 
2.

[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.



6.) Exhibit A, Section 4 . Exhibit A, Price Schedule , of the First Amendment is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“4. Price Schedules and Adoption of Exhibits . The Parties hereby adopt the Price Schedules, Exhibit B (attached to the First Amendment), Exhibit B-1
(attached to Second Amendment) and Exhibit B-2 (attached to Second Amendment) for all Products. For purposes of the Price Schedules, the Key Product
Volumes refer to the combined sum of all Key Products delivered during each Contract Year.

Additionally, no later than the last day of every calendar quarter following the Effective Date of this Second Amendment, Stellar will provide Customer with
an updated Price Schedule for the next calendar quarter (“Projection”), which will account for any changes, and Adjustments including, but not limited to,
changes in vendor costs, pricing for raw materials, and/or labor costs required for the manufacturing of the Products listed in Exhibit B, Exhibit B-1 and
Exhibit B-2. Furthermore, Stellar will issue Customer an invoice or a credit memo accounting for any variances resulting from changes to this Price Schedule
during the calendar quarter directly preceding the Projection.”

7.) Effective Dates of Exhibits B, B-1 and B-2 . Exhibit B, Price Schedule for Key Products, expires December 31, 2015. Exhibit B-1, Price Schedule for
Key Products, is effective January 1, 2016. Exhibit B-2, Price Schedule for Supplementary Products, is effective September 23, 2015.

8.) Amendment to Quotations for Supplementary Products .

The Parties amend the Quotations, Purchase Orders and Purchase Order Acknowledgments for the Supplementary Products, as follows:

(a) Terms: NET 30, EXWORKS (INCOTERMS 2010) Stellar Loading Dock.

(b) The Parties agree that the United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods shall have no application to the Agreement, this
Second Amendment or any Quotations for Products (including, without limitation, Key Products and Supplementary Products) now or in the future.

(c) For purposes of the Agreement and this Second Amendment, the current Quotations for the Supplementary Products are as follows:
 

 •  Cap Header, Part No. 10111-3, Rev J, Quotation #013640-00, dated 9/23/2015;
 

 •  Housing Set Screw Low Profile, Part No. 10319, Rev C, Quotation #013639-00, dated 9/23/2015; and
 

 •  Arbor Press Assembly, Part No. 10873, Rev B, Quotation #013638-00, dated 9/23/2015.

(d) The terms of the Agreement, as modified by this Second Amendment, supersede all inconsistent terms of the Quotations, Purchase Orders and Purchase
Order Acknowledgments for Supplementary Products.



9.) Scope of Second Amendment . Subject only to the modifications of the Agreement pursuant to this Second Amendment, the remainder of the Agreement
has not been modified and otherwise remains in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Customer and Stellar have executed this Second Amendment as of the Effective Date.
 
STELLAR TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,   NEVRO CORP., a Delaware corporation
a Minnesota corporation    

By:  /s/ Estelle Forcelle   By:  /s/ Andrew Galligan
 Estelle Forcelle    Print Name: Andrew Galligan
 Its: Chief Executive Officer    Title:  Chief Financial Officer

Date:  1-28-16   Date:  1/25/2016
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EXHIBIT B-1

PRICE SCHEDULE FOR KEY PRODUCTS EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2016

This Price Schedule , Exhibit B-1, supersedes the Price Schedule , Exhibit B of the First Amendment, effective January 1, 2016, and governs the purchase and sale
of all Key Products delivered on or after January 1, 2016.
 
   Key Product Volume*
Key Product   [***]  [***]    [***]

Percutaneous Lead, Part Nos.:   N/A    N/A

•  10160-3050B          [***]    
•  10160-5050B     $ [***]    
•  10160-7050B     $ [***]    
•  10160-9050B     $ [***]    

Lead Extensions, Part Nos.:   N/A    N/A

•  10169-25B     $ [***]    
•  10169-35B     $ [***]    
•  10169-60B     $ [***]    

S8 Lead Adaptors, Part Nos.:   N/A    N/A

•  10428-25B     $ [***]    

M8 Lead Adaptors, Part Nos.:   N/A    N/A

•  10433-35B     $ [***]    

Lead Proximal and Sub-Assembly for Paddle Leads, Part Nos.:   N/A    N/A

•  12017-5005     $ [***]    
•  12017-7005     $ [***]    
•  12017-9005     $ [***]    

 
* Based on the combined number of all Key Products delivered during any Contract Year. All prices quoted and paid in USD ($US).

NOTE: Prices do not include price of BAL seals. BAL seals to be charged to Nevro as a separate item. The price of BAL seals shall include a reasonable premium
or increase for BAL seals lost in the manufacturing process that cannot be reclaimed.
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EXHIBIT B-2

PRICE SCHEDULE FOR SUPPLEMENTARY PRODUCTS

This Price Schedule , Exhibit B-2, governs the purchase and sale of all Supplementary Products, effective September 23, 2015.
 
Supplementary Product   

Unit Price 
$USD  

Cap Header Part Nos.:   

•  10111-3, Rev J   US$ [***]  

Housing Set Screw Low Profile Part Nos.:   

•  10319, Rev C   US$ [***]  

Arbor Press Assembly Part Nos.:   

•  10873, Rev B   US$ [***]  

END
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Exhibit 10.5(c)

[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE
PRODUCT SUPPLY AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

This SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE PRODUCT SUPPLY AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Amendment”), effective as of October 23,
2015 (the “Effective Date”), is by and between EaglePicher Medical Power LLC (“EPMP LLC”), a Delaware Corporation having an address of “C” and Porter
Streets, Joplin, MO 64801 and Nevro Corp. (“Buyer”), a Delaware Corporation, having its principal place of business at 1800 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, CA
94065.

WHEREAS, EPMP and Buyer entered into a Product Supply and Development Agreement dated April 5, 2009 (“Agreement”) by which Buyer contracted EPMP to
develop and manufacture batteries for proprietary medical implantable devices;

WHEREAS, EPMP and Buyer wish to continue their relationship and modify portions of the Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, EPMP LLC and Buyer hereby amend the Agreement as follows:

Sections 4.1 shall be deleted in their entirety and replaced with the following section:

4.0 ORDER AND DELIVERY .

4.1 The Buyer’s purchase commitment shall consist of the quantity of Products for [***] (i.e., [***]) as identified in the table below (the “Buyer MPR”) with an
invoicing and delivery schedule to be agreed upon by both EPMP and Buyer. For purposes of this Agreement, estimated Buyer purchases are included for [***].
 

Year   [***]
Products   [***]

The following additional provisions shall apply:
 

 •  January 1, 2015 – December 31, 2015 - A purchase order for at least the annual total quantity shown above for 2015 shall be issued by Buyer no later
than five business days after the Effective Date.

 

 

•  Notwithstanding anything else in this Section 4.1 or this Agreement, the Buyer MPR shall be satisfied when Buyer and its Subcontractors have
collectively purchased a total of [***] Products. After such number of Products has been purchased, there shall be no further minimum purchase
requirements. For example, if Buyer purchases [***] Products in [***] and [***] Products in [***], the minimum purchase requirements under the
Buyer MPR in [***] shall be reduced to [***].



 •  A purchase order shall be issued by Buyer on or before [***] reflecting at least the minimum quantities for such years shown in the table above
(subject to the last bullet below). Although Buyer shall maintain responsibility for the Buyer MPR, Buyer

 

 •  may satisfy all or part of the Buyer MPR through units purchased by Buyer’s subcontractor/vendor (e.g., [***]) (“Subcontractors”) as long as [***].
 

 

•  On December 31st of each year, EPMP shall provide Buyer with an accounting of all of the quantities of Products purchased on behalf of Buyer by its
Subcontractors during such year (“Third Party Quantities”). To the extent that the Third Party Quantities and any direct purchases by Buyer
(collectively, “Total Purchases”) have not together met the Buyer MPRs for the applicable calendar year, Buyer will be responsible for purchasing the
difference between the Total Purchases for such year and the Buyer MPRs for such year.

 

 •  During any period after the Buyer MPR has been satisfied (including during [***]), Buyer and its Subcontractors may place Purchase Orders for
Products in accordance with Section 4.3.

 

 
•  EPMP LLC shall maintain production capacity that can meet an additional [***] percent of the total units required by Buyer for each of the years

during the term of this Agreement. For all the years shown above, if the requirements exceed the above quantities by [***] percent, Buyer shall give at
least [***] advance notice.

4.1.2 EPMP LLC to establish a redundant battery production operation [***] projected to be fully qualified/validated [***] . EPMP/Buyer shall support as
follows:

 

 •  [***] to fund [***]
 

 •  [***] to fund [***] ($[***]) and designate facility space for Nevro production (part of the long term commitment need)
 

 •  [***] to fund [***] ($[***])
 

 •  [***] to fund [***] (~$[***])
 

 •  EP to maintain current production line until [***].
 

 •  EP to transfer and validate the current production line [***]
 

 •  Buyer shall fund a portion of the replicate line equipment in the amount of [***]
 

 •  The payments will be based on milestones and with [***] % at [***], [***]% upon [***], [***]% upon [***]
 

 •  Buyer to meet or exceed annual purchase quantities for [***] in table above
 

 •  The equipment purchased by Nevro is a [***] and [***]
 

 •  Buyer to agree that EaglePicher Medical Power will be the exclusive battery supplier to Nevro for 5 years of supply agreement through 2019.
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All other clauses of the Agreement remain unchanged and in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be duly executed by their authorized representatives.
 
EAGLEPICHER MEDICAL POWER LLC

By:  /s/ Dave Lucero

Name: Dave Lucero

Title:  Vice President & General Manager

Date:  11/6/2015

NEVRO CORP.

By:  /s/ Andrew Galligan

Name: Andrew Galligan

Title:  CFO, V.P. Finance

Date:  10/23/2015
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Exhibit A

Specifications
[Not Amended]
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Exhibit B

Non-Disclosure Agreement
[Not Amended]
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Exhibit C
(AMENDED)
Pricing Terms

 
Product Description   Quantity   

Unit 
Price*  

325mAh    [***]    $[***]  
325mAh    [***]    $[***]  
325mAh    [***]    $[***]  
 
* The Unit Price is tiered (i.e., if Buyer purchases in a calendar year an amount equal to or greater than a quantity specified above, the unit price for all units

purchased during such year shall be unit price for the last unit purchased in such year). For example, if Buyer purchases [***] units in a year, the unit price for
all units purchased during such year will be $[***]. For years when the Buyer MPR is in effect, the highest unit price for any unit purchased during such year
shall be the unit price applicable to the minimum required Purchase Order quantity or such year (i.e., if the Buyer MPR requires [***] units to be purchased in a
year, the unit price of all units ordered that year, including under the initial Purchase Orders, shall be $[***]). For years when the Buyer MPR is not in effect,
the parties will do a true up calculation at the end of the year, and if applicable EPMP shall refund to Buyer or its designee the amount necessary to ensure that
the average unit price for all units purchased during that year is equal to the lowest unit price applicable to any unit purchased during that year.
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Exhibit D

Development Plan(s)
[Not Amended]
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Exhibit 10.25

[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY AGREEMENT

This Agreement (the “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of the 8 day of December, 2015 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and between Vention Medical
Design and Development, Inc. with its principal place of business at 261 Cedar Hill Street, Marlborough, Massachusetts (“Supplier”), and Nevro Corp. having its
principal place of business at 1800 Bridge Parkway, Redwood City, California 94065 (“Customer”).

WHEREAS, Supplier has agreed to manufacture and supply to Customer those products listed in Appendix A, attached and made a part hereof (“
Products ”), and Appendix A may be amended and/or supplemented from time to time in writing upon mutual agreement of the Parties; and

WHEREAS, Customer desires that Supplier manufacture and supply the Products to Customer;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Supplier and Customer (each a “party” and collectively the “parties”), agree as follows:

 
1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 “ Applicable Laws ” means all applicable statutes, ordinances, codes, executive or governmental orders, laws (including common law), rules, and
regulations, including without limitation any rules, regulations, guidelines or other requirements of Regulatory Authorities, that may be in effect from time to time.

1.2 “ Calendar Quarter ” means the respective periods of three (3) consecutive calendar months ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31; provided, however, that (a) the first Calendar Quarter of the Term shall extend from the commencement of such period to the end of the first
complete Calendar Quarter thereafter; and (b) the last Calendar Quarter of the Term shall end upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

1.3 “ cGMP ” means the regulations set forth in (a) 21 C.F.R. Parts 210–211, 820 and 21 C.F.R. Subchapter C (Drugs), Quality System Regulations and
requirements thereunder imposed by the FDA, (b) Commission Directive 2003/94/EC laying down the principles and guidelines of good manufacturing practice in
respect of medicinal products for human use and investigational medicinal products for human use and requirements thereunder imposed by the EMA, and (c) any
similar or equivalent regulations and requirements in jurisdictions where services are provided pursuant to this Agreement.

1.4 “ Components ” shall mean any raw materials, work-in-process inventory and supplies included in or required for the manufacture of Products in
accordance with the Specifications, including without limitation those parts, materials and supplies list set forth on Appendix D.
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1.5 “ Confidential Information ” means any and all technical and non-technical information provided by either party to the other, either directly or
indirectly, whether in graphic, written, electronic or oral form, whether or not marked or identified at the time of disclosure as confidential, so long as by its context
the information would reasonably be deemed to be confidential, including without limitation unpublished patent applications and other filings, trade secrets, and
other proprietary information, including (i) information regarding ideas, technology and processes (such as, but not limited to, assays, techniques, sketches,
schematics, drawings, models, designs, inventions, know-how, technical documentation, equipment, algorithms, software programs, software source documents,
formulae); (ii) information concerning or resulting from research and development projects and other projects (such as, but not limited to design details and
specifications, engineering information, and works in process); (iii) business and financial information (such as, but not limited to, current, future, and proposed
products and services, financial information and models, information relating to procurement requirements, purchasing, manufacturing, customer lists, product
plans, product ideas, business strategies, marketing or business plans and information regarding third parties, suppliers, customers, employees, investors or
facilities); and (iv) any information created using the foregoing Confidential Information; in each case of the party disclosing the Confidential Information. The
Confidential Information may also include information the disclosing party provides regarding third parties, or previously disclosed to the disclosing party by a
third party.

1.6 “ GMP ” shall mean compliance with ISO13485:2003 and the Quality System Regulations set forth in 21 CFR Part 820, and all additional standards,
documents or regulations that replace, amend, modify, supplant or complement any of the foregoing.

1.7 “ Intellectual Property Rights ” shall mean all rights held by a party in its technology, products and business information, some or all of which may
constitute Confidential Information, and including but not limited to patent rights, copyrights, trademark rights, goodwill, inventions, improvements, discoveries,
designs, modifications, data, rights in business information (including without limitation financial information, clinical information and regulatory information),
trade secrets, mask works, know-how and all other intellectual property and proprietary rights known now or in the future in any jurisdiction, including the right to
apply for any of the foregoing, and the right to sue with respect to any of the foregoing.

1.8 “ Minimum Quarterly Volume ” shall mean the aggregate number of Products required to be ordered by Customer in a given Calendar Quarter, as set
forth in Appendix E.

1.9 “ Product Inventions ” shall mean all designs, data, information, inventions, improvements, discoveries (whether patentable or not), processes, software,
and devices developed by either party in connection with performing services under this Agreement.

1.10 “ Product Specifications ” shall mean Customer’s written specifications for the manufacture and testing of the Products, the current form of which is
set forth at Appendix G, as such specifications may be amended from time to time by Customer by written notification to Supplier.

1.11 “ Purchase Order ” shall mean an order in the form attached as Appendix H placed by Customer for the purchase of a specified quantity of
(a) Products, or (b) Components, during the Term of this Agreement.
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1.12 “ Safety Stock ” shall mean the quantity of Components to be purchased by Supplier, upon written request by Customer (including by way of a
Purchase Order) and at Customer’s sole expense, in excess of the amount required by Supplier to meet Customer’s Binding Forecasts or Component lead times.

1.13 “ Shipment Date ” shall mean the requested shipment date for Products from the Supplier manufacturing facility as specified in a Purchase Order, or as
otherwise mutually agreed by the parties in writing.

1.14 “ Test System ” shall mean shall mean a production system for conducting software and/or hardware testing at various stages of Product assembly to
verify the functionality and ensure the quality of the Product.

 
2. MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY OF PRODUCTS

2.1 Supplier’s Obligations Supplier shall use its best efforts to manufacture and supply Customer with its requirements for Products, and to manufacture all
Products in accordance with the Product Specifications.

2.2 Change Orders . If Customer wishes to make any change or modification to the Product and/or the Product Specifications, including without limitation
any change to the Components included therein (a “ Change ”), Customer shall notify Supplier in writing of the details of such Change. Supplier shall agree to
promptly implement any reasonable and lawful Change requested by Customer, including without limitation any Change that is required by applicable laws or
regulations or any regulatory authority. The parties shall discuss in good faith the steps required to implement such Change, including any adjustment to pricing for
Products at the time of such Change, which may be required so as to allow Supplier to maintain its profit margins at the level immediately prior to such Change.
Supplier shall (i) have a reasonable period of time (not less than thirty (30) days) to implement any such Change and (ii) be entitled to full reimbursement by
Customer for any reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by implementing such Change, in addition to any agreed modification to the Product pricing mutually
agreed by the parties in accordance with the foregoing sentence Supplier shall not implement any Change, or make any other changes to equipment, Components,
manufacturing and quality assurance procedures, or methods and techniques used to manufacture a Product without Customer’s prior written consent, which may
be withheld in Customer’s sole reasonable discretion.

2.3 Subcontracting. Supplier shall have the right to subcontract services provided under this Agreement to third parties solely with the prior written consent
of Customer, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. Supplier shall provide to Customer any reasonable information requested by Customer in relation to
such third party, including the identity of such third party and the nature and extent of the services intended to be subcontracted. Upon Customer granting consent
to the use of a specified third party subcontractor, such third party shall be an approved “ Sub-Tier Supplier ” (as defined in the Quality Agreement). Supplier
shall enter into a binding written agreement with any approved Sub-Tier Supplier, which shall be consistent with the terms of this Agreement, and shall contain, at
a minimum, terms relating to the ownership of Intellectual Property Rights and Confidential Information consistent with those set forth herein. Supplier shall
remain liable for all acts and omissions of any approved Sub-Tier Supplier, and for
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any breach of this Agreement by such Sub-Tier Supplier. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Supplier is responsible for communicating all requirements to Sub-Tier
Suppliers that are engaged and managed by Supplier. This includes Sub-Tier Suppliers that have been identified as third party suppliers for any part of the Services
hereunder by Customer. In the event that Customer needs to communicate directly with a Sub-Tier Supplier, Customer will make all reasonable efforts to
coordinate any such communications with Supplier.

2.4 Customer’ s Purchase Obligations Within five (5) days following the Effective Date, Customer shall provide Supplier with a twelve (12) month
forecast of Customer’s expected purchase of Products (the “ Initial Forecast ”), with the earliest Shipment Date for the Products covered by such forecast mutually
agreed upon by both parties. The first six (6) months of such Initial Forecast shall be binding, and the second six (6) months of the Initial Forecast shall be non-
binding. Following the Effective Date, Customer shall issue quarterly rolling forecasts by the last day of each Calendar Quarter for the twelve (12) months
immediately following the date of such forecast, with the first six (6) months of each such rolling forecast being binding upon the parties (such six (6) month
forecast the “ Binding Forecast ”).

2.5 Cooperation . Supplier and Customer agree to cooperate with each other and work jointly to establish and maintain a smooth and efficient timetable for
the manufacture and supply of Products to Customer hereunder. Supplier shall use its best efforts to supply Customer with all of its Product requirements in
accordance with Section 2.1, provided that Supplier shall not be in breach of this Agreement or otherwise liable for any failure to supply quantities of Products
(a) in excess of Customer’s most recent Binding Forecast to the extent provided in Section 3.2 or (b) at volumes materially in excess of Supplier’s expected
production capacity set forth on Appendix B . Unless otherwise agreed to between the parties, the parties will use their best efforts to allocate the manufacture and
supply of Products relatively evenly over the course of time under the expected production schedule set forth on Appendix B .

2.6 Component Supply

(a) Component Supply . Supplier shall purchase a quantity of Components required for the manufacture of Products for the first [***] ([***]) months
of the Initial Forecast. Upon Customer’s request, Supplier and Customer will also discuss any amendments that should be made to the list of
Components to be purchased by Supplier, including by reason of more favorable pricing terms that may be available to Customer, and at Customer’s
discretion, Customer may request that certain Components become Consigned Components (in which case Section 2.6(d) shall apply to such
components), or that Consigned Components should be purchased by Supplier. Supplier shall be responsible for acquiring all Components, including
associated costs of shipping, freight, taxes and duties, and for managing inventory of Components and ensuring that Supplier has sufficient quantities
(not to be less than [***] ([***]) months’ supply) of Components in stock to meet Customer’s Binding Forecasts. Supplier shall keep Customer
regularly informed of the status of the Component inventory, and shall immediately notify Customer in the event of any potential material delays or
shortages that may impact the ability to manufacture Products in accordance with Binding Forecasts, or to meet Shipment Dates.
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(b) Additional Components In addition to the inventory of Components to be held by Supplier against Customer’s future Purchase Orders based on the
Binding Forecasts pursuant to Section 2.6(a), upon the reasonable written request of Customer, which may include to address anticipated long third
party vendor lead times, and at Customer’s expense, Supplier shall purchase Safety Stock of Components in quantities specified by the Customer, up
to an additional [***] ([***]) month supply of such Components, provided that Customer shall be fully liable for the cost of any Safety Stock that
remains unused at the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement, provided that Supplier shall use reasonable efforts to utilize such Safety
Stock for other customers or in other activities, and Customer shall not be liable for the cost of any Safety Stock so utilized.

(c) Specification Changes . In the event that as a result of a Change, Components purchased by Supplier prior to such Change (as defined in
Section 2.2) become obsolete or are no longer able to be utilized in the manufacture of Products, Customer shall reimburse Supplier for Supplier’s out-
of-pocket costs incurred in relation to the purchase of such Components, within thirty (30) days following the presentation by Supplier of a valid
invoice for such costs, unless Customer requests in writing that Supplier to use such Components to manufacture Products under the Specifications in
existence prior to such Change, rather than reimburse Supplier for the costs of such Components, and provided that Supplier shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to return such Components to the applicable third party vendor.

(d) Consigned Components . During the Term, in lieu of Supplier purchasing certain Components pursuant to Sections 2.6(a) and 2.6(b) Customer
may notify Supplier in writing that Customer wishes to supply certain materials, parts and supplies directly to Supplier for incorporation into Products
manufacture by Supplier (such directly supplied materials, parts and supplies, the “ Consigned Components ”). Customer shall be solely responsible
for determining the required quantities of Consigned Components, and for all orders, payments and timing of delivery of such Consigned Components.
Customer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that sufficient quantities of Consigned Components are delivered to Supplier in
sufficient time to enable Supplier to meet its manufacturing and delivery obligations with respect to Products based on Purchase Orders and Binding
Forecasts, provided that Supplier shall have no liability for any failure to deliver Products to Customer where such failure arises as a result of
Customer’s failure to deliver Consigned Components to Supplier in a timely fashion or at all, or to provide Supplier with adequate quantities of
Consigned Components. Customer assumes all liability for the quality of all Consigned Components, and Supplier shall not be responsible for any
defects discovered therein, provided that Supplier shall carry out a reasonable inspection of such Consigned Components in accordance with
Supplier’s standard operating procedures promptly upon delivery to Supplier. Supplier shall, within ten (10) days following receipt of any Consigned
Components, notify Customer of any defects identified in such Consigned Components or any discrepancy in quantity

 
5

[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.



delivered. Without limiting the foregoing, Supplier shall promptly inform Customer of any additional defects in the Consigned Components
discovered or revealed by further inspection by or through the manufacturing process for Products that could not have been discovered at the time of
delivery of such Consigned Components. Supplier will provide Customer with a written statement of Consigned Components used by Supplier at the
end of each month.

 
3. ORDERS; DELIVERY; INVOICING AND PAYMENT

3.1 Orders . During the term of this Agreement, and subject to Section 3.2, Customer shall issue quarterly Purchase Orders on or before the first day of each
quarter for quantities for Shipment Dates in the Calendar Quarter commencing no less than six (6) months from the date of placement of such Purchase Orders,
unless the parties mutually agree upon a shorter lead time for manufacture of such Products based on the production schedule established jointly between the
parties and set forth in Appendix E. By way of example, on or before December 31st, Purchase Orders will be issued for Shipment Dates in the third Calendar
Quarter commencing July 1st. Each Purchase Order shall specify the type and quantity of the Product to be delivered, as well as requested Shipment Date, provided
that the aggregate quantity of Products ordered on Purchase Orders for Shipment dates in a given Calendar Quarter shall not be less than the Minimum Order
Quantity for such Calendar Quarter. Each Purchase Order, or any acknowledgment thereof, invoice, bill of lading or acceptance by Customer, shall be governed by
the terms of this Agreement, which shall supersede any printed terms on any Purchase Order, quotation, acknowledgement, confirmation or invoice.

3.2 Increases in Order Quantity . Customer may place Purchase Orders for quantities of Products in excess of the quantities specified in Customer’s most
recent Binding Forecast, and Supplier shall use its best efforts to meet such increased demand, provided that (i) Supplier shall have no obligation to supply
quantities of Products in excess of [***] percent ([***]%) in excess of Customer’s most recent Binding Forecast and (ii) Supplier shall not be liable for any failure
to supply any quantity of Products in excess of Customer’s most recent Binding Forecast, to the extent that such failure results from a failure by Customer to place
an order for sufficient quantities of Components to meet the quantity specified in such Purchase Order, or a failure by Customer to supply the necessary quantities
of Consigned Components required to fulfil such increased Customer demand for Products. Where Customer places a Purchase Order for a quantity of Products in
excess of its most recent Binding Forecast, the Parties shall discuss any expedite fees, overtime and/or freight charges required to support such increased orders and
any such costs shall be borne by Customer and subject to Customer’s prior written approval, not to be unreasonably withheld. Supplier shall have no obligation to
manufacture any increased quantities of Products unless and until Customer has approved any associated excess charges associated with such increase. Customer
shall reimburse Supplier for all such costs within thirty (30) days following the presentation of a valid invoice for such costs by Supplier.

3.3 Cancellation and Rescheduling of Purchase Orders . Supplier shall use commercially reasonable efforts to accommodate requests by Customer to
reschedule, decrease or cancel the
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manufacture of quantities of Product in a given Purchase Order. Customer shall be liable for any reasonable costs incurred by Supplier as a direct result of such
decrease, rescheduling or cancellation, provided that Supplier shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize any such costs, and provided further that
Customer shall not be liable for the costs of any Components that are able to be used or reused in the manufacture of Products under any subsequent Purchase
Order.

3.4 Delivery . Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties, all Products manufactured for Customer shall be sold to Customer F.O.B. (INCOTERMS
2010) Supplier’s dock. Customer may specify the carrier and mode of transportation for each Purchase Order, or may provide a standing instruction for all
Purchase Orders, provided that if no carrier or mode of transportation is specified by Customer, Supplier may select the carrier and mode of transportation that
Supplier reasonably believes is most appropriate to meet Customer’s delivery requirements.

3.5 Acceptance Testing; Defects .

(a) Customer will be entitled to conduct acceptance testing on all Product deliveries. Within thirty (30) calendar days of Customer’s receipt of the Product (the “
Product Acceptance Period ”), If the product fails the acceptance testing the Customer will provide Supplier with a written notice detailing the Product
Specifications that such Product has failed to meet. If the Product delivered hereunder fails to conform to the Product Specifications or to such other testing and
acceptance criteria as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties, Customer shall notify Supplier in writing of such failure, detailing the nature of the alleged
failure, and the parties will promptly discuss means to resolve any such failure. Assuming that Supplier agrees that the Product is non-conforming, all costs
associated with remedying such failure shall be borne by Supplier. The parties will work in good faith to mutually resolve any disputes in accordance with section
3.5(c) below. Supplier shall then deliver to Customer, pursuant to an agreed-upon schedule, but in no event in greater than thirty (30) days, Products that meet the
applicable Product Specifications. Upon re-delivery, Customer shall have an additional fifteen (15) business day period to acceptance test the applicable Product
and provide either written acceptance of the Product or a written statement detailing the Product Specifications such Product failed to meet. If after two (2) such
cycles, Customer reasonably rejects such Product again, Customer may elect to continue the process of modification and acceptance testing or terminate the
applicable Purchase Order or the Agreement, provided that Supplier shall be required to refund to Customer all amounts paid by Customer with respect to such
non-conforming Product, and any amounts prepaid under such Purchase Order for Products not yet manufactured and delivered to Customer.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Customer does not submit a written notice of rejection within the Product Acceptance Period, such shipment will be deemed
accepted by Customer, except with respect to any defect in the Product that results in the Product not conforming to the Product Specifications that was not
discoverable with commercially reasonable inspection (“ Latent Defect ”). Customer shall notify Supplier within twenty (20) days after discovery of any Latent
Defect not discoverable upon reasonable physical inspection, and in any event no later than twelve (12) months after the date the Product was delivered to
Customer, otherwise such shipment will be deemed accepted by Customer.
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(c) If there is any dispute regarding the conformity of a shipment of Product with the Product Specifications, following delivery by Customer of a notice of non-
conformity within the Product Acceptance Period, then the Parties agree that Customer will submit a sample of the relevant nonconforming Product to an
independent testing laboratory of recognized repute selected by Customer and reasonably acceptable to both parties for analysis, subject to terms of confidentiality
no less restrictive than those set forth in this Agreement, and under procedures approved by the Parties’ quality assurance personnel, of the conformity of such
Product with the Product Specifications. The costs associated with such analysis by such independent testing laboratory will be paid by the party whose assessment
of the conformity of the Product with the Product Specifications was mistaken. The determination by the independent testing laboratory, unless clearly erroneous,
will be final and binding.

3.6 Recurrent Product Non-Conformity In the event that (a) a material number of Products in a single delivery do not conform with the Product
Specifications, or (b) the same or similar reason for non-conformity with Product Specifications occurs multiple times within a single shipment of Products, or
occurs repeatedly within multiple or consecutive shipments of Products (such non-conformity a “ Recurrent Defect ”), then the Parties shall discuss in good faith
the nature of such Recurrent Defect and a mutually acceptable plan for addressing such Recurrent Defects, and Supplier shall promptly carry out an investigation of
the possible causes of such Recurrent Defect, including without limitation a review of Supplier’s manufacturing processes and quality control and quality assurance
activities with respect to Products, and shall notify Customer in writing of its findings and its proposal for steps to remedy such Recurrent Defect. All costs
associated with the conduct of such investigation, preparation of a remedial plan, and implementation of such remedial plan to eliminate the occurrence of such
Recurrent Defects shall be borne solely by Supplier, unless such Recurrent Defect is the result of Customer’s breach of this Agreement, gross negligence or willful
misconduct, in which case the costs shall be borne by Customer.

 
4. PRICE

4.1 Purchase Price . The initial prices for Products purchased hereunder are set forth in Appendix B, attached hereto. Without limiting any other provision
hereunder, including Section 4.2, at the end of the first quarter of the Term, and each quarter thereafter that this Agreement remains in effect, Supplier shall notify
Customer of any proposed Product price increase or decrease for the next succeeding quarter, and the basis on which such price is to be increased or decreased. No
price increase shall be take effect until Customer has provided its written consent, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Any increase or decrease in Product
unit price shall be applicable only to those product lots of Product for which the production process is completed after the parties have agreed upon the change in
Product price and shall remain in effect until another price change occurs.

4.2 Price Adjustment . Upon written notice to Customer, the purchase price for Products may be adjusted by Supplier, to appropriately reflect material
changes in Supplier’s direct manufacturing costs, including, but not limited to documented increases in the costs of raw material, packaging and other materials,
that adjust completed device cost by greater than [***] dollars. Upon request from Customer, Supplier will provide documentation evidencing increases
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in such costs, and in the event of a disagreement as to a Product pricing adjustment, the parties will, in good faith, negotiate such adjustment. Additionally, the
parties understand and agree that the prices reflected in the Initial Pricing List, attached as Appendix B and referenced above, are based upon certain assumptions
and information provided by Customer, including, but not limited to, information regarding the type, size and condition of tooling, testing and packaging
requirements. To the extent that such information and assumptions are inaccurate, thereby effecting manufacturing costs, Supplier may adjust, accordingly, Product
pricing, as reflected in the Initial Pricing List.

4.3 Invoicing; Payment . Supplier shall send invoices by email to Customer for delivered Product on the Shipment Date. Customer shall pay all undisputed
amounts in each invoice within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the invoice, provided that any dispute over an invoiced amount is in good faith. All
payments and communications regarding the Product shall be delivered to Supplier at the address designated above. Failure to make payment of all undisputed
amounts by the due date shall result in interest accruing on any unpaid balance, from the due date until payment is made, at the rate of [***] percent ([***]%) per
month or the highest interest rate allowable by law, whichever is less. Failure to pay may also result in delay of further shipments until all unpaid undisputed
balances are paid in full.

4.4 Cost Reduction Efforts . Both parties agree to cooperate in good faith to work towards reducing costs to manufacture Nevro Products. Yield
improvements and cost reductions will be reviewed by Supplier and Customer quarterly (or more frequently) for potential inclusion into product pricing. For Cost
Reduction Projects that have been funded by Supplier and approved by Customer, after full cost recovery, Customer will receive [***]% of the demonstrated cost
reduction upon implementation. If due to any circumstance Customer is unable to release Supplier initiated and funded cost reduction changes (i.e. due to
regulatory or product management restrictions) then Customer will reimburse Supplier for [***]. For Cost Reduction Projects that have been initiated by Customer
and funded by Customer, Customer will receive [***]% of the demonstrated cost reduction upon implementation.

4.5 Taxes. Any federal, state, county or municipal sales or use tax, excise or other tax (except for income taxes imposed upon Supplier), or other
similar charge levied or assessed or charged on or for the sale, production or transportation of Products sold hereunder (“Taxes”), shall be paid by Customer. If
Supplier is required to pay any such Taxes, Customer agrees to reimburse Supplier for any amounts so paid upon demand.

 
5. QUALITY CONTROL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

5.1 Quality Agreement . Supplier shall perform all manufacturing, testing and supply of Products, and all other obligations under this Agreement, in
accordance with (a) the terms of the quality agreement entered into by and between the parties dated November 6, 2013 and attached hereto as Appendix F (the “
Quality Agreement ”), and (b) all Applicable Laws, including cGMP. The Quality Agreement includes, without limitation, Customer’s rights, and Supplier’s
obligations with respect to (i) any audit or inspection, including without limitation any audit or inspection required or required to be conducted by a regulatory
authority in any jurisdiction, and (ii) any person in plant visits or inspections required by Customer.
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5.2 Regulatory Inspection . Without limiting the audit and inspection rights set forth in the Quality Agreement, Supplier shall reasonably cooperate in
relation to Customer’s efforts to obtain regulatory approval of Products. Without limiting the foregoing, if a regulatory authority makes an inquiry or otherwise
requests information or assistance relating to Products, whether to Supplier or Customer, Supplier shall provide access to, and coordinate and make available,
applicable personnel, facilities, materials, and documents as necessary to respond to such inquiries. In the event of any such inquiry, request, or other
communication relating to Product, Supplier will promptly notify and provide information regarding such inquiry, request, or communication to Customer. Supplier
will promptly forward to Customer copies of any findings that Supplier receives from a government authority or regulatory authority in connection with services
performed hereunder or Products. Supplier shall also provide Customer with an opportunity to comment prospectively on any Supplier responses to a government
authority regarding Products.

5.3 Certificate of Compliance . Supplier shall provide to Customer, with each delivery of Products manufactured hereunder, a written certificate of
compliance certifying that the Product and all Components meet the Product Specifications and have been manufactured in accordance with, and comply with
Section 5.1. Supplier shall provide such certificate of compliance to Customer electronically (via scanned and emailed copies) within one (1) business day
following each shipment of Product and in hard copy for Shipment Dates during the preceding month within five (5) business days after such month’s end. Supplier
shall also provide Customer in connection with any shipments of Products, copies of any certificates of compliance Supplier has been provided by third party
suppliers of any Components incorporated within such Products. For clarity, the certificate of compliance shall not certify that the Components comply with the
specifications for such Components, provided that Supplier shall carry out a reasonable inspection of all Components prior to use of such Components in relation to
the manufacture of any Product and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to discover any defects in such Components prior to use in manufacture of Products.

5.4 Records . Supplier shall maintain true and accurate books, records, test and laboratory data, reports and all other information (“ Records ”) relating to
services provided hereunder, and manufacture or supply of Products under this Agreement, including, without limitation, all information required to be maintained
by Applicable Laws and any regulatory authority. Supplier shall provide Customer with a copy of all Records and any documents related to the services performed
under this Agreement or the supply or manufacture of Product at Customer’s request or upon expiration or termination of this Agreement. The Records shall be
Confidential Information of Customer. Supplier shall retain copies of all Records for a period of at least seven (7) years after date of final payment under this
Agreement. Prior to destruction, Supplier shall obtain Customer’s consent to destroy records or return the records to Customer at Customer’s expense.

5.5 Regulatory Compliance . Supplier shall be solely responsible for all permits and licenses required by any regulatory authority or Applicable Laws to
enable Supplier to perform services and manufacture and supply of Products under this Agreement. Supplier will maintain
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ISO13485 certification at all times during the Term of this Agreement. For clarity, Customer shall be responsible for all other permits and licenses required in order
to use, sell, import or export Products.

5.6 Ownership of Regulatory Filings . As between the parties, Customer will own all regulatory filings for Products. Upon Customer’s request, Supplier
shall cooperate reasonably with Customer to draft and file applications and other materials with any regulatory authority relevant to Products, and to seek approval
of Products by such regulatory authorities.

 
6. CAPITAL EQUIPMENT; DESIGNS/SPECIFICATIONS

6.1 Capital Equipment . Supplier shall provide for such capital equipment as Supplier deems reasonably necessary for the manufacture of Product at
Supplier’s facility (excluding any equipment to be provided or funded by Customer, under Section 6.1(b) below), at Supplier’s sole expense. All such capital
equipment provided by Supplier shall remain the sole property of Supplier, and all processes and specifications that relate to such capital equipment shall constitute
Supplier’s proprietary Confidential Information, as defined in Section 8 herein, and shall belong exclusively to Supplier.

(b) As part of, and for the entire duration of this Agreement, Customer shall, at its sole expense, provide Supplier with the equipment specified in Appendix C,
which is specific to the design or manufacture of the Products in accordance with the Product Specifications (the “ Customer Equipment ”). Customer shall at all
times retain exclusive ownership of the Customer Equipment, and all specifications that relate to the Customer Equipment shall constitute Customer’s Confidential
Information, as defined in Section 8, and shall belong exclusively to Customer.

(c) Supplier shall not use any Customer Equipment, except in connection with the manufacture of Products for Customer, without Customer’s prior written consent.

(d) Customer shall compensate Supplier for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the sampling, validation and performance
of capability studies for all assembly steps, packaging equipment, sterility validation and testing protocols, in each case solely to the extent specifically applicable
to Products. Supplier will provide Customer with cost estimates of each activity prior to its performance, for Customer’s written approval. Customer shall not be
liable for any costs incurred in relation to any of the foregoing activities until it has provided its consent in writing to such costs, such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld. Payment terms shall be the same as provided in Section 4.3.

(e) Supplier shall be responsible for maintaining the Customer Equipment in good operating condition (normal wear and tear expected), and Supplier shall have the
right to make such repairs and alterations as may be appropriate for such equipment’s intended use and good working order with the exception of the Test System,
which shall be subject to Section 6.1(f). Supplier shall seek the approval of Customer in advance of any required repairs maintenance on the Customer Equipment
for any costs associated with such repair and maintenance, and subject to Customer’s approval (not to be unreasonably withheld), Supplier shall invoice customer
for any such repairs and/or alterations that are necessary and required in order to use the Customer Equipment to
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perform services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding Supplier’s routine care responsibilities, Customer shall be solely responsible for
all non-routine care, repair, maintenance, upgrades and refurbishments of all Customer Equipment (including maintaining a spare parts inventory, where
appropriate, for the Customer Equipment), provided that Supplier shall provide reasonable assistance, at Customer’s request and Customer’s expense, in arranging
any such non-routine maintenance, upgrades and refurbishments.

(f) Customer shall be responsible for maintaining the Test System provided to Supplier to ensure the equipment is properly calibrated and functioning properly. All
updates to software, hardware, and any fixtures relating to the Test System shall be the sole responsibility of the Customer. Supplier shall notify the Customer of
any and all issues that arise with the Test System and Customer shall be solely responsible for determining the cause of any problems with the equipment to avoid
delays in manufacturing delivery dates, provided that Supplier shall provide reasonable assistance, upon Customer’s request and at Customer’s expense, in
determining the cause of, and resolving, such issues with the Test System.

 
7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

7.1 Background IP . Each party shall solely own all Intellectual Property Rights owned or controlled by such party prior to the Effective Date, or developed,
created, or reduced to practice outside of the services provided under this Agreement (“ Background IP ”). Except as expressly set forth herein, nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to grant, transfer or convey to either party any right, title or interest in the other party’s Background IP. Each party’s Background IP
shall include all Intellectual Property Rights in such party’s capital equipment (including, in the case of Customer, the Customer Equipment).

7.2 Product Inventions The parties acknowledge and agree that all Product Inventions and all Intellectual Property Rights therein, excluding the Supplier
Background IP shall be solely owned by Customer. Supplier shall promptly disclose any such items to Customer. Upon payment in full for services rendered,
Supplier assigns, and shall cause all of its employees, agents, affiliates, subcontractors and other authorized representatives to execute assignment documents, to
Customer any interest it or they may have in any such Product Inventions and all Intellectual Property Rights therein. Supplier agrees to cooperate with Customer,
at Customer’s expense, for the purpose of filing and prosecuting patent applications, and enforcing Intellectual Property Rights, including the execution of any and
all legal papers which are necessary or desirable to affect the intent of this Section 7.2, consultations with Customer’s attorneys, and any necessary testimony to
appropriate tribunals.

7.3 License to Customer . Supplier hereby grants to Customer, its successors and assigns, a perpetual, fully paid, world-wide, sublicensable, nonexclusive
license under all Supplier Background IP and any improvements, variations, modifications or derivatives thereto, that is (a) incorporated within any Product,
(b) necessary for the manufacture, use or sale of any Products, (c) necessary to use or practice the Product Inventions, or (d) necessary for the use, distribution,
copying or transmission of any data, information or materials provided in connection with Products (such Supplier Background IP, the “ Incorporated Supplier IP
”), to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import Products, and to use and practice the Product Inventions, including the right to make improvements, derivatives or
successor works of any of the foregoing. The license
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granted to Customer under this Section 7.3 includes rights in all future improvements or derivatives of such Incorporated Supplier IP, solely to the extent that such
improvements or derivatives are necessary to make, use, sell, offer for sale and import Products, and to use and practice the Product Inventions. Nothing in the
foregoing license shall be construed to grant to Customer the right to market, sub-license or otherwise use the Supplier Background IP or Incorporated Supplier IP
other than in connection with one or more Products or Product Inventions, or any improvements, derivatives or successor works of any of the foregoing.

7.4 License to Supplier . Customer hereby grants to Supplier a limited, royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicenseable license, solely for
the term of this Agreement, under all Customer Background IP, solely to the extent required for Supplier to perform services and manufacture Products pursuant to
the terms of this Agreement.

 
8. CONFIDENTIALITY

8.1 Confidentiality . Each party acknowledges and agrees that from time to time during the Term, each party (the “ Disclosing Party ”) may disclose
Confidential Information to the other party (the “ Receiving Party ”) for the purposes of exercising rights and carrying out obligations under this Agreement. Each
party acknowledges and agrees that all the other party’s Confidential Information is confidential and proprietary to the disclosing party. Neither party shall use or
disclose to any third party or Affiliate the other party’s Confidential Information without the other party’s prior written consent for any purpose other than as
permitted or required hereunder.

8.2 Permitted Disclosures . The Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information to its directors, officers, employees, authorized agents and
professional advisers to the extent such persons have a need to know such information for the purpose of performing each party’s duties and obligations hereunder,
provided that the Receiving Party advises each such individual of the terms of this Agreement and ensures that each such individual receives and hold such
information as if that individual were a party to this Agreement. A party may, from time to time, designate in writing individuals as authorized representatives of
that party to whom Confidential Information may be provided directly by the disclosing party, and any Confidential Information so provided will be deemed to
have been provided to the other party and be subject to this Agreement. Each party shall take the same reasonable measures necessary to prevent any disclosure by
its employees, agents, contractors, sub-licensees, or consultants of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information as it applies to the protection of its own
Confidential Information.

8.3 Exclusions . Information shall not be considered Confidential Information hereunder if it:

(a) was already in the possession of the Receiving Party prior to its receipt from the Disclosing Party, as shown by the Receiving Party’s books and records;

(b) is, or becomes, part of the public knowledge or literature through no fault, act or omission of the Receiving Party, provided, Confidential Information relating to
the Product shall not be deemed to have entered the public domain by reason of its having been filed with any regulatory agency;
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(c) is, or becomes, available to the Receiving Party from a source other than the Disclosing Party, which source has rightfully obtained the same information and
has no obligation of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party with respect to it; or

(d) is required to be revealed pursuant to law, provided, however, the Receiving Party which is under any such requirement of law shall give reasonable notice to
the Disclosing Party of such requirement and shall cooperate with the Disclosing Party in reasonable legal efforts to limit or mitigate any such revelation so as to
preserve the proprietary nature of any Confidential Information contained therein.

8.4 Duration; Surviving Obligation . Each party’s obligations of non-use and non-disclosure of the other party’s Confidential Information shall apply
during the term of this Agreement and shall also survive for a period of five (5) years after its termination for any reason. All Confidential Information disclosed
under the Mutual Confidentiality and Non-disclosure Agreement by and between the parties dated March 6 2012 shall be deemed to have been disclosed under this
Agreement, and shall be subject to the non-disclosure and non-use provisions set forth in this Article 8. Upon any termination or expiration of this Agreement, or
upon the written request of a party, each party shall promptly return to the other party all of such other party’s Confidential Information, provided that each party
shall be permitted to retain a single copy of such Confidential Information for the purpose of performing any obligations that survive such termination or
expiration, or for evidencing compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

 
9. WARRANTIES; LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

9.1 General Warranties Each party hereby represents and warrants to the other party that:

(a) it is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has taken all necessary action, including
without limitation obtaining any necessary approval of its board of directors, to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the transactions
contemplated herein;

(b) it has full power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement and does not require the consent, approval or authorization of any person, shareholder,
public or governmental authority or other entity, and that this Agreement and the provisions hereof constitutes and when executed will constitute, its valid and
legally binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy and equitable principles limiting specific performance

(c) the execution and delivery of this Agreement by each party, and the performance of each party’s obligations hereunder, (a) are not in violation of, breach of, and
will not conflict with or constitute a default under, the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of either party, or any material agreement, contract, commitment or
obligation to which Customer or Supplier is a party or by which either party is bound; and (b) will not conflict with or violate any applicable law, rule, regulation,
judgment, order or decree of any governmental agency or court having jurisdiction over either party or its assets or properties.
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9.2 Supplier Warranties Supplier hereby represents and warrants to Customer that:

(a) it has the corporate power and authority and the legal right to own and operate its property and assets, to lease the property and assets it operates under lease,
and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted;

(b) it shall manufacture and supply Products in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Quality Agreement, and shall comply with all Applicable
Laws, including without limitation cGMP, in performing services under this Agreement;

(c) all waste, including but not limited to all hazardous waste, generated at the time of manufacture of Products shall be disposed of in accordance with all
Applicable Laws and regulations governing such matters in the country of manufacture; and

(d) all Products manufactured, sold and shipped pursuant to this Agreement shall be manufactured in accordance with all applicable national and local
environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in effect at the time and place of manufacture of the Products.

9.3 Product Warranties

(a) Subject to the provisions set forth in Section 9.3(b), Supplier warrants: (i) that all Products delivered hereunder shall conform to Product Specifications at the
time of shipment; (ii) that all Products shall be manufactured in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Quality Agreement, and shall comply with all
Applicable Laws, including without limitation cGMP and the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended (the “ Act ”) and, relevant to their manufacture
and sale; and (iii) that no Product delivered hereunder shall at time of shipment be adulterated or misbranded within the meaning of the Act, or within the meaning
of any applicable state or municipal law in which the definitions of adulteration and misbranding are substantially the same as those contained in the Act, provided
such laws are constituted and effective at the time of such delivery (collectively the “ Product Warranties ”). The Product Warranties as to any Product supplied
hereunder shall expire [***] ([***]) [***] after date of delivery of such Product or the Product’s stated shelf-life, which ever shall come first. These Product
Warranties shall be null and void and shall not apply to any Product which is in any way altered, modified, damaged or replaced by any person other than Supplier,
or which is abused or misused whether intentionally or accidentally. SUPPLIER’S SOLE LIABILITY, AND CUSTOMER’S EXCLUSIVE REMEDY, FOR
BREACH OF THESE PRODUCT WARRANTIES SHALL BE, AT SUPPLIER’S SOLE DISCRETION, CREDIT OR REPLACEMENT OF THE
NONCONFORMING PRODUCT.

(b) Supplier represents, warrants and covenants that insofar as components received from suppliers selected by Customer, the warranty provisions relating to those
specific components shall be in accordance with existing agreements between Customer and that supplier. Supplier shall have no obligation to offer any warranty
greater than what Customer has already negotiated.
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9.4 Limitation of Liability

EXCEPT FOR THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, SUPPLIER HEREBY DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER WARRANTIES
AND REPRESENTATIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF
MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR USE AND/OR PARTICULAR PURPOSES. EXCEPT WITH RESPECT TO CLAIMS FOR BREACH OF
CONFIDENTIALITY OR WITH RESPECT TO A PARTY’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL,
INDIRECT, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OF ANY NATURE WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY LOST
REVENUES OR PROFITS OF THE OTHER PARTY AND/OR SUCH PARTY’S CUSTOMERS, AGENTS AND

DISTRIBUTORS, RESULTING FROM OR ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY SALE, MANUFACTURE, DISTRIBUTION OR ANY USE
OF ANY PRODUCT, WHETHER OR NOT SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF DAMAGES. THE FOREGOING LIMITATION
OF LIABILITY APPLIES BROADLY, AND TO ANY AND ALL PRODUCTS MANUFACTURED AND SUPPLIED HEREUNDER, AND SHALL NOT BE
CONSTRUED TO APPLY ONLY TO DAMAGES OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF BREACH OF ANY PRODUCT WARRANTIES, BUT SHALL ALSO
APPLY TO ANY DAMAGES TO CUSTOMER OCCURRING AS A CONSEQUENCE OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY BREACH THEREOF. ALL
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY, PURSUANT TO THE TERMS HEREIN, SHALL SURVIVE ANY TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THIS
AGREEMENT.

 
10. INDEMNIFICATION

10.1 Supplier Indemnification . Supplier hereby indemnifies and holds harmless and agrees to defend Customer, its Affiliates and their respective officers,
directors, employees and agents from and against all liabilities, damages, losses, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) (“Losses”) arising out of
actions, claims, suits or proceedings brought by a third party (“Claims”) as a result of (a) any negligent, malfeasant, willful or unlawful conduct by Supplier,
(b) any Supplier breach of any representation, warranty or obligation under this Agreement, or (c) any claim or allegation that the manufacture of any Product by
Supplier hereunder constitutes an infringement or misappropriation of any Intellectual Property Right of any third party in the United States or any other
jurisdiction.

10.2 Customer Indemnification . Customer agrees to and shall indemnify and defend Supplier, and hold Supplier harmless, from and against any and all
claims, alleged claims, losses, harms, damages, liabilities, penalties, lawsuits, threats of lawsuits, recalls or other governmental action, costs and expenses,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, suffered or incurred by Supplier, arising from or as a result of (i) any actual or alleged defects in the
design of any Product and/or the Product Specifications; (ii) any Customer breach of this Agreement; (iii) death of or bodily injury to any person, or property
damage, arising as a result of the use or sale of any Product; (iv) any negligent, malfeasant, willful or unlawful conduct by Customer or its employees, customers
and/or agents, in connection with Customer’s sale, marketing or distribution of Product; and/or (v) any claims or allegations that the design, use or sale of any
Product manufactured by Supplier hereunder constitutes an infringement or misappropriation of any Intellectual Property Right of any third party in the United
States or any other jurisdiction.
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10.3 Indemnification Process . Whenever an indemnified party becomes aware of a claim, suit or proceeding as to which it believes it is entitled to
indemnification under this Article, it shall promptly give notice in writing to the indemnifying party, shall permit indemnifying party to assume exclusive control of
the defense or settlement of the matter, and shall provide, at the expense of indemnifying party, all authority, information and assistance which indemnifying party
may reasonably request for purposes of such defense. An indemnified party may engage its own counsel, at its own expense, to monitor the defense of any such
matter. In no event shall the indemnifying party be entitled to settle any of the above-mentioned claims that could materially adversely affect the indemnified party
without the indemnified party’s consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnities set
forth in Sections 10.1 and 10.2 shall not apply to the extent that (a) the party seeking indemnification fails to give notice to the other party of such claim or
threatened claim, and such failure materially prejudices the indemnifying party or such party’s ability to defend or settle such claim, (b) the indemnifying party is
not given the opportunity to assume control of the defense and settlement of any such claim, and (c) the indemnified party does not provide reasonable assistance to
the indemnifying party, at the indemnifying party’s expense, in relation to such claim.

10.4 The obligations of indemnification, cooperation and subrogation under this Article 10 shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

 
11. TERM

The term of this Agreement shall be five (5) years from the Effective Date (the “ Initial Term ”). At the end of the Initial Term, this Agreement shall
automatically renew for one (1) year periods (each a “ Renewal Term ”, and the Initial Term and all Renewal Terms, the “ Term ”), until and unless either party
notifies the other, in writing, no less than twelve (12) months prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term of its intent to not renew this Agreement.

 
12. TERMINATION

12.1 The parties may, at any time, mutually agree, in writing, to terminate this Agreement. Customer may terminate this Agreement for any reason by
providing Supplier with one hundred eighty (180) days prior written notice

12.2 Either party may immediately terminate this Agreement by written notice upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) the other party is or
becomes insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they become due within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code (or any successor statute) or any
analogous foreign statute; or (ii) the other party appoints or has appointed a receiver for all or substantially all of its assets, or makes an assignment for the benefit
of its creditors; or (iii) the other party files a voluntary petition under the United States Bankruptcy Code (or any successor statute) or any analogous foreign statute;
or (iv) the other party has filed against it an involuntary petition under the United States Bankruptcy Code (or any successor statute) or any analogous foreign
statute, and such petition is not dismissed within ninety (90) days.
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12.3 Either party may terminate this Agreement, in writing, in the event of a material breach by the other, provided, however, that the party asserting such
breach must first serve written notice of the alleged breach on the offending party, and must allow the offending party thirty (30) days, from the date of delivery of
such notice, within which to cure the alleged breach.

12.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, termination of this Agreement may only be effected in writing, and according to the terms of this Agreement.
Termination of this Agreement, for whatever reason, shall not affect any rights or obligations that may have accrued to either party prior to the effective date of
termination.

12.5 Effects of Termination . Expiration or termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any rights or obligations that accrued to the benefit
of either party prior to such expiration or termination. Upon expiration or termination without cause or by mutual agreement, Supplier shall continue to fulfill,
subject to the terms of this Agreement, all Purchase Orders placed by Customer and accepted by Supplier in accordance with this Agreement prior to the effective
date of termination. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, Supplier shall promptly deliver to Customer, at Customer’s cost, all Products
and related documentation, whether or not completed, and each party shall promptly return to the other party all Confidential Information provided by the other
party for the purposes of this Agreement. All Components (including any Safety Stock) remaining at the conclusion of Purchase Order fulfillment will be invoiced
to Customer and returned to Customer with any remaining Consigned Components. Any remaining balance of Customer deposits with Supplier will be offset
against amounts owing to Supplier. The parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to complete all payments, and the final transfer of all Confidential
Information, Products, Components (including any Safety Stock), Consigned Components and all related documentation and information, within forty-five
(45) days following the effective date of such termination or expiration. Each party’s obligations under Sections 5.4, 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 8, 9.3 (for the period specified in
the applicable Product Warranty), 9.4, 10, 12.5, 13 and 14 shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement.

Last Time Buy. Supplier shall upon Customer’s request manufacture another [***] continuous supply of Product, based on the [***], at the prices
in effect at termination (“Last Time Buy”). Customer shall purchase all Product manufactured by Supplier under this Last Time Buy and such Products
will be invoiced and delivered during such [***] period as requested by Customer.

 
13. BINDING EFFECT/ASSIGNMENT

This Agreement and the performance of any obligations hereunder shall be binding upon, shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the
parties hereto and any and all permitted assignees, successors and legal representatives of the parties hereto. Neither party may assign rights nor delegate duties,
including to a subcontractor, under this Agreement without the prior
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written consent of the other party. Any assignee or delegate must agree to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Customer may
assign this Agreement without consent of Supplier to any Affiliate, or to a successor in interest in the context of a merger, acquisition or sale of Customer, or a sale
of all or substantially all of Customer’s business or assets to which this Agreement relates.

 
14. MISCELLANEOUS

14.1 Successors and Assigns . This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors and permitted assigns. Neither
party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the other party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided,
however, that either party may, without the other party’s consent, assign this Agreement to an Affiliate or to an acquirer or successor of substantially all of the
business or assets of the assigning company to which this Agreement relates. Any assignment in violation of this Section 14.1 shall be null and void.

14.2 Further Assurances . Each party hereto agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver such further instruments, and to do all such other acts, as may be
necessary or appropriate in order to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.

14.3 Force Majeure . Each of the parties hereto shall be excused from performance of its obligations hereunder to the extent such performance is prevented
by a cause beyond the reasonable control of such party, including, without limitation, acts of God; laws or governmental regulations that become effective
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement war; insurrection; embargo; civil commotion; destruction of product facilities or materials by fire, earthquake or
storm; labor disturbance; severe economic dislocation rendering the prices hereunder uneconomic or otherwise insufficient; judicial action; and failure of public
utilities or common carriers.

14.4 Relationship . The parties are independent contractors and shall not be deemed to have formed any partnership, joint venture or other relationship.
Neither party shall make, or represent to any other person that it has the power or authority to make, any financial or other commitment on behalf of the other party

14.5 Notice . All notices, requests or communications contemplated or required by this Agreement shall be in writing and, in order to be valid, shall be
delivered by personal delivery or sent by certified or registered mail or equivalent, return receipt requested, by facsimile or telex, promptly confirmed by a writing
sent by registered or certified mail, or by recognized overnight courier, addressed to the parties at the addresses set forth on the first page of this Agreement, or such
other addresses as may be designated, in writing, by the respective parties. Any notice shall be deemed given when received by the other party.

14.6 Legal Construction/Severability . If any part of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall
nevertheless remain in full force and effect.

14.7 Section Headings/Construction . The captions and headings appearing in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not be considered
part of this Agreement. Such captions and headings shall not modify, amend or affect the provision hereof. This Agreement has been jointly prepared and shall not
be strictly construed against either party hereto.
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14.8 Entire Agreement; Modifications; Consents; Waivers . This Agreement, together with the Quality Agreement and all Appendices attached hereto,
contains the entire Agreement of and between Supplier and Customer, with respect to the subject matter hereof. Neither this Agreement nor the Quality Agreement
may be modified or amended except by an instrument or instruments in writing, signed by both parties. Each party hereto may, by an instrument in writing, waive
compliance by the other party with any term or provision of this Agreement on the part of such other party to be performed or complied with. The waiver by either
party hereto of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach.

14.9 Dispute Resolution . Any dispute that arises between the parties arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or any breach thereof shall first be
presented to the senior executives of the parties for consideration and resolution. If such executives cannot reach a resolution of the dispute within a reasonable
time, then such dispute shall be resolved by submission to a court of applicable jurisdiction in the State of Delaware, and each party hereby consents to the
jurisdiction and venue of such court.

14.10 Governing Law . The provisions of this Agreement shall be construed and governed, in all respects, by the laws of the State of Delaware without
regard to its conflicts of laws provisions that would seek to apply the laws of any other jurisdiction. The United Nations Convention on Contracts for the
International Sale of Goods shall not apply to this Agreement.
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IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
Vention
Medical
Design
and
Development,
Inc.  

   Nevro
Corp.

By:  /s/ Robert Maston   By:  /s/ Andrew Galligan

Title:  VP, Design and Development   Title:  Chief Financial Officer

Printed Name:  Robert Maston   Printed Name:  Andrew Galligan

Date:  12/16/2015   Date:  12/18/2015
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APPENDIX A

PRODUCTS

List of products to be manufactured by Supplier in accordance with this Agreement. Part numbers listed are Customer’s internal reference numbers unless
otherwise specified.
 

 1.1 Nevro Part Specification [***]: Implantable Pulse Generator (IPG) Model IPG 1500
 

 1.2 Nevro Part Specification [***]: Implantable Pulse Generator (IPG) Model IPG 2000
 

 1.2.1 Model 2000 incorporation pending completion of Development Plan.
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APPENDIX B

Model Unit Costing – Current, Potential, & Estimated

Model 1500 Unit Costing - Current & Potential
 
   Current  [***]% Potential  [***]% Potential 
Yield    [***]%   [***]%   [***]% 
Yielded Material Cost / Unit   $ [***]   $ [***]   $ [***]  
Time (Hours)    [***]    [***]    [***]  
Direct & Indirect Labor Cost (Yield Adjusted)   $ [***]   $ [***]   $ [***]  
Nevro Unit Price   $ [***]***  $ [***]***  $ [***]*** 
 
* Does not include consigned material

Model 2000 Unit Costing - Estimated
 
   Current  [***]% Potential  [***]% Potential 
Yield*    [***]%   [***]%   [***]% 
Yielded Material Cost / Unit*   $ [***]   $ [***]   $ [***]  
Time (Hours)*    [***]    [***]    [***]  
Direct & Indirect Labor Cost (Yield Adjusted)   $ [***]   $ [***]   $ [***]  
Nevro Unit Price   $ [***]***  $ [***]***  $ [***]*** 
 
* Yielded Material cost includes [***]% materials acquisition cost.
** Yielded Material cost include [***]% materials acquisition cost.
*** Based on Model 1500 baseline. Actual Model 2000 pricing will be confirmed and adjusted at conclusion of DVT or sooner.
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APPENDIX C

EQUIPMENT

Equipment currently owned by Nevro that is maintained at Vention, including the Test System components.
 

Vention Part Number   Description   Manufacturer   Model   Serial Number   Nevro ID   Location
[***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]
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APPENDIX D

MODEL 1500 MATERIALS
 
Nevro IPG Cost Model 1500 / 2000 - Fixed Pricing   [***] -Quote        
   Model 1500        
Estimated Material Cost - Vention Only   $ [***]   $[***]   $[***]  
Materials Margin    [***]%   [***]%   [***]% 
Materials Cost with Margin   $ [***]   $[***]   $[***]  
Consigned Materials - Inspection   $ [***]   $[***]   $[***]  
Yield    [***]%   [***]%   [***]% 
Yielded Material Cost / Unit   $ [***]   $[***]   $[***]  
 
Nevro Supplied Materials
 

#  Description   UM   

Qty 
Per 

Device   
Vention P/N
[***]-xxxx-xx   

Nevro 
P/N   

Current 
Source

1 [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]
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Vention Supplied Materials and Costing
 
Total Cost: $[***] (noted that [***])

#   Description   UM   

Qty 
Per 

Device   
Vention P/N
[***]-xxxx-xx   

Nevro 
P/N   

Current 
Source   Cost

[***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]   [***]
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APPENDIX E

Vention will provide the following fulltime resources to support Nevro production based on minimum [***] per month / [***] year.
 

 •  Dedicated Vention Technical Team

([***])
 

 •  [***]
 

 •  Line support: [***]
 

 •  [***]
 

 •  Line support: [***]
 

 •  [***]
 

 •  Line support: [***]
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APPENDIX F

Quality Agreement

Supplier Quality Agreement

This Quality Agreement is made and entered into as of November 6, 2013 (“ Effective Date ”) by Vention Medical Design and Development (“Vention”), 610
Palomar Ave Sunnyvale, CA 94085 and Nevro Corp (“Nevro”), with its headquarters at 4040 Campbell Avenue, Menlo Park, CA 94025.

This Quality Agreement defines the duties of Vention and Nevro in the Quality System for the contract manufacture of the Product(s) set forth below:

Vention will manufacture and perform assembly and test operations of the Implantable Pulse generator (IPG) for Nevro.

SCOPE:

This Quality Agreement applies to all Products and their associated Specifications and requirements supplied on or after its Effective Date.

Responsibility for each activity is assigned to either “Vention” or “Nevro” in the appropriate box.

This Quality Agreement is intended to define the responsibilities as set forth minimally by ISO13485 and FDA Quality System Regulations (QSR) 21 CFR Part
820.

DEFINITIONS:

For purposes of this Quality Agreement, the following definitions shall apply:
 

 

A. “ Adverse
Event
Report
” means the written report to the appropriate Regulatory Authority from a device manufacturer required whenever the
manufacturer or importer receives or otherwise becomes aware of information that reasonably suggests that one of its marketed devices: (1) may have
caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or (2) has malfunctioned and that the device or any other device marketed by the manufacturer or
importer would be likely to cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur.

 

 B. “ Applicable
Laws
” means the laws within a political entity that govern any aspect of the development, manufacture, market, approval, sale,
distribution, packaging or use of the Product.

 

 

C. “ Regulatory
Authority
” means any government regulatory authority, in the United States or other countries, where Vention manufactures Products, or
mutually agreed upon additional countries in which Vention has responsibility to ensure compliance with applicable requirements, responsible for
granting approvals for the performance of services under this Quality Agreement or for the Manufacturing, use, marketing, sale, pricing and/or other
disposition of Nevro product(s) in which the Product(s) are used.

 

 D. “ CAPA
” means a corrective action and preventive action system for identifying and preventing or eliminating the cause of an existing or potential
nonconformity, defect, or other undesirable situation in order to prevent occurrence or recurrence.

 

 
E. “ Certificate
of
Conformance
”, “ Certification
of
Compliance”
or
“Certification
of
Analysis”
means a document, signed by an authorized

representative of Vention, attesting that a particular Product is Manufactured or serviced in accordance with applicable Quality Management System
requirements, the Specifications and this Quality Agreement.
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 F. “Component”
means any raw material, substance, piece, part, software, firmware, labeling or assembly which is intended to be included as part of the
Product(s) or consumed during the Manufacture of the Product(s).

 

 G. “Correction(s)
” means the repair, modification, adjustment, relabeling, destruction, or inspection (including patient monitoring) of a device without
its physical removal from its point of use to some other location.

 

 H. “ Device
Master
Record
” means the compilation of Records containing the procedures and specifications for the Product.
 

 I. “ Device
History
Record
” or “ DHR
” means a compilation of Records containing the production history of the Product(s).
 

 
J. “Field
Action”
means an activity outlining the steps for management of and/or communication regarding the performance of distributed clinical,

custom, and/or market released Product currently in use by the customer. These activities may include educational briefs, health safety alerts, and
notifications, Corrections or Recall of Product(s) in any Nevro product.

 

 K. “Finished
Device”
means any Product that constitutes a device or accessory to any device that is suitable for use or capable of functioning, whether or
not it is packaged, labeled or sterilized.

 

 L. “Good
Manufacturing
Practice”
or “GMP”
means FDA regulations and guidelines regarding manufacturing practices and quality systems.
 

 M. “ISO13485
” means the “ISO Quality Management Systems - Medical Devices - System Requirements for Regulatory Purposes” standard.
 

 N. “ Lot
” means one or more Products Manufactured under essentially the same conditions that are intended to have uniform characteristics and quality
within specified limits.

 

 O. “ Lot
History
Record”
or
“LHR”
means the document that authorizes and controls the production of a single lot of components or finished devices.
When completed, the LHRs required to manufacture a finished device comprise the DHR.

 

 
P. “Manufacture(d)”
or “Manufacturing”
means all steps, processes and activities necessary to produce Product(s), including without limitation, the

design, to the extent that Vention is responsible for the design, manufacturing, processing, quality control testing, release and storage of Product(s) by
Vention in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

 

 Q. “Nonconforming
Product”
means product that does not meet Specifications. Examples include, but are not limited to:
 

 •  Product built to an incorrect configuration,
 

 •  Product built not in conformance with the validated process, or
 

 •  Product built with unapproved Components, counterfeit Components, or Components not meeting Specification.
 

 R. “Notified
Body”
means a government agency in a member state of the European Union that carries out conformity assessment procedures for some
classes of medical devices.

 

 S. “ Qualification
” or “ Qualify
” means activity and analysis performed to demonstrate adherence to predetermined criteria. Qualification for a Product
means Product testing or inspection conducted according to an approved and controlled protocol to ensure the Product meets Specifications.

 

 
T. “ Quality
System
”, “ Quality
Management
System
” or “ QSR
” means the regulatory requirements under the Applicable Laws of an Regulatory

Authority for the methods used in, and the facilities and controls used for, the design, Manufacture, packing, labeling, storage, installation and
servicing of Product.

 

 U. “Recall”
means a firm’s removal or correction of a marketed product that Regulatory Authorities considers to be in violation of the laws it
administers, and against which the agency would initiate legal action (e.g., seizure).
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 V. “ Records
” means written or electronic accounts, notes, data, record of, and information and results obtained from performance of Services of all
work done under this Quality Agreement.

 

 
W. “Specification(s)”
means all applicable specifications, protocols and other documents relevant to the design, physical characteristics, function,

performance, Manufacture, packaging, labeling and quality of the Product(s) communicated in writing by Nevro or mutually agreed upon in writing by
the parties.

 

 X. “ Standard
Operating
Procedure
” means the standard operating procedures in effect at Vention which have been approved by Vention’s quality
department and which are applicable to the processing of the product.

 

 Y. “Sub-tier
Supplier”
means any supplier that either directly or indirectly provides product or Services to Vention in connection with any Product.
 

 Z. “ Validation
” (or “ Validate
”) means confirmation by examination and provision of objective evidence that the applicable requirements can
consistently be fulfilled.
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Responsibilities Table

Table Key: N/A = Not Applicable
 
Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
1.0   Regulatory Compliance       

1.1   Maintain all licenses, registrations and other authorizations as are required under the Applicable Laws.   ¨   x   x

1.2   Maintain and operate the facility in compliance with this Quality Agreement.   ¨   x   ¨

1.3   Manufacture the Product in accordance with this Quality Agreement.   ¨   x   ¨

1.4
  

Product
Clearances
and
Approvals.
Vention shall provide reasonably necessary assistance to Nevro in obtaining all
necessary regulatory approvals for the Manufacturing, marketing, sale and distribution of the Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨

1.5

  

Regulatory
Approval
of
Product
Modifications.
Nevro shall be responsible for making the final determination as to whether
proposed Product/Process modifications require regulatory approval prior to implementation and shall be responsible for
filing and obtaining any required approvals, clearances and/or supplements.   

¨
  

¨
  

x

1.6
  

Compliance
History.
Vention shall provide Nevro with a review of Vention’s regulatory compliance history related to the
Products or related to the manufacturing processes used to manufacture the Products.   ¨   x   ¨

2.0   Management Responsibility       

2.1

  

Vention shall have personnel with executive responsibility to oversee its Quality System. Vention also shall maintain an
organizational structure which ensures the Product(s) are designed, developed and/or Manufactured in accordance with this
Quality Agreement.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

2.2

  

Vention shall assign a person or person(s) with executive responsibility, or who report(s) directly to a person with executive
responsibility, to serve as a contact for Nevro under this Quality Agreement, and to oversee compliance with this Quality
Agreement.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

2.3

  

Quality
Plan.
Vention shall have a quality plan and/or quality system manual that defines the elements of the Quality
System relevant to the design, development and/or Manufacture of the Product(s), and shall establish how the quality
requirements shall be met.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

2.4
  

Identification.
Vention shall ensure that Product(s) and Components are identified during all stages of receipt, production
and distribution.   ¨   x   ¨

2.5

  

Traceability.
Vention shall be responsible for setting up and maintaining controlled documentation of Product and
Component traceability during all stages of receipt, production and distribution.
 

•       It is expected that the results of a full product traceability will be provided to Nevro upon request, and the results
will be available within 24 hours of the request.   

¨

  

x

  

¨

3.0   Corrective and Preventive Actions/Performance       

3.1
  

Standard
Operating
Procedures.
Vention shall establish and maintain procedures for implementing a CAPA system in
compliance with the industry standards and Quality Management System requirements.   ¨   x   ¨

3.2
  

Resolution.
Vention shall implement the CAPA system with regard to any quality, Manufacturing or performance issue
raised by Vention or Nevro related to Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
3.3

  
Field
Actions.
Nevro has the sole authority for decisions related to any Product(s) in the field, including any Field Action.
Suppler shall support Nevro by providing access to necessary Product information and quality records.   

¨
  

x
  

x

4.0   Nonconforming Product       

4.1
  

Vention shall establish and maintain procedures to control Product that does not conform to specified requirements in
compliance with the Quality Management System requirements or this agreement.   ¨   x   ¨

4.2

  

Control
of
Nonconforming
Product.
Vention shall have Standard Operating Procedures to control Product that does not
conform to Nevro Specifications. The procedures shall address the identification, documentation, evaluation, segregation,
and disposition of Nonconforming Product, including a determination of a need for an investigation, which shall be
documented.   

¨

  

x

  

x

4.3

  

Nevro shall have thirty days from the delivery of the Product to notify Vention that it has delivered non-conforming
Product. In the event that Nevro does not notify Vention of non-conformity or non-compliance within such thirty (30) day
period, then the Product(s) shall be deemed accepted. In the event that Nevro shall reject any Product(s), Nevro shall
provide written notice to Vention within forty-five (45) days after receipt of the shipment, together with a reasonably
detailed written statement of its reason for rejection and, where appropriate, Product samples demonstrating the proposed
nonconformance. If no such written notice is received by Vention, then Nevro shall be deemed to have accepted the
shipment of Product. In the event of proper rejection by Nevro, Vention shall, within a reasonable period of time notify
Nevro of whether it accepts the notice of nonconformity. If Vention disagrees with any proposed nonconformity by the
Nevro, then both parties agree to cooperate and make every reasonable effort to resolve the disagreement. If Vention
confirms Nevro’s rejection, Vention shall, in a reasonably prompt manner, either replace (if it has not already done so) the
nonconforming Product with conforming Product within thirty (30) days; or (ii) credit to Nevro the purchase price therefor.
Replacement shipments shall also be subject to the terms and conditions of this Quality Agreement.   

¨

  

x

  

x

4.4   Product
Performance.
Nonconforming Products may be returned to Vention for investigation and analysis.   ¨   x   ¨

4.5

  

Disposition
of
Nonconforming
Product.
Vention shall have Standard Operating Procedures covering disposition of
Nonconforming Product, including review and documentation of decisions. The parties shall jointly determine the
procedures for rework, retest and reevaluation of Nonconforming Product to ensure the Product(s) meet Specifications.
Vention shall document rework activities in the DHR, and provide report of rework activities to Nevro upon request.   

¨

  

x

  

x

5.0   Document Control       

5.1   The Vention shall establish a process for document control and document changes related to Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨

5.2

  

Vention shall not modify Product Specifications or process specifications without Nevro written approval. Vention shall
maintain records of changes to documents related to the Product(s), which shall include a description of the change,
identification of the affected documents, the signature of the approving individual(s), the approval date, and the effective
date.   

¨

  

x

  

x
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
6.0   Purchasing Controls       

6.1

  

For Components not supplied by Nevro, Vention shall establish and maintain controls on the purchase of Components to
ensure conformance to specified requirements, including visual inspection of packaging, labeling, or shipping containers,
and dimensional inspection or analytical testing. Vention shall maintain documentation that clearly describes the quality
requirements for Components, and shall require Component sources to notify Vention of any proposed changes in the
Manufacturing of the Components prior to making any change.   

¨

  

x

  

¨

6.2
  

For Components not supplied by Nevro, Vention shall establish and maintain acceptance procedures with respect to the
Manufacture of the Products.   ¨   x   ¨

7.0   Design Controls       

7.1

  

Nevro shall collaborate with Vention to ensure that the design requirements for the Product(s) are appropriate and address
the intended use of the Product(s) including the needs of the user and patient, in compliance with the Quality Management
System requirements.   

¨
  

x
  

x

7.2
  

Nevro has the sole authority to make design changes. Vention shall not implement design change(s) unless it receives
updated Specifications from Nevro.   ¨   ¨   x

8.0   Preventive Maintenance and Calibration       

8.1
  

Maintain calibration and preventive maintenance procedures and schedules for selected equipment/instruments used in the
manufacture, packaging, testing and Validation/qualification of the Product. Include calibration tagging where appropriate.   ¨   x   ¨

8.2
  

Document and review preventive maintenance and calibration performed for equipment and make available to Nevro
designee for onsite review upon request.   ¨   x   ¨

9.0   Packaging and Labeling       

9.1
  

Compliance
with
Specifications.
All Products shall be packaged and labeled in accordance with any applicable
Specifications.   ¨   x   ¨

9.2
  

Procedures.
Vention shall establish and maintain Standard Operating Procedures to control labeling activities in
compliance with the Quality Management System requirements.   ¨   x   ¨

9.3

  

Labeling
Mix-Ups.
Vention shall store labels and labeling in a way that prevents an incorrect label from being used with a
Product. Vention shall control labeling and packaging operations to prevent labeling mistakes, and shall document the label
and labeling used for each production unit, Lot or batch in the DHR.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

10.0   Audits       

10.1
  

Nevro retains the right to audit Vention Manufacturing and Quality Systems upon advanced written notice, at a date and
time mutually agreed to between the parties.   ¨   ¨   x

10.2

  

Nevro or an approved designee has the right to audit Vention’s facilities and systems for a time period not to exceed three
working days, as they relate to the manufacture and testing of Product, at mutually agreed upon time and date. Nevro or an
approved designee retains the right to conduct “for cause” audits as necessary upon agreement with Vention.   

¨
  

¨
  

x

10.3
  

Issue responses to all observations in writing to Nevro or approved designee within thirty (30) days of receipt. Responses
are to include timelines and plans for closure of all commitments.   ¨   x   ¨

10.4
  

Management
of
Sub-tier
Suppliers
. Vention is responsible for management of Vention’s Sub-tier suppliers based upon risk
as determined per Vention’s own internal procedures.   ¨   x   ¨
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
10.5

  

Vention is responsible for communicating all requirements to third party suppliers that are managed by Vention. This
includes third party suppliers that have been identified as third party suppliers by Nevro. Any communication with a third
party supplier by Nevro must be coordinated with Vention. If said communication is not shared with Vention, Vention shall
be under no obligation to follow any directives received by third party supplier through Nevro until Vention is made aware
of the communication/requirements. Further, Vention shall not be deemed to be in default of this Agreement if Nevro
communicates directly with a third party supplier without coordinating through Vention and Nevro shall indemnify and
hold Vention harmless for any issues that may arise as a result of any communication with a third party supplier that has
not been coordinated through Vention.   

¨

  

x

  

x

10.6
  

Vention is responsible for qualifying, monitoring and maintaining the list of Sub-Tier suppliers used for this Product in
accordance with Vention’s internal procedures.   ¨   x   ¨

10.7
  

Regulatory
Audits
and
Inspections
. Vention agrees that Regulatory Authorities shall have access to and the right to inspect
or audit any pertinent Product(s) design, Manufacturing, or quality processes, and associated documentation or Records.   ¨   x   ¨

10.8

  

Third
Party
Audits
. Vention shall promptly notify Nevro when an Authority inspection of its facilities (or an inspection by
third parties in accordance with FDA regulations or inspection by another governmental authority such as a Notified Body)
relating to any Product(s) is expected and/or underway.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

10.9

  

Regulatory
Correspondence.
Vention shall promptly provide Nevro with copies of all regulatory correspondence, including
without limitation Form FDA 483s and FDA warning letters and any correspondence with the FDA or any other Authority
related to processes, Components or equipment which are the same or similar to those used in the Manufacture of the
Product(s).   

¨

  

x

  

¨

10.10

  

Regulatory
Commitments.
Vention shall secure Nevro’s written agreement prior to making any commitment to a regulatory
agency regarding the Product. Nevro shall be provided with draft responses to regulatory observations that involve the
Product and its Manufacture prior to submission to any Regulatory Authority and Vention shall permit Nevro’s input into
responses and corrective actions. Vention shall retain the final authority and responsibility for the content of the responses
to the Regulatory Authority related to a Finished Device.   

¨

  

x

  

x

11.0   Personnel Training       

11.1
  

Personnel
and
Training.
Vention shall have sufficient personnel with the necessary education, background, training and
experience to perform under this Quality Agreement.   ¨   x   ¨

11.2
  

Provide adequate number of personnel qualified by appropriate training and experience to perform and supervise the
manufacture, testing, packaging and disposition of the Product.   ¨   x   ¨

11.3
  

Assure training is regularly conducted, assessed and documented by qualified individuals in accordance with Vention’s
documented procedures.   ¨   x   ¨

11.4   Have written job descriptions for positions responsible for performing GMP related activities.   ¨   x   ¨

11.5
  

Assure that non-employees, including consultants, advising on the manufacture and control of the Product have sufficient
education, training, and experience to advise on the subject for which they are retained.   ¨   x   ¨
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
12.0   Complaints/Adverse Events       

12.1

  

Each party shall cooperate fully with the other party in dealing with customer and third party complaints concerning the
Product(s) and shall take such action to promptly resolve such complaints as may be reasonably requested by the other
party.   

¨
  

x
  

x

12.2
  

Nevro shall have the sole authority to correspond with all applicable regulatory authorities with respect to complaints about
the Product(s).   ¨   ¨   x

12.3

  

Nevro is responsible for complying with all applicable Regulatory Authorities regulatory requirements pertaining to
Adverse Event reporting. Vention shall reasonably cooperate with Nevro to enable Nevro to fulfill such requirements. If
Vention becomes aware of a potentially reportable event, notice of such event shall be given to Nevro within two (2)
business days.   

¨

  

x

  

x

13.0   Field Alerts and Recalls       

13.1
  

If Vention becomes aware of any defect or problem with respect to any Nevro Product, they shall notify Nevro no later than
two (2) business days after becoming aware of the issue.   ¨   x   ¨

13.2

  

Notification
. If either party in good faith determines that a Recall or other action involving a Product(s) should be
considered, such party shall immediately notify the other party and shall advise such other party of the reasons underlying
its determination.   

¨
  

x
  

x

13.3
  

Nevro
Determination
. Nevro has the sole authority to determine whether any action such as a Recall or other action should
be undertaken.   ¨   ¨   x

13.4

  

Analysis
. Product returned related to Recall shall be analyzed by Nevro or by Vention at Nevro’s request. If Vention is
required to perform this analysis, Vention will quote the additional costs for the analysis. Work will commence once
agreement is made between parties in writing.   

¨
  

x
  

x

14.0   Handling, Storage, Distribution and Installation       

14.1   Vention shall establish and maintain procedures for the handling, storage, distribution and installation of the Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨

14.2
  

Handling.
Vention shall have systems in place to ensure that mix-ups, damage, deterioration, contamination or other
adverse effects do not occur during handling of the Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨

14.3
  

Storage.
Vention shall control storage areas to prevent mix-ups, damage, deterioration, contamination or other adverse
effects pending distribution of the Product(s).   ¨   x   ¨

14.4

  

Distribution.
Vention shall have systems in place to control distribution of Product(s) so that only Product(s) approved for
release are distributed. Vention shall ensure that no obsolete, rejected, expired or deteriorated Product(s) are distributed,
unless they are distributed to Nevro at its written request.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

15.0   Production       

15.1
  

Process
Control-Generally
. Vention shall have systems in place to define and maintain the Manufacturing process and
associated controls so that all Product(s) conform to their Specifications (ie. Device Master Records).   ¨   x   ¨

15.2
  

Process
Monitoring.
Vention shall monitor and control the Manufacturing process using the industry standard tools such as
in-process inspection, Validation and statistical process control.   ¨   x   ¨

15.3
  

Certificate
of
Conformance.
If requested by Nevro, Vention shall provide to Nevro a Certificate of Conformance consistent
with the Specifications for each Lot/batch of Product shipped.   ¨   x   ¨
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
15.4

  

Inspection,
Measurement,
and
Test
Equipment.
Vention shall notify Nevro in writing of any out-of-tolerance equipment
that may affect the testing or Manufacturing of any Product(s) or Component. The written notification shall include
identification of the affected Product(s) or Component.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

15.5
  

Nevro has the sole authority to make/approve process changes. Vention shall not implement process change(s) unless it
receives written approval from Nevro.       

16.0   Change and Change Notification       

16.1

  

Changes
by
Nevro.
The Specifications may be revised by Nevro, to be agreed upon by Vention. Such revisions may require
additional Qualification. If additional Qualification is required, Supplier will quote the additional qualification costs. Nevro
shall notify Vention of all relevant Specification revisions, which shall be agreed to by Vention. Vention shall implement
all revisions by dates specified by Nevro when possible and if such date cannot be met, then the parties shall mutually agree
to a date that is achievable.   

¨

  

¨

  

x

16.2

  

Changes
by
Supplier.
Upon approval by Nevro of the initial design, Component or process changes, design changes or
deviations considered by Vention must be submitted to Nevro in writing for review and approval prior to making any
changes. Said approval shall be provided in a timely manner.   

¨
  

x
  

¨

16.3   Change/Approval.
Nevro personnel shall review and approve changes that may affect the Product(s).   ¨   ¨   x

17.0   Record Retention       

17.1
  

Creation
and
Maintenance
Quality
System
Record.
Each party shall create and maintain Records for the activities for which
they are responsible under this Quality Agreement in compliance with the Quality Management System requirements.   ¨   x   x

17.2
  

Copies
. Upon Nevro’s request, Supplier shall promptly provide Nevro with copies of non-proprietary portions of Records
and other documents required to be maintained pursuant to this Quality Agreement.   ¨   x   ¨

17.3

  

Retention.
Vention shall keep Records for 7 years minimally from date of Record creation; thereafter, Vention shall notify
Nevro prior to disposing of such Records and upon Nevro’s request, either (i) transfer custody of the Records to Nevro or
(ii) Nevro may elect to have such Records retained in Vention’s archives for an additional period of time at a reasonable
charge to Nevro. At any time upon written request, or termination of this Quality Agreement, Vention shall return all
Records to Nevro.   

¨

  

x

  

¨

18.0   Resolution of Quality Issues       

18.1

  

Quality related disagreements between Vention and Nevro that are not resolved in the normal course of business shall be
brought to the attention of the appropriate contact person for notices (as set forth below) at Vention and Nevro, in writing.
If both parties agree that a resolution of the disagreement is reasonably possible, then both Vention and Nevro shall agree to
work jointly to develop a strategy for such resolution. Vention and Nevro further agree to record such resolution in writing.
If a resolution cannot be reached, then the parties agree to resolve the same through non-binding arbitration.   

¨

  

x

  

x
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Section  Responsibilities   N/A  Vention  Nevro
19.0   Quality Reporting       

  

Vention shall report the following quality information to Nevro on a quarterly basis:
 

•       Nonconforming Material Reports (NCMR’s) for Nevro product, including trend analysis of defect types.
 

•       Supplier performance of Suppliers that provide Nevro parts or services, including trend analysis for supplier
issues.

 

•       Supplier Corrective Actions for Suppliers that provide Nevro parts and services.
 

•       Environmental Monitoring (at minimum Cleanroom particle, viables)
 

•       Production Yields, including trend analysis of defect types
 

•       Number of devices manufactured
 

•       Number of devices shipped   

¨

  

x

  

¨
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XII. ATTACHMENTS
 

 x ISO 13485 Certificate
 

 ¨ Organizational Chart
 

 ¨ Quality Manual
 

 ¨                                                              
 

 ¨                                                              

Approval:
 
SUPPLIER   NEVRO CORPORATION
REPRESENTATIVE   QUALITY REPRESENTATIVE

Michael Kilday, V.P., Quality & Regulatory   Vic Ayer, Director, Quality Assurance
Print (Name and Title)   Print (Name and Title)

/s/ Michael Kilday   /s/ Vic Ayer
Signature   Signature

11/07/2013   08 Nov 2013
Date   Date

Ron Koronkowski, Director, Quality & Regulatory   
Print (Name and Title)   

/s/ Ron Koronkowski   
Signature   

11/7/2013   
Date   

Yvette Castillo, Product Development Engineer   
Print (Name and Title)   

   
Signature   

   
Date   
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APPENDIX G

Form of Purchase Order

Sample Below: PA12131

[***]
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[***] Certain information in this document has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.



Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries of
Nevro Corp.

 
Subsidiary   Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Nevro Medical Sarl   Switzerland
Nevro Medical Limited   United Kingdom
Nevro Medical Pty Ltd.   Australia
Nevro Germany GmbH   Germany



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-200145 and 333-202857) of Nevro Corp. of our report
dated February 29, 2016 relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP

San Jose, California
February 29, 2016



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A)

I, Michael DeMane, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nevro Corp.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2016
 
/s/ Michael DeMane
Michael DeMane
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A)

I, Andrew H. Galligan, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nevro Corp.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2016
 
/s/ Andrew H. Galligan
Andrew H. Galligan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Nevro Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Report”), Michael DeMane, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Andrew H. Galligan, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, respectively, do each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

 •  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 •  The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2016
 
/s/ Michael DeMane
Michael DeMane
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

/s/ Andrew H. Galligan
Andrew H. Galligan
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)


